
TOWN OF GREAT BARRINGTON 
MASSACHUSETTS 

__________ 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

Town Hall, 334 Main Street 
Great Barrington, MA 01230 

Telephone: (413) 528-1619 x2 
         Fax: (413) 528-2290 

Mark Pruhenski 
Town Manager 

E-mail: mpruhenski@townofgb.org 
www.townofgb.org 

***REVISED AGENDA*** 
Item 6. A. was added 

Selectboard Meeting Order of Agenda for Monday November 23, 2020, at 6:00 PM, Via Zoom 

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86284030154?pwd=eUNEa3dHOFliSklJN3BYaEVUdEFHQT09 
Webinar ID: 862 8403 0154  Passcode: 118855 Dial-in, audio-only: (929) 205 6099 

Pursuant to Governor Baker’s March 12, 2020 Order Suspending Certain Provisions of the Open Meeting Law, G.L. c. 30A, §18, and the Governor’s 
March 15, 2020 Order imposing strict limitation on the number of people that may gather in one place, this meeting of the Great Barrington 
Selectboard will be conducted via remote participation to the greatest extent possible. Specific information and the general guidelines for remote 
participation by members of the public and/or parties with a right and/or requirement to attend this meeting can be found on town’s website, at 
www.townofgb.org . For this meeting, members of the public who wish to listen to the meeting may do so by following the instructions at the top 
of the agenda. No in-person attendance of members of the public will be permitted, but every effort will be made to ensure that the public can 
adequately access the proceedings in real time, via technological means. In the event that we are unable to do so, despite best efforts, we will post 
on the town’s website an audio or video recording, transcript, or other comprehensive record of proceedings as soon as possible after the meeting. 

*****ALL VOTES ARE ROLL CALL***** 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
a. June 11, 2020
b. June 23, 2020

3. SELECTBOARD’S ANNOUNCEMENTS/STATEMENTS

4. TOWN MANAGER’S REPORT
a. HWW Updates—executed contracts for phase 2 and appraisal. (Aecom/DPC)
b. Winter Parking Ban.

5. LICENSES OR PERMITS
a. Laura Stephen for a driveway permit at 23 Sumner Street.

6. NEW BUSINESS
a. Temporarily lifting time limits on downtown parking. (Discussion/Vote)

b. Appointments to the Cultural Council
i. Milena Cerna

ii. Stacy Ostrow
iii. Sherry Stiener

c. Review and Comment to the Building Inspector, per Zoning Section 9.3.11, on the 
building permit application from New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC (AT&T) for 
collocation of equipment at the existing wireless telecommunications tower located 
at 425 Stockbridge Road.   

http://www.townofgb.org/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86284030154?pwd=eUNEa3dHOFliSklJN3BYaEVUdEFHQT09
http://www.townofgb.org/


d. Police Re-Imagination- Review of Policies-Chief Walsh

7. PUBLIC HEARINGS
a. Special Permit application from Berkshire Aviation Enterprises, Inc., for a an aviation

field in an R4 zone at 70 Egremont Plain Road, Great Barrington, per Sections 3.1.4 E(1)
and 10.4 of the Zoning Bylaw. (Continued from August 10, August 24, September 14,
September 21, October 5, October 26 and November 9, 2020) (Discussion/Vote)

i. Selectboard Deliberation
ii. Motion re: Findings

iii. iii. Motion re: Approval/Denial/Table

b. Special Permit application from Coastal Cultivars, LLC, 399 Boylston Street, Boston,
MA, to locate a retail marijuana establishment at 454 Main Street, Great Barrington,
closer than 200 feet to the property of a private school. The special permit application is
filed per Sections 7.18.4.3 and 10.4 of the Zoning Bylaw. (Continued from November 9,
2020 meeting.)
(Discussion/Vote)

i. Open Public Hearing
ii. Explanation of Project

iii. Speak in Favor/Opposition
iv. Motion to Close or Continue Public Hearing
v. Motion re: Findings

vi. Motion re: Approval/Denial/Table

8. CITIZEN SPEAK TIME

9. SELECTBOARD’S TIME

10. MEDIA TIME ADJOURNMENT

NEXT SELECTBOARD MEETING 
Regular Meeting December 7, 2020 
Regular Meeting December 21, 2020 

Regular Meeting January 11, 2021 
Regular Meeting January 25, 2021 

/s/ Mark Pruhenski  
Mark Pruhenski, Town Manager 

Pursuant to MGL. 7c. 30A sec. 20 (f), after notifying the chair of the public body, any person may make a video or audio recording of an open 
session of a meeting of a public body, or may transmit the meeting through any medium.  At the beginning of the meeting, the chair shall inform 
other attendees of any such recordings.  Any member of the public wishing to speak at the meeting must receive permission of the chair.  The 
listings of agenda items are those reasonably anticipated by the chair, which may be discussed at the meeting.  Not all items listed may in fact be 
discussed and other items not listed may be brought up for discussion to the extent permitted by law. 



















Published on Great Barrington MA (https://www.townofgb.org)

Home > Town Government > Cultural Council > Cultural Council Memebers

The Town of Great Barrington is seeking residents to serve on the GB Cultural Council.  The
GBCC requires that the applicants have an interest in the arts and humanities.   Letters of
interest should be submitted to the Selectboard, Town of Great Barrington, 334 Main Street,
Great Barrington, MA 01230, or email to apulver@townofgb.org For more information, please
contact the Selectboard’s office at 413-528-1619 x2.

Source URL: https://www.townofgb.org/cultural-council/pages/cultural-council-memebers

Cultural Council Memebers https://www.townofgb.org/print/59661

1 of 1 11/20/2020, 2:27 PM



Dear Selectboard members -  
 
I am a Great Barrington resident interested in becoming a member of the Great Barrington 
Cultural Council. I am a recently retired university administrator with a long-time appreciation 
and interest in arts and humanities. I enjoy the wonderful cultural offers available throughout 
the Berkshires and would like to help support and encourage our local art community. 
 
I’ve had an initial conversation with the current Council co-chair, Ms. Ellen Shanahan, and have 
also attended the recent Council meeting to gain a better understanding of the Council’s mission 
and the support it provides to our local art community. I find both the mission and the Council 
work of a great importance and would like to be part of this effort. 
 
I have attached my bio with more detailed information about my professional background. 
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Warm regards, 
 
Milena Cerna 
90 Christian Hill Road 
Great Barrington 
 
  
 



 
 
About 
A senior executive, Milena is a highly accomplished marketing and business development leader with over 
thirty years of experience across a range of sectors and markets, including higher education, technology, 
and investment banking in the Americas, Europe and Asia. 
 
Throughout her career, Milena has been recognized for her business acumen, global mind-set, and transform 
underperforming businesses in highly competitive markets. Her sweet spots include developing long-term 
strategic partnerships, building an effective brand engagement, and creating a thought leadership strategy 
for academic institutions, research centers and Fortune 50 companies. With her unique blend of business 
strategy, new business development and marketing experience, Milena is particularly effective in helping 
businesses elevate their value proposition and expand successfully into new market segments and product 
categories.  
 
Milena held the top marketing and business development positions at a number of premier academic 
institutions and leading companies, including Columbia and Yale Universities, Bloomberg LP, Citigroup, and 
PlanEcon (Global Insight). 
 
As the Associate Dean at the School of International and Public Affairs at Columbia University, the world’s 
premier global policy school that enrolls annually 1,300 students in 5 master degree programs, she oversees 
the School’s external communication, media relations, enrollment marketing, alumni relations. She is a 
member of the School’s executive leadership team and provides advice on strategic direction and critical 
issues. She held strategic and operational responsibilities for the Yale University’s Center for Customer 
Insights where she also led the Center’s fundraising strategies including board engagement, cultivation of 
corporate partnerships, and new programming.  
 
She served as Global Marketing Head for Bloomberg’s second-largest business and managed the “go-to-
market” strategy for the company y’s highly innovative new pricing service for synthetic assets. While Chief 
Marketing Officer for Citigroup’s $48B asset and equipment finance business, and a member of the 
Citigroup’s Global Branding Committee, Milena spearheaded the strategic launch and development of 
Citigroup’s CitiCapital brand.  She led a global product management team that transformed Citigroup’s 
American Depository Receipts business into one of the most profitable cross-border franchises. Milena also 
developed and managed Citigroup’s strategic industry partnerships with stock exchanges, depository 
organizations, and global broker-dealers in Europe, Asia and Latin America.. 
 
 
Earlier in her career, Milena managed capital advisory practice funded by Warburg Pincus and later acquired 
by Global Insight that advised “Fortune 100” corporations, institutional investors, hedge funds and 
government agencies on investment opportunities and privatization strategies in Eastern and Central 
Europe. 

 
Milena Cerna 
 



 
Milena holds an MBA from Columbia University Graduate School of Business and MS in Economics from 
Prague School of Economics (Vysoka Skola Ekonomicka v Praze). 
 
 
Employment 
 
Columbia University 
Associate Dean  
 
Royal Bank of Scotland 
Head of Market Delivery  
 
Bloomberg LP 
Global Head of Product Marketing  
 
Yale University 
Executive Director  
 
Citigroup 
Senior Vice President  
 
CitiCapital 
Chief Marketing Officer  
 
PlanEcon (Global Insight) 
Managing Director 

 
 
LinkedIn  
https://www.linkedin.com/in/cernaraynaud/ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Stacy Ostrow 

__________________________________________________________________________________
_ 

November 18, 2020 

Steve, 
Appreciate the opportunity to submit to you and the Selectboard my letter of intent/request to join 
the Great Barrington Cultural Council. I’m very excited about the prospect of supporting our 
community and its rich arts and cultural life.  

I’ve lived in Housatonic since 2017, but have spent significant time here for over 25 years. I currently 
work remotely (virtual work arrangement) and plan to transition to a local position in May. We love 
the area – the pace, people, openness and sense of community – and I want to be more involved in 
supporting activities that make it such a special place.         

My interest in the work of the GB Cultural Council stems from my love of the arts, but also 
particularly in increasing access – to bring in more diverse audiences to broaden exposure, 
appreciation, participation and perspective. Both as an educational tool and as a means of self-
expression, the arts and culture challenge us to think and understand the world and each other 
differently. The arts community is also one aspect of what differentiates this town and at contributes 
significantly to the quality of life. 

My professional experience is relevant to the Council role as I have worked for 25+ years managing 
philanthropic/community involvement programs, serving as a grant-maker, advocate and strategic 
partner with nonprofit organizations and communities. I will take the role and work seriously as I 
know how important it is and the difference it can make.   

My attached CV provides additional background. Please let me know if you or the other Selectboard 
members have questions.  

Thank you for your time and consideration. 
Best, 
Stacy Ostrow 



STACY OSTROW 

 
 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

Leader in corporate citizenship/philanthropy driving efforts to promote stronger communities by supporting 
and collaborating with nonprofit and civic groups to help address tough societal challenges; fostering 
volunteerism and engagement within local communities; and accelerating social impact and innovation. 
Experienced in managing multiple projects, priorities, budgets and people across complex organizations in 
challenging environments. Recognized for strong collaboration, problem-solving and communication skills with 
the ability to maximize resources and return on investment. 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

Deloitte 
Corporate citizenship/community involvement lead 1999–present (virtual work arrangement) 

• Set direction for all aspects of philanthropic/community program design, activation and evaluation.
• Direct and mange grant-making to determine merit and alignment with community goals.
• Develop, oversee and promote multi-faceted volunteer engagement programs.
• Create strategic, compelling communications to promote community commitments.
• Develop, plan and execute special events and promotional initiatives.
• Lead fund-raising campaigns that engage and build interest in philanthropy.
• Develop convenings and workshops for nonprofit learning and capacity-building.
• Research and recommend targeted approaches to emerging community issues.

Lehman Brothers, New York, NY 
Corporate Philanthropy VP 1995-99        
Directed diverse corporate giving and community relations program for investment bank. 

New York Institute for Human Development, Catholic Charities, New York, NY 
Director 1991-95 
Provided management advice and technical assistance to nonprofit organizations. 

EDUCATION 

Hamilton College, Clinton, NY 
Bachelor of Arts 

New York University, Graduate School of Public Administration, New York, NY 
Master’s Degree in Public Administration 

COMMUNITY COMMITMENTS 

Chair, board of directors – Riverside Language Program (1995-2017) 
Member, board of directors – Village Food Pantry (2015-17) 
Volunteer - Business Volunteers for the Arts – (2013-15) 

mailto:stacy276r@gmail.com


From: sherry steiner
To: Amy Pulver
Subject: Letter of Interest to join GB Cultural Council
Date: Thursday, November 19, 2020 9:47:25 AM
Attachments: resume.doc

Hi Amy,

I am writing to express my interest in re-joining the GB Cultural Council.

Attached is a resume.

Please let me know that you received this. Thanks!

Hope all is well!
Sherry Steiner
www.sherrysteiner.com

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

mailto:indearts@aol.com
mailto:apulver@Townofgb.org

Sherry Steiner         

POB 75  Housatonic MA 01236    


413.329.4141


www.sherrysteiner.com    

Email:  indearts@aol.com                

 

Education: The School of Visual Arts   NYC   Fine Arts 

2017 – Present           Founder/Manager  – Sunday Strummers Ukulele Ensemble                                                                            

                                   Book concerts, Public  Relations, Marketing, Outreach                               


 1989 – 2019                 Creative Arts Instructor (part-time)

                                    John Dewey Academy – Great Barrington MA

                                    Studio Art/Creative Writing/Music/Film/Art History

 

1989 – Present            Publisher/Editor – Indearts.org - Housatonic MA

                                    Marketing, Public Relations, Editing (online)

                                   

1995 - 2013                  Property Manager - Dewey Court (part-time)

                                    Berkshire County Regional Housing – Sheffield MA                                   

2006 - 2015                  Le Petit Musee-Housatonic /Pittsfield/Great BarrMA

1992  - 1998                 Curating, PR, Marketing, Programming, Outreach

 

1999 - 2002                  Museum of Teen Art-Founder - Great Barrington MA

                                    Marketing, Public Relations, Curating, Outreach

 

1986 – 88                     Public Relations Director

                                    Academy for Myotherapy – Lenox MA

                                    Marketing, PR, Outreach, Audience Targeting

 

1985 – 86                      Jacob’s Pillow Dance Festival – Lee MA

                                     Group Sales Manager/ Advertising Sales Manager 

                                     Marketing, Audience Targeting, Outreach

                                    

1983 - 85                       Business Manager

                                     Berkshire Women’s News - Stockbridge MA

                                    

1983 – 85                      Founder/Owner

                                     Gallery Without Walls – Stockbridge MA

                                     Coordinate Studio tours, Marketing/Public Relations

 

1982 - 83                      Gallery Owner/Curator/Public Relations/Marketing

                                    On Paper – Lenox MA

 

1979 – 1981                   Graphic Arts Assistant Instructor

                                     Educational Collaborative – South Lee MA

 

1975 – 79                      Personnel Technician - Human Resources

                                     Broome County Personnel – Binghamton NY

 

 

1975                              Public Relations Coordinato/Consultant

                                     Mowry Associates – Binghamton NY

                                     Marketing, Public Relations, Outreach, 


 

1974 – 76                      Founder – Artists Action Group – Binghamton NY

                                     Curating, Public Relations, Marketing, Outreach

                                  

- President/Member of the Berkshire Writers Room – 2003 - 2007

- Member/ Chair of the Great Barrington Cultural Council    2003 - 2018


- Board Member: CTSB-TV – Lee MA  2007 - 2009     

- Member of Berkshire Sings 2012 - present

- Member of Berkshire Ukulele Band 2012 – present


- Founder of The Sunday Strummers Ukulele Ensemble 2016 –present


- Founder of Ukulele4You! 2019

 

                  

       Additional Info                              

School Of Visual Arts Graduate – Fine Arts – NYC   


Apprentice to Joseph Cornell – Flushing NY              


Founder of the Artists Action Group                          


Set Design with Bill T Jones & Arnie Zane Dance Company  


Profiled:  WomanArt Magazine, The Paper, Springfield Union, Berkshire Eagle, 


Gallery Owner – On Paper – Lenox MA  (82-83)


Publisher/Editor – In The Arts  (89 - present)    www.indearts.org           


Founder/Owner – Gallery Without Walls – Stockbridge MA  (83-85)


Creative Arts Instructor: The John Dewey Academy – Great Barrington MA 1989 - 2019


Gallery Owner Le Petit Musee – Housatonic MA/Pittsfield MA (92-98) (06 –13) 


Founder – The Museum of Teen Art – Great Barrington MA (99 – 02)


Founder – Affordable Art Vending Machines  (02 –10)


Producer – Writers of The Berkshires & Beyond – CTSB TV – Lee MA (03 – 04)


Council Member – Great Barrington Cultural Council


Founder – Le Petit Musee des Mots  (04 –10)


Arts Council Member/Co-Chair: Great Barrington Council of the Arts (03 – 2018


President - Board of Directors/The Berkshire Writers Room /Pittsfield MA (03 –07)


Founder – Artists & Writers Alliance Internationale / Housatonic MA (07 –11)


Member – Berkshire Ukulele Band: 2012 – present                


Member – Berkshire Sings: 2012 – present


Berkshire Authors’s Day: Busnell-Sage Library Sheffield MA 2012, 2014


Artist-in-Residencies


Millay Colony for The Arts – Austerlitz NY (78)


Dorset Writers Colony – Dorset VT  (96 – 07)


Cummington Community for The Arts – Cummington MA (86, 92, 93)


Real Art Ways – Hartford CT (88)


Palenville Interart Colony – Palenville NY (94)


Grants / Awards


Northern Berkshire Cultural Council for Performance Art Pieces/In The Arts 86, 89)


Pittsfield Cultural Council for Performance Art Pieces & In The Arts (87, 88)


Great Barrington Cultural Council for Visiting Artist Program (95)


Berkshire Taconic Foundation for The Museum of Teen Art   (00)


Puffin Foundation for Le Petit Musee de Mots Poetry Project  (05)


Mass Cultural Council Finalist for New Theatre Works             (04) & (07)


Puffin Foundation for a Public Poetry Project (07)


Partial list of venues where original performance pieces were presented…


Clark Art Institute – Williamstown MA                      


No.Bias – Bennington VT


Newartstudio – Housatonic MA                                 


First Night – Pittsfield MA


Mobius – Boston MA                                                   


Front Street Gallery – Housatonic MA


Berkshire Public Theatre – Pittsfield MA                 


East West Fusion – Sharon CT


Center for The Arts – Northampton MA                    


Rockwell Museum – Stockbridge MA


Berkshire Artisans – Pittsfield MA                              


Jamestown Community College


Williams College – Williamstown MA                       


Berkshire Community College - Pittsfield MA


School of The Arts – Amherst MA                             


Candlelight Inn – Lenox MA


Camerata Conservatory – Hartford CT                     


North Adams State College              


Bettes Life & Times – Williamstown MA                  


Warehouse Gallery – Lee MA


CW Post College – Brookville NY                             


Ward Nasse Gallery - NY


Partial List of Where Work Has Been Exhibited


AAG Gallery


Albany Center Gallery


Arnot Art Museum


Arts Moderne


Emporium Antiques & Art


Erie Art Museum


Gallery 304


Honey Sharp Gallery


Joyce Goldstein Gallery


Kathryn Markel Gallery


Le Petit Musee


Mill Fine Art


NACCO


Norman Rockwell Museum (installation)


OK Harris


On Paper Gallery


Perth Amboy Gallery


Robinson Center


Saint Francis Gallery


Sienna Art Institute


Spazi Fine Art


Time & Space Limited


Tokonoma Gallery


(Partial List) of Poems/Spoken Word Pieces/Flash Fiction Published In: 


Imitation Fruit  2009


spokenwar  2009


Berkshire Review   2004, 2005


Chronogram  2009


Poets West  2008


physiognomy in letters  2009


Haiku Journal 2011


The Sound of Poetry Review 2011


The Haiku Foundation 2011


High Coop Journal 2011


marcopoloartsmagazine 2011


Lyrical Passion Poetry 2012 


Multiverses 2012 


3 Line Poetry 2012


Poetry Quarterly 2012


Pyrokinection 2012


Poetry Quarterly 2012


Otis Nebula  2012


Inwood Indiana 2012


Napalm & Novacain 2012


Mindless Muse 2012


Snippets 2012


Haiku Journal 2012


marcopolo arts 2012


The Camel Saloon 2012


Epiphany 2012


Pulitzer Remix Project Participant 2013


The Camel Saloon 2013


Pyrokinection 2013


ITO EN North America New Haiku 2013


Epiphany 2013


Whispers in the Wind  2013


Sharpening of The Pencil 2013


The Band Poetry Company 2013


The Mindless Muse 2013


Chupa Cabra House 2013


Four and Twenty 2013


Insert Coin Here Anthology 2013


Silver Birch Press for the Noir Erasure Poetry Anthology 2013


Four and Twenty - 2013

Slab Literary Magazine 2014


Tendril 2014


50 Haikus 2014


Bare Back Magazine 2014


Camel Saloon 2014


The Fishman Review 2015


Junkyard Kool 2015


Camel Saloon 2015


Without Words Anthology 2018



Sherry Steiner          
 
  
Education: The School of Visual Arts   NYC   Fine Arts  
 
2017 – Present           Founder/Manager  – Sunday Strummers Ukulele Ensemble                                                                             
                                   Book concerts, Public  Relations, Marketing, Outreach                                
 
 1989 – 2019                 Creative Arts Instructor (part-time) 
                                    John Dewey Academy – Great Barrington MA 
                                    Studio Art/Creative Writing/Music/Film/Art History 
  
1989 – Present            Publisher/Editor – Indearts.org - Housatonic MA 
                                    Marketing, Public Relations, Editing (online) 
                                    
1995 - 2013                  Property Manager - Dewey Court (part-time) 
                                    Berkshire County Regional Housing – Sheffield MA    
                                
2006 - 2015                  Le Petit Musee-Housatonic /Pittsfield/Great BarrMA 
1992  - 1998                 Curating, PR, Marketing, Programming, Outreach 
  
1999 - 2002                  Museum of Teen Art-Founder - Great Barrington MA 
                                    Marketing, Public Relations, Curating, Outreach 
  
1986 – 88                     Public Relations Director 
                                    Academy for Myotherapy – Lenox MA 
                                    Marketing, PR, Outreach, Audience Targeting 
  
1985 – 86                      Jacob’s Pillow Dance Festival – Lee MA 
                                     Group Sales Manager/ Advertising Sales Manager  
                                     Marketing, Audience Targeting, Outreach 
                                     
1983 - 85                       Business Manager 
                                     Berkshire Women’s News - Stockbridge MA 
                                     
 
 
 
1983 – 85                      Founder/Owner 
                                     Gallery Without Walls – Stockbridge MA 
                                     Coordinate Studio tours, Marketing/Public Relations 
  
 
1982 - 83                      Gallery Owner/Curator/Public Relations/Marketing 
                                    On Paper – Lenox MA 
  
1979 – 1981                   Graphic Arts Assistant Instructor 
                                     Educational Collaborative – South Lee MA 
  
1975 – 79                      Personnel Technician - Human Resources 
                                     Broome County Personnel – Binghamton NY 
  



  
1975                              Public Relations Coordinato/Consultant 
                                     Mowry Associates – Binghamton NY 
                                     Marketing, Public Relations, Outreach,  
  
1974 – 76                      Founder – Artists Action Group – Binghamton NY 
                                     Curating, Public Relations, Marketing, Outreach 
                                   
- President/Member of the Berkshire Writers Room – 2003 - 2007 
- Member/ Chair of the Great Barrington Cultural Council    2003 - 2018 
- Board Member: CTSB-TV – Lee MA  2007 - 2009      
- Member of Berkshire Sings 2012 - present 
- Member of Berkshire Ukulele Band 2012 – present 
- Founder of The Sunday Strummers Ukulele Ensemble 2016 –present 
- Founder of Ukulele4You! 2019 
  
                   
       Additional Info                               

School Of Visual Arts Graduate – Fine Arts – NYC    
Apprentice to Joseph Cornell – Flushing NY               
Founder of the Artists Action Group                           
Set Design with Bill T Jones & Arnie Zane Dance Company   
Profiled:  WomanArt Magazine, The Paper, Springfield Union, Berkshire Eagle,  
Gallery Owner – On Paper – Lenox MA  (82-83) 
Publisher/Editor – In The Arts  (89 - present)    www.indearts.org            
Founder/Owner – Gallery Without Walls – Stockbridge MA  (83-85) 
Creative Arts Instructor: The John Dewey Academy – Great Barrington MA 1989 - 2019 
Gallery Owner Le Petit Musee – Housatonic MA/Pittsfield MA (92-98) (06 –13)  
Founder – The Museum of Teen Art – Great Barrington MA (99 – 02) 
Founder – Affordable Art Vending Machines  (02 –10) 
Producer – Writers of The Berkshires & Beyond – CTSB TV – Lee MA (03 – 04) 
Council Member – Great Barrington Cultural Council 
Founder – Le Petit Musee des Mots  (04 –10) 
Arts Council Member/Co-Chair: Great Barrington Council of the Arts (03 – 2018 
President - Board of Directors/The Berkshire Writers Room /Pittsfield MA (03 –07) 
Founder – Artists & Writers Alliance Internationale / Housatonic MA (07 –11) 
Member – Berkshire Ukulele Band: 2012 – present                 
Member – Berkshire Sings: 2012 – present 
Berkshire Authors’s Day: Busnell-Sage Library Sheffield MA 2012, 2014 
 
Artist-in-Residencies 
 
Millay Colony for The Arts – Austerlitz NY (78) 
Dorset Writers Colony – Dorset VT  (96 – 07) 
Cummington Community for The Arts – Cummington MA (86, 92, 93) 
Real Art Ways – Hartford CT (88) 
Palenville Interart Colony – Palenville NY (94) 
 
Grants / Awards 
 
Northern Berkshire Cultural Council for Performance Art Pieces/In The Arts 86, 89) 



Pittsfield Cultural Council for Performance Art Pieces & In The Arts (87, 88) 
Great Barrington Cultural Council for Visiting Artist Program (95) 
Berkshire Taconic Foundation for The Museum of Teen Art   (00) 
Puffin Foundation for Le Petit Musee de Mots Poetry Project  (05) 
Mass Cultural Council Finalist for New Theatre Works             (04) & (07) 
Puffin Foundation for a Public Poetry Project (07) 
 
Partial list of venues where original performance pieces were presented… 
Clark Art Institute – Williamstown MA                       
No.Bias – Bennington VT 
Newartstudio – Housatonic MA                                  
First Night – Pittsfield MA 
Mobius – Boston MA                                                    
Front Street Gallery – Housatonic MA 
Berkshire Public Theatre – Pittsfield MA                  
East West Fusion – Sharon CT 
Center for The Arts – Northampton MA                     
Rockwell Museum – Stockbridge MA 
Berkshire Artisans – Pittsfield MA                               
Jamestown Community College 
Williams College – Williamstown MA                        
Berkshire Community College - Pittsfield MA 
School of The Arts – Amherst MA                              
Candlelight Inn – Lenox MA 
Camerata Conservatory – Hartford CT                      
North Adams State College               
Bettes Life & Times – Williamstown MA                   
Warehouse Gallery – Lee MA 
CW Post College – Brookville NY                              
Ward Nasse Gallery - NY 
 
Partial List of Where Work Has Been Exhibited 
 
AAG Gallery 
Albany Center Gallery 
Arnot Art Museum 
Arts Moderne 
Emporium Antiques & Art 
Erie Art Museum 
Gallery 304 
Honey Sharp Gallery 
Joyce Goldstein Gallery 
Kathryn Markel Gallery 
Le Petit Musee 
Mill Fine Art 
NACCO 
Norman Rockwell Museum (installation) 
OK Harris 
On Paper Gallery 
Perth Amboy Gallery 
Robinson Center 
Saint Francis Gallery 



Sienna Art Institute 
Spazi Fine Art 
Time & Space Limited 
Tokonoma Gallery 
 
 
 
(Partial List) of Poems/Spoken Word Pieces/Flash Fiction Published In:  
 
Imitation Fruit  2009 
spokenwar  2009 
Berkshire Review   2004, 2005 
Chronogram  2009 
Poets West  2008 
physiognomy in letters  2009 
Haiku Journal 2011 
The Sound of Poetry Review 2011 
The Haiku Foundation 2011 
High Coop Journal 2011 
marcopoloartsmagazine 2011 
Lyrical Passion Poetry 2012  
Multiverses 2012  
3 Line Poetry 2012 
Poetry Quarterly 2012 
Pyrokinection 2012 
Poetry Quarterly 2012 
Otis Nebula  2012 
Inwood Indiana 2012 
Napalm & Novacain 2012 
Mindless Muse 2012 
Snippets 2012 
Haiku Journal 2012 
marcopolo arts 2012 
The Camel Saloon 2012 
Epiphany 2012 
Pulitzer Remix Project Participant 2013 
The Camel Saloon 2013 
Pyrokinection 2013 
ITO EN North America New Haiku 2013 
Epiphany 2013 
Whispers in the Wind  2013 
Sharpening of The Pencil 2013 
The Band Poetry Company 2013 
The Mindless Muse 2013 
Chupa Cabra House 2013 
Four and Twenty 2013 
Insert Coin Here Anthology 2013 
Silver Birch Press for the Noir Erasure Poetry Anthology 2013 
Four and Twenty - 2013 
Slab Literary Magazine 2014 
Tendril 2014 
50 Haikus 2014 



Bare Back Magazine 2014 
Camel Saloon 2014 
The Fishman Review 2015 
Junkyard Kool 2015 
Camel Saloon 2015 
Without Words Anthology 2018 

 
 



   6400 Granby St. 

   Norfolk, VA 23505 

   ahebel@clinellc.com 

   215.588.7035 

  

 
October 23, 2020 

 
Chris Rembold 
Town Planner 
Town of Great Barrington 
334 Main Street 
Great Barrington, MA 01230 
 
 
Re: New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC (“AT&T”) building permit application (“Application”) for 

collocation at the existing wireless telecommunications facility (“Facility”) located at 425 
Stockbridge Rd Great Barrington, MA 01230 (the “Site”). 

 
Dear Chris: 
 
AT&T is seeking to collocates at the above-referenced Facility.  We are submitting this application as an 
eligible facilities request under Section 6409, referenced below. Please find enclosed the following 
documents in support of our application to obtain the building permit: 
 

1. Excerpt from the FCC Order regarding 6409 
2. FCC Licenses 
3. Signed and Stamped Construction Drawings 
4. Structural Analysis 
5. Certificates of Insurance from General Contractor 
6. RF Safety Emissions Report 

 
Section 6409 of the Federal Middle Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act (“Section 6409”) was adopted 
in 2012.  Under Section 6409, your city retains discretionary zoning review over the construction of new 
towers, but simple collocations and/or equipment upgrades at existing telecommunications facilities must 
be approved.  The new law provides that: 
 

 “a State or local government may not deny, and shall approve, any eligible facilities 
request for a modification of an existing wireless tower or base station that does not 
substantially change the physical dimensions of such tower or base station.”  (Emphasis 
added.)   

 
The federal law defines an “eligible facilities request” as “(A) collocation of new transmission 
equipment; (B) removal of transmission equipment; or (C) replacement of transmission 
equipment.”  (Emphasis added.)  
 
Also, the Federal Communications Commission issued a Wireless Infrastructure Report and Order 
on October 17, 2014 (“FCC Order”) which established regulations that clarify and streamline the 



Date 
Recipient 
Page 2 of 5 

 
 

municipal approval process for eligible facilities requests under Section 6409. A copy of the FCC 
Order is enclosed herewith.   
 
 
 
The FCC Order clarifies that municipal review of an eligible facilities request is limited to determining 
whether the request falls within Section 6409: 
 

“a State or local government may require the applicant to provide documentation or 
information only to the extent reasonably related to determining whether the request 
meets the requirements of this section [Section 6409].  A State or local government may 
not require an applicant to submit any other documentation, including but not limited 
to documentation intended to illustrate the need for such wireless facilities or to justify the 
business decision to modify such wireless facilities.”47 C.F.R. 1.40001(c)(1) (Emphasis 
added).   

 
AT&T’s Application is an Eligible Facilities Request under Section 6409 
 
AT&T’s application qualifies as an eligible facilities request under Section 6409 because the proposed 
installation involves “a modification of an existing wireless tower or base station that does not 
substantially change the physical dimensions of such tower or base station.”   
 
AT&T’s installation will consist of (9) Antennas, (6) RRUs, (1) Surge Arrestor, (2) DC cables, (1) Fiber 
cable and (12) Coax cables at the height of 143’ with an over structure height of 160’. 
 
As shown on the plans prepared by Centerline Communications LLC dated 9/15/2020 AT&T’s proposed 
installation consist principally of the following elements: 
 
Replacing (6) antennas, replacing (6) RRUs, adding (3) RRUs, adding (1) Surge Arrestor, adding (3) DC 
cables and (1) Fiber cable. No change to tower height or compound.  
 
Accordingly, AT&T’s installation involves the “replacement of transmission equipment” that will 
not increase the height of the tower nor the dimensions of the equipment compound.  As a result, the 
installation “does not substantially change the physical dimensions of such tower or base station.”  
Therefore, these proposed equipment upgrades constitute an “eligible facilities request” under Section 
6409, and must be approved.   
 
Timeline for Review and Approval 
 
We would like to highlight an important timing requirement for processing this application.  The FCC 
Order determined that a municipality must act on an eligible facilities request within sixty (60) days 
of receiving the application.  47 C.F.R. 1.40001(c)(2) (Emphasis added).  (Note, the sixty (60)-day 
period is also known as the “Shot Clock”).  Thus, the city must approve this application within sixty (60) 
days of its receipt.  The FCC Order provides that upon a municipality’s failure to act prior to expiration 



Date 
Recipient 
Page 3 of 5 

 
 

of the Shot Clock, the “request shall be deemed granted” and AT&T will be legally entitled to proceed 
with construction.  47 C.F.R. 1.40001(c)(4) (Emphasis added). 
 
Note that the FCC Order does allow the Shot Clock to be tolled if an application is incomplete.  
However, in order to do so, a municipality must provide written notice that the application is incomplete 
within thirty (30) days of the submittal.  47 C.F.R. 1.40001(c)(3)(i).  The notice must “clearly and 
specifically” describe the missing documents or information, 47 C.F.R. 1.40001(c)(3)(i), and, as 
previously mentioned, such documentation must be necessary to the determination of whether the 
application qualifies as an eligible facilities request.  If the municipality requests additional information 
after the first thirty (30) days have passed, we will still provide any “reasonably related” information 
allowed under the FCC Order, but the Shot Clock will not be tolled. 
 
 
Pursuant to the Bylaw the following items are Not Applicable to our project for submission, and therefore 
not included: 
 

1. Environmental impact statements  
2. FAA notice of construction or alteration  
3. Aeronautical studies 

 
The exact legal name, address or principal place of business and phone number of the applicant. If 
any applicant is not a natural person, it shall also give the state under which it was created or 
organized.  
 
New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC – A Delaware limited liability company 
1025 Lenox Park Blvd NE, 3rd Floor 
Atlanta, GA 30319 
 
Allison Hebel (agent for AT&T) 
Centerline Communications LLC 
215-588-7035 
 
The name, title, address and phone number of the person to whom correspondence or 
communications in regard to the application are to be sent. Notice, orders and other papers may be 
served upon the person so named and such service shall be deemed to be service upon the 
applicant.  
 
Allison Hebel – Site Acquisition Consultant 
Centerline Communications LLC 
750 West Center St. STE 301 
West Bridgewater, MA 02379 
215-588-7035 
ahebel@clinellc.com 
 

mailto:ahebel@clinellc.com


Date 
Recipient 
Page 4 of 5 

 
 

Name, address, phone number and written consent to apply for this permit, of the owner of the 
property on which the proposed tower shall be located or of the owner(s) of the tower or structure 
on which the proposed facility shall be located.  
 

See attached LOA from SBA Towers II, LLC who owns the tower.  
 
 
Any applicant for a permit or a special permit under this Bylaw shall provide a written 
commitment that if the applicant receives a permit or special permit under the Bylaw, that the 
applicant shall abide by the requirements herein as they may apply.  
 

While reserving all rights AT&T will comply with all applicable laws and Bylaws. 
 
Proposed antennas 
 

While reserving all rights, please see attached Plans for details. 
 
Number of antennas and repeaters, as well as the exact locations of antennas(s) and of all repeaters 
(if any) located on a map as well as by degrees, minutes and seconds of latitude and longitude.  
 

While reserving all rights, please see attached Plans for details.  
 
Mounting locations on personal wireless tower or structure, including height above ground. 
 

While reserving all rights, please see attached Plans for details.  
 
Antenna type(s), manufacturer(s), model number(s). 
 

While reserving all rights, please see attached Plans and emissions report for details.  
 
For each antenna, the antenna gain and antenna radiation pattern. 
 

While reserving all rights, please see attached Radio Frequency Safety Survey Prediction Report 
(the “RF Report”) for details. 
 
Number of channels per antenna, projected and maximum.  
 

While reserving all rights, please see attached RF Report for details.  
 
Power output, in normal use and at maximum output for each antenna and all antennas as an 
aggregate.  
 

While reserving all rights, please see attached RF Report for details.  
 



Date 
Recipient 
Page 5 of 5 

 
 

Output frequency of the transmitter(s). 
 
While reserving all rights, please see attached RF Report for details.  
 
 
In light of the foregoing, AT&T respectfully requests that its proposed collocation be approved. AT&T is 
committed to working cooperatively with the Town of Great Barrington, and all jurisdictions around the 
country, to secure expeditious approval of requests to modify existing personal wireless service facilities.   
 
In the meantime, if you have any questions, please feel free to call or email me.  Thank you for your 
cooperation. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 

 
Allison Hebel 
Site Acquisition Consultant – Agent for AT&T 
Centerline Communications LLC 
215-588-7035 
ahebel@clinellc.com 
 









���������� ���	�
����	�	��������	�
����	�	�������	�	����	���
�
��	������� 	���

!����"��#
�������$%��$&�'����������������!��
����$(��)�
����*��+�,���
����� ���

-./	.0123425677879:	;<=6>?6	@	ABACDDE	@	CFGF	HIJ<7<KL	MN6=K:8O	;;5PQRR	/0S3 TUTVWWX		 YQZ0[	/2\]012 P.	̂	P2RR_RQ\/̀Q̀_4 V1̀0]2	 V_̀a	bcd2 Y2S_RQ\	H9:e6KfQ\g2̀ PfVhhX		̂	i[4̀[3̂.[j2RR̂i\[1g̀[3̂.Qj\2312̂kQ]2\a0RRl	fV̂Uk	 PaQ332R	iR[1g V				/_mnQ\g2̀ h	 oaQ42 W	p9K6?q\Q3̀ hrshrsWhtu	 vwd0\Q̀0[3 thshtsWhWu	vxx21̀0]2 hysWrsWhty	 PQ312RRQ̀0[3 	z<{6	|69:	}8<7~I8K	p9K6hXsWystrrr		5I>K:I7	�I<>K?D thh	.���vY	iY��T	�Yl	U�Y��.Tl	�v/b����l	fV	o�	�Xt��uXŴ�hru			;<=6>?66�YU hhturyh�WX		 bcd2 .0n0̀2Z	.0Qm0R0̀c	P[ndQ3c		;<=6>?66Vb�b	f[m0R0̀c	/d21̀\_n	..PWhy	/�	VgQ\Z	/̀�l	Yf	tht��QRRQ4l	b�	��WhW	VbbU	P210R	�	fQ̀a2j o��y���Xrr̂�h��	���Wtu��uX̂Xuth	v��PPf��Q̀ �̀1[n			5I>K9=KVb�b	f[m0R0̀c	..PP210R	�	fQ̀a2j	Why	/	VgQ\Z	/̀�l	Yf	tht��QRRQ4l	b�	��WhWVbbU	f01aQ2R	o�	q[SS03 o��y���Xrr̂�h��	���Wtu��uX̂Xuth	v��PPf��Q̀ �̀1[n			��>6:?�<N	9>~	�897<�<=9K<I>?YQZ0[	/2\]012	bcd2 f[m0R2		Y2S_RQ̀[\c	/̀Q̀_4 P[nn[3	PQ\\02\		 �3̀2\1[3321̀2Z �24		C7<6>	��>6:?�<Nba2	VddR01Q3̀	Q34j2\2Z	�U[�	̀[	2Q1a	[x	̀a2	VR023	�j32\4a0d	�_24̀0[34�}9?<=	�897<�<=9K<I>?ba2	VddR01Q3̀	Q34j2\2Z	�U[�	̀[	2Q1a	[x	̀a2	iQ401	�_QR0x01Q̀0[3	�_24̀0[34�	p6OI�:9N�<=?YQ12 	v̀a3010̀c 	 q23Z2\ 		



���������� ���	�
����	�	��������	�
����	�	�������	�	����	���
�
��	������� 	���

!����"��#
�������$%��$&�'����������������!��
����$(��)�
����*��+�,���
����� ���



at&t MOBILITY CORP.
550 COCHITUATE ROAD
FRAMINGHAM, MA 01701

750 WEST CENTER ST, SUITE 301
WEST BRIDGEWATER, MA 02379

PHONE: 781.713.4725



·
·
·
·

750 WEST CENTER ST, SUITE 301
WEST BRIDGEWATER, MA 02379

PHONE: 781.713.4725

at&t MOBILITY CORP.
550 COCHITUATE ROAD
FRAMINGHAM, MA 01701



W/BATTERIES & 21 UP
CONVERTERS / NO Y CABLE /

ESURE POWER EXTEND
CONVERTER, 26-POSITION

PANEL ( # 565459 )

NOTES:

1. REFERENCE STRUCTURAL ANALYSIS BY OTHERS FOR
FURTHER INFORMATION REGARDING THE CAPACITY
OF THE EXISTING STRUCTURE TO SUPPORT THIS
EQUIPMENT UPGRADE.

2. REFERENCE THE LATEST MOUNT  STRUCTURAL
ANALYSIS BY CENTERLINE  COMMUNICATIONS FOR
FURTHER INFORMATION REGARDING THE CAPACITY
OF THE EXISTING MOUNT TO SUPPORT THIS
EQUIPMENT UPGRADE.

3. REFER TO THE FINAL RF DATA SHEET FOR FINAL
ANTENNA SETTINGS.

at&t MOBILITY CORP.
550 COCHITUATE ROAD
FRAMINGHAM, MA 01701

750 WEST CENTER ST, SUITE 301
WEST BRIDGEWATER, MA 02379

PHONE: 781.713.4725



(3) #8 DC POWER
CABLES & (1) 24 PAIR FIBER

TRUNK

GAMMA SECTOR
LTE 700/1900

353°
GAMMA SECTOR
UMTS 850/1900

23°

GAMMA SECTOR
GSM 850

23°

ALPHA SECTOR
UMTS 850/1900

143°

ALPHA SECTOR
GSM 850

143°ALPHA SECTOR LTE
700/1900

170°

BETA SECTOR
UMTS 850/1900

263°

BETA SECTOR
GSM 850

263°

BETA SECTOR
LTE 700/1900

260°

ALPHA SECTOR
UMTS 850

143°

ALPHA SECTOR
LTE 700 B14/AWS

170°

ALPHA SECTOR
LTE 700/850/PCS

170°

BETA SECTOR
LTE 700/850/PCS

260°

BETA SECTOR
LTE 700 B14/AWS

260°

BETA SECTOR
UMTS 850

263°

GAMMA SECTOR
LTE 700/850/PCS

353°

GAMMA SECTOR
LTE 700 B14/AWS

353°

GAMMA SECTOR
UMTS 850

23°

750 WEST CENTER ST, SUITE 301
WEST BRIDGEWATER, MA 02379

PHONE: 781.713.4725

at&t MOBILITY CORP.
550 COCHITUATE ROAD
FRAMINGHAM, MA 01701

NOTES:

1. REFERENCE STRUCTURAL ANALYSIS BY OTHERS FOR
FURTHER INFORMATION REGARDING THE CAPACITY
OF THE EXISTING STRUCTURE TO SUPPORT THIS
EQUIPMENT UPGRADE.

2. REFERENCE THE LATEST MOUNT  STRUCTURAL
ANALYSIS BY CENTERLINE  COMMUNICATIONS FOR
FURTHER INFORMATION REGARDING THE CAPACITY
OF THE EXISTING MOUNT TO SUPPORT THIS
EQUIPMENT UPGRADE.

3. REFER TO THE FINAL RF DATA SHEET FOR FINAL
ANTENNA SETTINGS.



4449 B5/B12 RRUS

8843 B2/B66A RRUS (BEHIND)

750 WEST CENTER ST, SUITE 301
WEST BRIDGEWATER, MA 02379

PHONE: 781.713.4725

RRU CHART

at&t MOBILITY CORP.
550 COCHITUATE ROAD
FRAMINGHAM, MA 01701

NOTES:

1. REFERENCE STRUCTURAL ANALYSIS BY OTHERS FOR
FURTHER INFORMATION REGARDING THE CAPACITY OF
THE EXISTING STRUCTURE TO SUPPORT THIS
EQUIPMENT UPGRADE.

2. REFERENCE THE LATEST MOUNT  STRUCTURAL
ANALYSIS BY CENTERLINE  COMMUNICATIONS FOR
FURTHER INFORMATION REGARDING THE CAPACITY OF
THE EXISTING MOUNT TO SUPPORT THIS EQUIPMENT
UPGRADE.

3. REFER TO THE FINAL RF DATA SHEET FOR FINAL
ANTENNA SETTINGS.



750 WEST CENTER ST, SUITE 301
WEST BRIDGEWATER, MA 02379

PHONE: 781.713.4725

BEFORE CONSTRUCTION

DURING CONSTRUCTION

 REQUIRED

4

5

AFTER CONSTRUCTION

 REQUIRED
MODIFICATION INSPECTOR REDLINE
OR RECORD DRAWINGS 6

 REQUIRED PHOTOGRAPHS

REQUIRED INSPECTIONS AND SITE REVIEW DOCUMENT AS A
CONDITION OF THE BUILDING PERMIT THE FOLLOWING

INSPECTIONS AND SITE REVIEWS IDENTIFIED BY THE BUILDING
OFFICIAL ARE REQUIRED FOR WORK PER THE

9TH EDITION OF THE MASSACHUSETTS STATE BUILDING CODE,
780 CMR, SECTION110 AND CHAPTER 17

REQUIRED SITE REVIEW AND DOCUMENTATION FOR PORTIONS OR PHASES
CONSTRUCTION 1 6 7

SITE REVIEW AND DOCUMENTATION X
SITE REVIEW AND
DOCUMENTATION

X

5

4

X

STRUCTURAL NOTES: SPECIAL INSPECTIONS (REFERENCE IBC CHAPTER 17):

NOTES:

NOTES:

X

MASSACHUSETTS AMENDMENTS TO THE IBC
(REFERENCE 780 CMR):

at&t MOBILITY CORP.
550 COCHITUATE ROAD
FRAMINGHAM, MA 01701



750 WEST CENTER ST, SUITE 301
WEST BRIDGEWATER, MA 02379

PHONE: 781.713.4725

at&t MOBILITY CORP.
550 COCHITUATE ROAD
FRAMINGHAM, MA 01701

PROPOSED SECTOR MOUNT SITE PRO 1 MODEL
# VFA12-WLL-30120



750 WEST CENTER ST, SUITE 301
WEST BRIDGEWATER, MA 02379

PHONE: 781.713.4725

at&t MOBILITY CORP.
550 COCHITUATE ROAD
FRAMINGHAM, MA 01701



750 WEST CENTER ST, SUITE 301
WEST BRIDGEWATER, MA 02379

PHONE: 781.713.4725

at&t MOBILITY CORP.
550 COCHITUATE ROAD
FRAMINGHAM, MA 01701





 

TES Project Number: 97210       Page 1                                                     September 3, 2020 

 
 

 
Phone (972) 483-0607, Fax (972) 975-9615 

1320 Greenway Drive, Suite 600, Irving, Texas 75038 
 

 
Structural Analysis Report 

 

Existing 160 ft Central Tower Self Supporting Tower 
Customer Name: SBA Communications Corp 

Customer Site Number: MA13743-A 
Customer Site Name: WSBS 

Carrier Name: AT&T (App#: 133489, v1) 
Carrier Site ID / Name: MA5153 / Great Barrington-Stockbridge 

Site Location: 425 Stockbridge Rd 
 Great Barrington, Massachusetts 

Berkshire County 
Latitude: 42.214058 

Longitude: -73.344716 

   

   

Analysis Result: 
Max Structural Usage: 103.5% [Pass] 

Max Foundation Usage: 59.0% [Pass] 
Additional Usage Caused by Mount Modification: + 1.9% 

 

 

Report Prepared by:   Matthew Baker 



 

TES Project Number: 97210       Page 2                                                     September 3, 2020 

Introduction 

The purpose of this report is to summarize the analysis results on the 160 ft Central Tower Self Supporting 
Tower to support the proposed antennas and transmission lines in addition to those currently installed.  Any 
modification listed under Sources of Information was assumed completed and was included in this analysis. 
 
 
 
Sources of Information 

Tower Drawings Central Tower Project # SS-1276, dated 01/24/2003 
Foundation Drawing Central Tower Project # SS-1276, dated 01/24/2003 
Geotechnical Report Jaworski Geotech Project # 02715G, dated 01/09/2003 
Modification Drawings FDH Project # 11-01055E S3, dated 05/16/2011 
Mount Analysis Centerline Communications MA for AT&T Site # MA5153, rev.1, dated 06/22/2020 

 
 

Analysis Criteria 
 
The rigorous analysis was performed in accordance with the requirements and stipulations of the TIA-
222-G-2. In accordance with this standard, the structure was analyzed using TESTowers, a proprietary 
analysis software. The program considers the structure as an elastic 3-D model with second-order effects 
and temperature effects incorporated in the analysis. The analysis was performed using multiple wind 
directions. 
 

Wind Speed Used in the Analysis: 
      

Ultimate Design Wind Speed Vult = 115.0 mph (3-Sec. Gust)/  
Nominal Design Wind Speed Vasd = 89.0 mph (3-Sec. Gust)  

Wind Speed with Ice: 40 mph (3-Sec. Gust) with 3/4” radial ice concurrent 
Operational Wind Speed: 60 mph + 0” Radial ice 
Standard/Codes: TIA-222-G-2 / Massachusetts State Building Code, Ninth 

Edition 
Exposure Category: C 
Structure Class: II 
Topographic Category: 1 
Crest Height: 0 ft 
Seismic Parameters: SS = 0.169, S1 = 0.066 

 

This structural analysis is based upon the tower being classified as a Structure Class II; however, if a 
different classification is required subsequent to the date hereof, the tower classification will be changed 
to meet such requirement and a new structural analysis will be run. 
 

  



 

TES Project Number: 97210       Page 3                                                     September 3, 2020 

Existing Antennas, Mounts and Transmission Lines 
 
The table below summarizes the antennas, mounts and transmission lines that were considered in the 
analysis as existing on the tower. 
 

 

 

 
 

Items Elevation 
(ft) Qty. Antenna Descriptions Mount Type & Qty. Transmission 

Lines Owner 

1 
166.0 

1 13’ x 1” Omni 
Direct  

(1) 1/4"  
WSBS 

2 1 13’ x 1.62” Omni (1) 3/8"  
3 

155.5 

3 Commscope - DT465B-2XR - Panel 
(3) Sector Frames 
(1) SitePro HPK14 
(3) SitePro SFR‐K‐L 
(3) SitePro STK‐U 

(3) SitePro TAP‐472 

(4) 1-1/4" 
Hybrid  

Sprint 
Nextel 

4 3 RFS - APXVSPP18-C-A20 - Panel 
5 3 ALU - 1900 MHz RRU 
6 6 ALU - 800 MHz RRU 
7 3 ALU - 800 MHz Filter 
8 4 RFS - ACU-A20-N - RET 
9 3 ALU - TD-RRH8x20-25 - RRU 
- 

143.0 

6 Kathrein - 800 10122 - Panel 

(3) Sector Frames  

(12) 1 5/8"  
(1) 3/8" Fiber 
(2) 5/8" DC 

Power 

AT&T 

- 2 KMW - AM-X-CD-16-65-00T-RET - Panel 
- 1 Powerwave - P45-16-XLH-RR - Panel 
- 3 CSS - Duo 1414-8686 - Panel 
- 6 Powerwave - TT08-19DB111-001 - TMA 
- 12 Kathrein - 860 10025 - TMA  
- 3 Ericsson - RRU-11 - RRU 

- 1 Raycap - DC6-48-60-18-8F - Surge 
Protector  

- 3 Ericsson - RRU-12 - RRU 
- 3 Kathrein - 782 10254 - Bias T 

23 

140.0 

6 RFS - FD9R6004/2C-3L - TMA 

 (3) Sector Frames (12) 1 5/8"   Verizon 
24 1 Andrew - LNX-6512DS - Panel 
25 2 Swedcom - SLCP 2x6014 - Panel 
26 6 Antel - LPA-80063/4CF - Panel 
27 3 Antel - BXA-171063/8BF - Panel 
28 

127.0 

3 EMS - RR65-19-02DP - Panel 

(3) T-Frames w/ Mods (18) 1 5/8"  T-Mobile 
29 3 CommScope - LNX-6515DS - Panel 
30 3 RFS - APX16PV-16PRVL - Panel 
31 6 Ericsson - KRY 112 489/2 - TMA 
32 3 Kathrein - 782 11056 - TMA 
33 117.0 1 Scala - HDCA-5/HRM/75N - Yagi 

(1) 11’ Pipe  (1) 1/2” WRCR 
34 109.5 1 Scala - HDCA-5/HRM/75N - Yagi 
35 93.5 1 Antenex - 8’x 1” Omni (1) Standoff (1) 1/2"   WSBS 

36 88.0 1 Dielectric - DCR-L-1  Direct (1) 7/8"  
New 

England 
Public Radio 



 

TES Project Number: 97210       Page 4                                                     September 3, 2020 

Proposed Carrier’s Final Configuration of Antennas, Mounts and Transmission Lines 
 
Information pertaining to the proposed carrier’s final configuration of antennas and transmission lines 
was provided by SBA Communications Corp. The proposed antennas and lines are listed below. 
 

*(1) 3/8” Fiber and (2) 5/8” DC housed inside (1) 2.5” Conduit 
 
See the attached coax layout for the line placement considered in the analysis. 
 

Analysis Results 
 
The results of the structural analysis, performed for the wind and ice loading and antenna equipment as 
defined above, are summarized as the following: 
 

Tower Component Legs Diagonals Horizontals 

Max. Usage: 103.5% 98.5% 13.9% 
Pass/Fail Pass Pass Pass  

 

Foundations  

 Compression (Kips) Uplift (Kips) Shear (Kips) 

Analysis Reactions 434.3 396.4 24.8   
 
The foundation has been investigated using the supplied documents and soils report and was found 
adequate. Therefore, no modification to the foundation will be required. 
 

 

  

Items Elevation 
(ft) Qty. Antenna Descriptions Mount Type & Qty. Transmission 

Lines Owner 

10 

143.0 

6 Kathrein - 800 10122 - Panel 

(3) Sector Frames w/ 
Mods 

(12) 1 5/8"  
(2) 3/8" Fiber* 
(5) 5/8" DC* 

AT&T 

11 1 Cci - OPA65R-BU4DA - Panel 
12 1 Cci - DMP65R-BU4DA - Panel 
13 2 Cci - OPA65R-BU6DA - Panel 
14 2 Cci - DMP65R-BU6DA - Panel 
15 6 Powerwave - TT08-19DB111-001 - TMA 
16 12 Kathrein - 860 10025 - RET 
17 3 Ericsson - 4449 B5/B12 - RRU 
18 3 Ericsson - RRUS 8843 B2 B66A - RRU 
19 3 Ericsson - RRUS 4478 B14 - RRU 
20 1 Raycap - DC6-48-60-18-8F - OVP 
21 1 Raycap - DC9-48-60-24-8C-EV - OVP 
22 3 Kathrein - 782 10254 - BIAS-T 



 

TES Project Number: 97210       Page 5                                                     September 3, 2020 

Operational Condition (Rigidity): 
 
Operational characteristics of the tower are found to be within the limits prescribed by ANSI/TIA/EIA 
222-G for the installed antennas. The maximum twist/sway at the elevation of the proposed equipment 
is 0.3571 degrees under the operational wind speed as specified in the Analysis Criteria. 
 
Conclusions 
 
Based on the analysis results, the existing structure and its foundation were found to be adequate to 
safely support the existing and proposed equipment and meet the minimum requirements per the 
ANSI/TIA/EIA 222-G Standard under the design basic wind speed as specified in the Analysis Criteria. 



 

TES Project Number: 97210       Page 6                                                     September 3, 2020 

Standard Conditions 
 
 
1. This analysis was performed based on the information supplied to (TES) Tower Engineering Solutions, 

LLC. Verification of the information provided was not included in the Scope of Work for TES. The 
accuracy of the analysis is dependent on the accuracy of the information provided. 
 

2. The structural analysis was performance based upon the evidence available at the time of this report. 
All information provided by the client is considered to be accurate. 

 
3. The analyses will be performed based on the codes as specified by the client or based on the best 

knowledge of the engineering staff of TES. In the absence of information to the contrary, all work will 
be performed in accordance with the latest relevant revision of ANSI/TIA-222. If wind speed and/or ice 
loads are different from the minimum values recommended by the EIA/TIA-222 standard or other 
codes, TES should be notified in writing and the applicable minimum values provided by the client. 

 
4. The configuration of the existing mounts, antennas, coax and other appurtenances were supplied by 

the customer for the current structural analysis. TES has not visited the tower site to verify the adequacy 
of the information provided. If there is any discrepancy found in the report regarding the existing 
conditions, TES should be notified immediately to evaluate the effect of the discrepancy on the analysis 
results.     

 
5. The client will assume responsibility for rework associated with the differences in initially provided 

information, including tower and foundation information, existing and/or proposed equipment and 
transmission lines.  

 
6. If a feasibility analysis was performed, final acceptance of changed conditions shall be based upon a 

rigorous structural analysis. 
 
 



Type: Self Support

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020

Page: 1

Base Shape: Triangle

Base Width: 11.00

Base Elev: 0.00 (ft)

Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Top Width: 4.00

Basic WS: 89.00

Basic Ice WS: 40.00

Operational WS: 60.00

Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Section Properties

Sect Leg Members Diagonal Members Horizontal Members

SAE 2.5X2.5X0.3125  1 SOL 4 1/4" SOLID

SAE 2.5X2.5X0.3125  2 SOL 4" SOLID

SAE 2X2X0.3125  3 SOL 3 3/4" SOLID

SAE 2X2X0.25  4 SOL 3 3/4" SOLID

SAE 2X2X0.25  5 SOL 3 1/2" S0LID

SAE 2X2X0.1875  6 SOL 3 1/4" SOLID

SAE 2X2X0.1875  7 SOL 3" SOLID

SAE 2X2X0.1875  8 SOL 2 3/4" SOLID

SOL 7/8" SOLID SOL 7/8" SOLID9 SOL 2" SOLID

Discrete Appurtenances
Attach

Elev (ft)
Force

Elev (ft) Qty Description
159.50  1 13' Omni166.00
159.50  1 13' Omni166.00
155.50  3 T-Arm (Flat)155.50
155.50  1 HRK14155.50
155.50  1 (3) SFR-K-L155.50
155.50  1 (3) Stabilizer Kit (4' FW)155.50
155.50  1 (3) TAP-472155.50
155.50  3 DT465B-2XR155.50
155.50  3 APXVSPP18-C-A20155.50
155.50  3 1900MHz RRH155.50
155.50  6 800 MHz RRH155.50
155.50  3 ALU 800MHz External Notch Filt155.50
155.50  4 ACU-A20-N155.50
155.50  3 TD-RRH8x20-25155.50
143.00  3 Light Sector Frame-Flat143.00
143.00  1 (3) SFS-H-L (V-Braces)143.00
143.00  1 (3) 12.5' - 2" Horizontal Pipe143.00
143.00  1 (3) Stabilizer Kit (4' FW)143.00
143.00  6 800 10122143.00
143.00  1 OPA65R-BU4DA143.00
143.00  1 DMP65R-BU4DA143.00
143.00  2 OPA65R-BU6DA143.00
143.00  2 DMP65R-BU6DA143.00
143.00  6 TT08-19DB111-001143.00
143.00 12 860 10025143.00
143.00  3 4449 B5/B12143.00
143.00  3 B2 B66A 8843143.00
143.00  3 RRUS 4478 B14143.00
143.00  1 DC6-48-60-18-8F143.00
143.00  1 DC9-48-60-24-8C-EV143.00
143.00  3 782 10254143.00
137.50  3 Light Sector Frame-Flat137.50
137.50  6 FD9R6004/2C-3L 3.1#140.00
137.50  1 LNX-6512DS-T0M140.00
137.50  2 SLCP 2x6014140.00
137.50  6 LPA-80063/4CF140.00
137.50  3 BXA-171063-8BF-EDIN-X140.00
127.00  3 T-Arm (Flat)127.00
127.00  3 RR65-19-02DP127.00
127.00  3 LNX-6515DS-A1M127.00

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Type: Self Support

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020

Page: 2

Base Shape: Triangle

Base Width: 11.00

Base Elev: 0.00 (ft)

Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Top Width: 4.00

Basic WS: 89.00

Basic Ice WS: 40.00

Operational WS: 60.00

Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

127.00  3 APX16PV-16PVL-A127.00
127.00  6 KRY 112 89/1127.00
127.00  3 782 10153127.00
117.00  1 HDCA-5/HRM117.00
112.50  1 15'x2.875"mount pipe112.50
109.50  1 HDCA-5/HRM109.50

89.50  1 Side Arm (L. Heavy)89.50
89.50  1 8' Omni93.50
88.00  1 A18R18688.00

Linear Appurtenances
Elev

From (ft)
Elev

To (ft) Qty Description
0.00 159.50  1 1/4" Coax
0.00 159.50  1 3/8" Coax
0.00 155.50  4 1-1/4" Hybrid
0.00 155.50  1 W/G Ladder
0.00 143.00 12 1 5/8" Coax
0.00 143.00  1 2.5 Conduit
0.00 143.00  2 3/8" Fiber
0.00 143.00  5 5/8" DC Power
0.00 143.00  1 W/G Ladder
0.00 137.50 12 1 5/8" Coax
0.00 137.50  1 W/G Ladder
0.00 127.00 12 1 5/8" Coax
0.00 127.00  6 1 5/8" Coax
0.00 127.00  1 W/G Ladder
0.00 112.50  1 1/2"  Coax
0.00 89.50  1 1/2"  Coax
0.00 88.00  1 7/8" Coax

Base Reactions

Max Uplift:

Max Down:

-396.37

Leg Overturning

434.35

Max Shear: 24.85

Moment: 3982.19

Total Down:

Total Shear:

48.97

41.36

(kips
)

(kips
)

(kips
)

(ft-kips)

(kips)

(kips)

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



9/3/2020

Page: 3

Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Type: Self Support

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

Base Shape: Triangle

Base Width: 11.00

Base Elev: 0.00 (ft) Top Width: 4.00

Basic WS: 89.00

Basic Ice WS: 40.00

Operational WS: 60.00

Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Type: Self Support

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020

Page: 4

Structure: MA13743-A-SBA - Coax Line Placement

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Loading Summary

Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020

Page: 5

Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Gh: 0.85

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class:

IIStruct Class:

D - Stiff Soil

Topography: 1

Discrete Appurtenances Properties
IceNo Ice

Attach
Elev
(ft) Description Qty

Weight
(lb)

CaAa
(sf)

Weight
(lb)

CaAa
(sf)

Len
(in)

Width
(in)

Vert
Ecc
(ft)

Depth
(in) Ka

Orientation
Factor

13' Omni  1 15.00 1.300 2.85151.91159.50 156.000 1.000 1.000 6.5001.00 1.00

13' Omni  1 28.00 2.030 2.85151.91159.50 156.000 1.560 1.560 6.5001.00 1.00

T-Arm (Flat)  3 400.00 10.000 18.726679.23155.50 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0000.75 0.75

HRK14  1 302.36 8.130 16.076661.18155.50 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0001.00 1.00

(3) SFR-K-L  1 394.00 16.600 28.7681117.92155.50 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0000.75 1.00

(3) Stabilizer Kit (4' FW)  1 140.00 3.700 7.574315.92155.50 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0000.75 1.00

(3) TAP-472  1 720.00 14.300 29.2741725.24155.50 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0000.75 1.00

DT465B-2XR  3 58.00 9.100 10.440285.43155.50 71.900 13.800 8.200 0.0000.80 0.83

APXVSPP18-C-A20  3 57.00 8.020 10.814229.85155.50 72.000 11.800 7.000 0.0000.80 0.83

1900MHz RRH  3 44.00 3.800 5.190153.16155.50 23.000 13.000 17.000 0.0000.80 0.67

800 MHz RRH  6 53.00 2.490 3.634126.96155.50 19.700 13.000 10.800 0.0000.80 0.67

ALU 800MHz External Notch Filt  3 8.80 0.780 1.42726.44155.50 10.000 8.000 3.000 0.0000.80 0.50

ACU-A20-N  4 1.00 0.140 0.4375.30155.50 4.000 2.000 3.500 0.0000.80 0.50

TD-RRH8x20-25  3 70.00 4.050 5.464167.73155.50 26.100 18.600 6.700 0.0000.80 0.50

Light Sector Frame-Flat  3 500.00 17.500 31.4271198.09143.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0000.75 0.75

(3) SFS-H-L (V-Braces)  1 230.00 6.700 13.716551.12143.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0000.75 1.00

(3) 12.5' - 2" Horizontal Pipe  1 137.25 5.938 13.398271.39143.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0000.75 1.00

(3) Stabilizer Kit (4' FW)  1 140.00 3.700 7.574315.92143.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0000.75 0.75

800 10122  6 59.50 7.620 10.360215.22143.00 75.500 10.300 5.900 0.0000.80 0.82

OPA65R-BU4DA  1 9.66 8.440 9.668216.99143.00 48.200 21.000 7.800 0.0000.80 0.71

DMP65R-BU4DA  1 9.50 8.280 9.505213.27143.00 48.000 20.700 7.700 0.0000.80 0.71

OPA65R-BU6DA  2 60.20 12.870 14.366351.54143.00 71.200 21.000 7.800 0.0000.80 0.72

DMP65R-BU6DA  2 79.40 12.710 14.174373.94143.00 71.200 20.700 7.700 0.0000.80 0.72

TT08-19DB111-001  6 22.00 0.920 1.65948.62143.00 14.200 6.700 5.400 0.0000.80 0.50

860 10025 12 1.20 0.180 0.5597.20143.00 7.600 2.400 2.000 0.0000.80 0.50

4449 B5/B12  3 71.00 1.970 2.517124.38143.00 17.900 13.200 9.400 0.0000.80 0.67

B2 B66A 8843  3 70.00 1.640 2.156115.98143.00 15.000 13.200 9.300 0.0000.80 0.67

RRUS 4478 B14  3 59.40 1.650 2.168100.87143.00 15.000 13.200 7.300 0.0000.80 0.67

DC6-48-60-18-8F  1 31.80 0.920 1.35893.62143.00 24.000 11.000 11.000 0.0000.80 1.00

DC9-48-60-24-8C-EV  1 26.20 1.140 2.727132.19143.00 31.400 10.200 18.200 0.0000.80 0.50

782 10254  3 2.90 0.130 0.4226.89143.00 4.300 3.000 1.700 0.0000.80 0.50

Light Sector Frame-Flat  3 500.00 17.500 31.2291188.17137.50 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0000.75 0.75

FD9R6004/2C-3L 3.1#  6 3.10 0.360 0.79711.01137.50 5.800 6.500 1.500 2.5000.80 0.50

LNX-6512DS-T0M  1 28.00 5.090 6.954147.81137.50 48.500 11.900 7.100 2.5000.80 0.83

SLCP 2x6014  2 20.00 6.490 8.536193.73137.50 53.000 14.000 11.000 2.5000.80 0.91

LPA-80063/4CF  6 20.00 6.150 7.178201.68137.50 47.400 15.200 13.200 2.5000.80 0.93

BXA-171063-8BF-EDIN-X  3 10.50 2.940 4.57575.11137.50 48.500 6.100 4.100 2.5000.80 0.87

T-Arm (Flat)  3 400.00 10.000 18.602675.27127.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0000.75 0.75

RR65-19-02DP  3 23.00 5.880 7.122151.54127.00 72.000 8.000 2.800 0.0000.80 0.74

LNX-6515DS-A1M  3 49.80 11.470 14.691276.09127.00 96.400 11.900 7.100 0.0000.80 0.84

APX16PV-16PVL-A  3 39.60 6.030 7.084178.69127.00 53.000 12.900 3.100 0.0000.80 0.66

KRY 112 89/1  6 16.10 0.700 1.33538.12127.00 12.000 6.000 5.600 0.0000.80 0.50

782 10153  3 11.00 0.660 1.26126.55127.00 10.300 6.500 3.100 0.0000.80 0.50

HDCA-5/HRM  1 21.00 1.990 13.88598.84117.00 69.300 65.200 28.800 0.0001.00 1.00

15'x2.875"mount pipe  1 70.00 3.750 8.293174.22112.50 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0001.00 1.00

HDCA-5/HRM  1 21.00 1.990 13.88598.84109.50 69.300 65.200 28.800 0.0001.00 1.00

Side Arm (L. Heavy)  1 120.00 4.500 9.485219.5089.50 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0001.00 1.00

8' Omni  1 25.00 2.400 5.01683.0789.50 96.000 3.000 3.000 4.0001.00 1.00

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Loading Summary

Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020

Page: 6

Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Gh: 0.85

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class:

IIStruct Class:

D - Stiff Soil

Topography: 1

A18R186  1 30.00 3.150 4.34392.6688.00 18.000 18.000 6.000 0.0001.00 1.00

29,407.54 49Number of Appurtenances : Totals: 11,003.57132

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Loading Summary

Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020

Page: 7

Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Gh: 0.85

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class:

IIStruct Class:

D - Stiff Soil

Topography: 1

Linear Appurtenances Properties

Weight
(lb/ft)

Width
(in)

Pct
In

Block

Spread
On

Faces
Bundling

Arrangement

Elev.
From

(ft) Description

Elev.
To
(ft) Qty

Cluster
Dia
(in)

Out
of

Zone
Spacing

(in)
Orientation

Factor
Ka

Override

0.00 159.50 1/4" Coax 0.25 100.00 3 Individual NR 1 0.04 N 0.50 1.00
0.00 159.50 3/8" Coax 0.44 100.00 3 Individual NR 1 0.08 N 0.50 1.00
0.00 155.50 1-1/4" Hybrid 1.25 100.00 3 Individual IR 4 0.95 N 0.50 1.00
0.00 155.50 W/G Ladder 2.50 100.00 3 Individual NR 1 6.00 N 0.50 1.00
0.00 143.00 1 5/8" Coax 1.98 100.00 2 Individual IR12 1.04 N 0.50 0.37
0.00 143.00 2.5 Conduit 2.38 100.00 2 Individual NR 1 1.12 N 0.50 1.00  0
0.00 143.00 3/8" Fiber 0.38 100.00 2 Individual NR 2 0.06 N 0.50 1.00  0
0.00 143.00 5/8" DC Power 0.63 100.00 2 Individual IR 5 0.15 N 0.50 1.00  0
0.00 143.00 W/G Ladder 0.25 100.00 2 Individual NR 1 6.00 N 0.50 1.00
0.00 137.50 1 5/8" Coax 1.98 100.00 1 Individual IR12 1.04 N 0.50 0.37
0.00 137.50 W/G Ladder 0.25 100.00 1 Individual NR 1 6.00 N 0.50 1.00
0.00 127.00 1 5/8" Coax 1.98 50.00 3 Block12 1.04 N 0.50 1.00
0.00 127.00 1 5/8" Coax 1.98 100.00 3 Individual IR 6 1.04 N 0.50 1.00
0.00 127.00 W/G Ladder 0.25 100.00 3 Individual NR 1 6.00 N 0.50 1.00
0.00 112.50 1/2"  Coax 0.65 100.00 2 Individual NR 1 0.16 N 0.50 1.00
0.00 89.50 1/2"  Coax 0.65 100.00 2 Individual NR 1 0.16 N 0.50 1.00
0.00 88.00 7/8" Coax 1.11 100.00 2 Individual NR 1 0.52 N 0.50 1.00

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Section Forces

Page: 8IIStruct Class:Topography: 1Gh: 0.85

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class: D - Stiff Soil

Sect
Seq

qz
(psf)

Total
Flat
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Round
Area
(sqft)

Sol
Ratio Cf Df

Wind
Height

(ft) Dr

Ice
Thick
(in)

Eff
Area
(sqft)

Linear
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Linear
Area
(sqft)

Total
Weight

(lb)
Weight
Ice (lb)

Struct
Force

(lb)

Linear
Force

(lb)

Total
Force

(lb)

Ice Dead Load Factor: 0.00

1.2D + 1.6W 89 mph Wind at Normal To Face
Wind Load Factor: 1.60

Total
Round
Area
(sqft)

Wind Importance Factor: 1.00
Dead Load Factor: 1.20

Ice Importance Factor: 1.00

1.2D + 1.6W Normal WindLoad Case:

14.65 14.815 0.00 0.13 2.83 1.00 1 10.0 1.00 0.00 22.84 152.37 0.00 6,581.9 0.0 1289.13 2175.72 3,464.8514.17
16.93 13.780 0.00 0.14 2.82 1.00 2 30.0 1.00 0.00 21.34 152.37 0.00 6,093.3 0.0 1383.63 2514.24 3,897.8713.34
18.57 6.899 0.00 0.13 2.85 1.00 3 46.6 1.00 0.00 11.54 99.88 0.00 3,547.6 0.0 831.41 1807.97 2,639.388.20
19.35 3.324 0.00 0.13 2.84 1.00 4 56.6 1.00 0.00 5.76 52.48 0.00 1,784.1 0.0 431.20 989.70 1,420.904.31
20.24 9.455 0.00 0.14 2.83 1.00 5 70.0 1.00 0.00 16.06 152.37 0.00 4,816.6 0.0 1249.06 3005.22 4,254.2711.67
21.34 8.729 0.00 0.14 2.79 1.00 6 90.0 1.00 0.00 14.87 150.69 0.00 4,285.0 0.0 1204.98 3133.43 4,338.4110.84
22.26 8.057 0.00 0.16 2.75 1.00 7 110.0 1.00 0.00 13.74 149.03 0.00 3,939.1 0.0 1142.12 3232.44 4,374.5610.00
23.05 7.453 0.00 0.18 2.68 1.00 8 130.0 1.00 0.00 12.69 114.63 0.00 3,186.2 0.0 1065.53 2478.88 3,544.419.17
23.76 0.000 0.00 0.14 2.82 1.00 9 150.0 1.00 0.00 6.62 18.38 0.00 1,535.7 0.0 602.08 442.76 1,044.8411.51

35,769.3 0.0 28,979.50

Sect
Seq

qz
(psf)

Total
Flat
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Round
Area
(sqft)

Sol
Ratio Cf Df

Wind
Height

(ft) Dr

Ice
Thick
(in)

Eff
Area
(sqft)

Linear
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Linear
Area
(sqft)

Total
Weight

(lb)
Weight
Ice (lb)

Struct
Force

(lb)

Linear
Force

(lb)

Total
Force

(lb)

Ice Dead Load Factor: 0.00

1.2D + 1.6W 89 mph Wind at 60° From Face
Wind Load Factor: 1.60

Total
Round
Area
(sqft)

Wind Importance Factor: 1.00
Dead Load Factor: 1.20

Ice Importance Factor: 1.00

1.2D + 1.6W 60° WindLoad Case:

14.65 14.815 0.00 0.13 2.83 0.80 1 10.0 1.00 0.00 19.87 152.37 0.00 6,581.9 0.0 1121.88 2175.72 3,297.5914.17
16.93 13.780 0.00 0.14 2.82 0.80 2 30.0 1.00 0.00 18.58 152.37 0.00 6,093.3 0.0 1204.90 2514.24 3,719.1413.34
18.57 6.899 0.00 0.13 2.85 0.80 3 46.6 1.00 0.00 10.16 99.88 0.00 3,547.6 0.0 731.97 1807.97 2,539.948.20
19.35 3.324 0.00 0.13 2.84 0.80 4 56.6 1.00 0.00 5.10 52.48 0.00 1,784.1 0.0 381.45 989.70 1,371.144.31
20.24 9.455 0.00 0.14 2.83 0.80 5 70.0 1.00 0.00 14.17 152.37 0.00 4,816.6 0.0 1102.02 3005.22 4,107.2411.67
21.34 8.729 0.00 0.14 2.79 0.80 6 90.0 1.00 0.00 13.13 150.69 0.00 4,285.0 0.0 1063.55 3133.43 4,196.9710.84
22.26 8.057 0.00 0.16 2.75 0.80 7 110.0 1.00 0.00 12.13 149.03 0.00 3,939.1 0.0 1008.20 3232.44 4,240.6410.00
23.05 7.453 0.00 0.18 2.68 0.80 8 130.0 1.00 0.00 11.20 114.63 0.00 3,186.2 0.0 940.33 2478.88 3,419.219.17
23.76 0.000 0.00 0.14 2.82 0.80 9 150.0 1.00 0.00 6.62 18.38 0.00 1,535.7 0.0 602.08 442.76 1,044.8411.51

35,769.3 0.0 27,936.73

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Section Forces

Page: 9IIStruct Class:Topography: 1Gh: 0.85

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class: D - Stiff Soil

Sect
Seq

qz
(psf)

Total
Flat
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Round
Area
(sqft)

Sol
Ratio Cf Df

Wind
Height

(ft) Dr

Ice
Thick
(in)

Eff
Area
(sqft)

Linear
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Linear
Area
(sqft)

Total
Weight

(lb)
Weight
Ice (lb)

Struct
Force

(lb)

Linear
Force

(lb)

Total
Force

(lb)

Ice Dead Load Factor: 0.00

1.2D + 1.6W 89 mph Wind at 90° From Face
Wind Load Factor: 1.60

Total
Round
Area
(sqft)

Wind Importance Factor: 1.00
Dead Load Factor: 1.20

Ice Importance Factor: 1.00

1.2D + 1.6W 90° WindLoad Case:

14.65 14.815 0.00 0.13 2.83 0.85 1 10.0 1.00 0.00 20.62 152.37 0.00 6,581.9 0.0 1163.69 2175.72 3,339.4114.17
16.93 13.780 0.00 0.14 2.82 0.85 2 30.0 1.00 0.00 19.27 152.37 0.00 6,093.3 0.0 1249.59 2514.24 3,763.8313.34
18.57 6.899 0.00 0.13 2.85 0.85 3 46.6 1.00 0.00 10.50 99.88 0.00 3,547.6 0.0 756.83 1807.97 2,564.808.20
19.35 3.324 0.00 0.13 2.84 0.85 4 56.6 1.00 0.00 5.26 52.48 0.00 1,784.1 0.0 393.89 989.70 1,383.584.31
20.24 9.455 0.00 0.14 2.83 0.85 5 70.0 1.00 0.00 14.65 152.37 0.00 4,816.6 0.0 1138.78 3005.22 4,144.0011.67
21.34 8.729 0.00 0.14 2.79 0.85 6 90.0 1.00 0.00 13.56 150.69 0.00 4,285.0 0.0 1098.91 3133.43 4,232.3310.84
22.26 8.057 0.00 0.16 2.75 0.85 7 110.0 1.00 0.00 12.53 149.03 0.00 3,939.1 0.0 1041.68 3232.44 4,274.1210.00
23.05 7.453 0.00 0.18 2.68 0.85 8 130.0 1.00 0.00 11.57 114.63 0.00 3,186.2 0.0 971.63 2478.88 3,450.519.17
23.76 0.000 0.00 0.14 2.82 0.85 9 150.0 1.00 0.00 6.62 18.38 0.00 1,535.7 0.0 602.08 442.76 1,044.8411.51

35,769.3 0.0 28,197.42

Sect
Seq

qz
(psf)

Total
Flat
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Round
Area
(sqft)

Sol
Ratio Cf Df

Wind
Height

(ft) Dr

Ice
Thick
(in)

Eff
Area
(sqft)

Linear
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Linear
Area
(sqft)

Total
Weight

(lb)
Weight
Ice (lb)

Struct
Force

(lb)

Linear
Force

(lb)

Total
Force

(lb)

Ice Dead Load Factor: 0.00

0.9D + 1.6W 89 mph Wind at Normal To Face
Wind Load Factor: 1.60

Total
Round
Area
(sqft)

Wind Importance Factor: 1.00
Dead Load Factor: 0.90

Ice Importance Factor: 1.00

0.9D + 1.6W Normal WindLoad Case:

14.65 14.815 0.00 0.13 2.83 1.00 1 10.0 1.00 0.00 22.84 152.37 0.00 4,936.4 0.0 1289.13 2175.72 3,464.8514.17
16.93 13.780 0.00 0.14 2.82 1.00 2 30.0 1.00 0.00 21.34 152.37 0.00 4,570.0 0.0 1383.63 2514.24 3,897.8713.34
18.57 6.899 0.00 0.13 2.85 1.00 3 46.6 1.00 0.00 11.54 99.88 0.00 2,660.7 0.0 831.41 1807.97 2,639.388.20
19.35 3.324 0.00 0.13 2.84 1.00 4 56.6 1.00 0.00 5.76 52.48 0.00 1,338.0 0.0 431.20 989.70 1,420.904.31
20.24 9.455 0.00 0.14 2.83 1.00 5 70.0 1.00 0.00 16.06 152.37 0.00 3,612.4 0.0 1249.06 3005.22 4,254.2711.67
21.34 8.729 0.00 0.14 2.79 1.00 6 90.0 1.00 0.00 14.87 150.69 0.00 3,213.7 0.0 1204.98 3133.43 4,338.4110.84
22.26 8.057 0.00 0.16 2.75 1.00 7 110.0 1.00 0.00 13.74 149.03 0.00 2,954.3 0.0 1142.12 3232.44 4,374.5610.00
23.05 7.453 0.00 0.18 2.68 1.00 8 130.0 1.00 0.00 12.69 114.63 0.00 2,389.6 0.0 1065.53 2478.88 3,544.419.17
23.76 0.000 0.00 0.14 2.82 1.00 9 150.0 1.00 0.00 6.62 18.38 0.00 1,151.8 0.0 602.08 442.76 1,044.8411.51

26,827.0 0.0 28,979.50

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Section Forces

Page: 10IIStruct Class:Topography: 1Gh: 0.85

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class: D - Stiff Soil

Sect
Seq

qz
(psf)

Total
Flat
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Round
Area
(sqft)

Sol
Ratio Cf Df

Wind
Height

(ft) Dr

Ice
Thick
(in)

Eff
Area
(sqft)

Linear
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Linear
Area
(sqft)

Total
Weight

(lb)
Weight
Ice (lb)

Struct
Force

(lb)

Linear
Force

(lb)

Total
Force

(lb)

Ice Dead Load Factor: 0.00

0.9D + 1.6W 89 mph Wind at 60° From Face
Wind Load Factor: 1.60

Total
Round
Area
(sqft)

Wind Importance Factor: 1.00
Dead Load Factor: 0.90

Ice Importance Factor: 1.00

0.9D + 1.6W 60° WindLoad Case:

14.65 14.815 0.00 0.13 2.83 0.80 1 10.0 1.00 0.00 19.87 152.37 0.00 4,936.4 0.0 1121.88 2175.72 3,297.5914.17
16.93 13.780 0.00 0.14 2.82 0.80 2 30.0 1.00 0.00 18.58 152.37 0.00 4,570.0 0.0 1204.90 2514.24 3,719.1413.34
18.57 6.899 0.00 0.13 2.85 0.80 3 46.6 1.00 0.00 10.16 99.88 0.00 2,660.7 0.0 731.97 1807.97 2,539.948.20
19.35 3.324 0.00 0.13 2.84 0.80 4 56.6 1.00 0.00 5.10 52.48 0.00 1,338.0 0.0 381.45 989.70 1,371.144.31
20.24 9.455 0.00 0.14 2.83 0.80 5 70.0 1.00 0.00 14.17 152.37 0.00 3,612.4 0.0 1102.02 3005.22 4,107.2411.67
21.34 8.729 0.00 0.14 2.79 0.80 6 90.0 1.00 0.00 13.13 150.69 0.00 3,213.7 0.0 1063.55 3133.43 4,196.9710.84
22.26 8.057 0.00 0.16 2.75 0.80 7 110.0 1.00 0.00 12.13 149.03 0.00 2,954.3 0.0 1008.20 3232.44 4,240.6410.00
23.05 7.453 0.00 0.18 2.68 0.80 8 130.0 1.00 0.00 11.20 114.63 0.00 2,389.6 0.0 940.33 2478.88 3,419.219.17
23.76 0.000 0.00 0.14 2.82 0.80 9 150.0 1.00 0.00 6.62 18.38 0.00 1,151.8 0.0 602.08 442.76 1,044.8411.51

26,827.0 0.0 27,936.73

Sect
Seq

qz
(psf)

Total
Flat
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Round
Area
(sqft)

Sol
Ratio Cf Df

Wind
Height

(ft) Dr

Ice
Thick
(in)

Eff
Area
(sqft)

Linear
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Linear
Area
(sqft)

Total
Weight

(lb)
Weight
Ice (lb)

Struct
Force

(lb)

Linear
Force

(lb)

Total
Force

(lb)

Ice Dead Load Factor: 0.00

0.9D + 1.6W 89 mph Wind at 90° From Face
Wind Load Factor: 1.60

Total
Round
Area
(sqft)

Wind Importance Factor: 1.00
Dead Load Factor: 0.90

Ice Importance Factor: 1.00

0.9D + 1.6W 90° WindLoad Case:

14.65 14.815 0.00 0.13 2.83 0.85 1 10.0 1.00 0.00 20.62 152.37 0.00 4,936.4 0.0 1163.69 2175.72 3,339.4114.17
16.93 13.780 0.00 0.14 2.82 0.85 2 30.0 1.00 0.00 19.27 152.37 0.00 4,570.0 0.0 1249.59 2514.24 3,763.8313.34
18.57 6.899 0.00 0.13 2.85 0.85 3 46.6 1.00 0.00 10.50 99.88 0.00 2,660.7 0.0 756.83 1807.97 2,564.808.20
19.35 3.324 0.00 0.13 2.84 0.85 4 56.6 1.00 0.00 5.26 52.48 0.00 1,338.0 0.0 393.89 989.70 1,383.584.31
20.24 9.455 0.00 0.14 2.83 0.85 5 70.0 1.00 0.00 14.65 152.37 0.00 3,612.4 0.0 1138.78 3005.22 4,144.0011.67
21.34 8.729 0.00 0.14 2.79 0.85 6 90.0 1.00 0.00 13.56 150.69 0.00 3,213.7 0.0 1098.91 3133.43 4,232.3310.84
22.26 8.057 0.00 0.16 2.75 0.85 7 110.0 1.00 0.00 12.53 149.03 0.00 2,954.3 0.0 1041.68 3232.44 4,274.1210.00
23.05 7.453 0.00 0.18 2.68 0.85 8 130.0 1.00 0.00 11.57 114.63 0.00 2,389.6 0.0 971.63 2478.88 3,450.519.17
23.76 0.000 0.00 0.14 2.82 0.85 9 150.0 1.00 0.00 6.62 18.38 0.00 1,151.8 0.0 602.08 442.76 1,044.8411.51

26,827.0 0.0 28,197.42

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Section Forces

Page: 11IIStruct Class:Topography: 1Gh: 0.85

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class: D - Stiff Soil

Sect
Seq

qz
(psf)

Total
Flat
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Round
Area
(sqft)

Sol
Ratio Cf Df

Wind
Height

(ft) Dr

Ice
Thick
(in)

Eff
Area
(sqft)

Linear
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Linear
Area
(sqft)

Total
Weight

(lb)
Weight
Ice (lb)

Struct
Force

(lb)

Linear
Force

(lb)

Total
Force

(lb)

Ice Dead Load Factor: 1.00

1.2D + 1.0Di + 1.0Wi 40 mph Wind at Normal From Face
Wind Load Factor: 1.00

Total
Round
Area
(sqft)

Wind Importance Factor: 1.00
Dead Load Factor: 1.20

Ice Importance Factor: 1.00

1.2D + 1.0Di + 1.0Wi Normal WindLoad Case:

2.96 14.815 25.13 0.24 2.45 1.00 1 10.0 1.00 1.33 37.75 225.07 35.50 12,616.
4

6034.5 233.11 385.69 618.7939.30
3.42 13.780 26.78 0.27 2.39 1.00 2 30.0 1.00 1.49 37.43 230.23 39.62 12,783.

7
6690.4 259.66 462.39 722.0540.12

3.75 6.899 17.82 0.27 2.37 1.00 3 46.6 1.00 1.55 22.27 152.38 27.14 7,940.0 4392.4 168.56 338.03 506.6026.02
3.91 3.324 9.06 0.28 2.36 1.00 4 56.6 1.00 1.58 11.24 80.42 14.54 4,107.1 2323.1 88.09 186.27 274.3613.37
4.09 9.455 26.55 0.30 2.31 1.00 5 70.0 1.00 1.62 32.29 234.60 43.12 11,675.

7
6859.2 258.92 568.08 826.9938.22

4.31 8.729 25.98 0.32 2.24 1.00 6 90.0 1.00 1.66 31.06 234.30 38.00 11,105.
7

6820.7 254.44 577.73 832.1836.82
4.50 8.057 25.34 0.36 2.15 1.00 7 110.0 1.00 1.69 29.96 233.76 31.72 10,669.

9
6730.8 246.07 577.71 823.7835.34

4.66 7.453 24.69 0.41 2.04 1.00 8 130.0 1.00 1.72 29.17 183.84 28.67 8,794.8 5608.6 235.68 409.50 645.1733.86
4.80 0.000 31.65 0.48 1.92 1.00 9 150.0 1.00 1.75 29.32 33.83 13.96 4,010.0 2474.3 229.79 118.56 348.3643.16

83,703.3 47934.0 5,598.27

Sect
Seq

qz
(psf)

Total
Flat
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Round
Area
(sqft)

Sol
Ratio Cf Df

Wind
Height

(ft) Dr

Ice
Thick
(in)

Eff
Area
(sqft)

Linear
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Linear
Area
(sqft)

Total
Weight

(lb)
Weight
Ice (lb)

Struct
Force

(lb)

Linear
Force

(lb)

Total
Force

(lb)

Ice Dead Load Factor: 1.00

1.2D + 1.0Di + 1.0Wi 40 mph Wind at 60° From Face
Wind Load Factor: 1.00

Total
Round
Area
(sqft)

Wind Importance Factor: 1.00
Dead Load Factor: 1.20

Ice Importance Factor: 1.00

1.2D + 1.0Di + 1.0Wi 60° WindLoad Case:

2.96 14.815 25.13 0.24 2.45 0.80 1 10.0 1.00 1.33 34.79 225.07 35.50 12,616.
4

6034.5 214.81 385.69 600.5039.30
3.42 13.780 26.78 0.27 2.39 0.80 2 30.0 1.00 1.49 34.67 230.23 39.62 12,783.

7
6690.4 240.54 462.39 702.9340.12

3.75 6.899 17.82 0.27 2.37 0.80 3 46.6 1.00 1.55 20.89 152.38 27.14 7,940.0 4392.4 158.12 338.03 496.1526.02
3.91 3.324 9.06 0.28 2.36 0.80 4 56.6 1.00 1.58 10.58 80.42 14.54 4,107.1 2323.1 82.88 186.27 269.1513.37
4.09 9.455 26.55 0.30 2.31 0.80 5 70.0 1.00 1.62 30.40 234.60 43.12 11,675.

7
6859.2 243.75 568.08 811.8338.22

4.31 8.729 25.98 0.32 2.24 0.80 6 90.0 1.00 1.66 29.32 234.30 38.00 11,105.
7

6820.7 240.14 577.73 817.8836.82
4.50 8.057 25.34 0.36 2.15 0.80 7 110.0 1.00 1.69 28.35 233.76 31.72 10,669.

9
6730.8 232.83 577.71 810.5435.34

4.66 7.453 24.69 0.41 2.04 0.80 8 130.0 1.00 1.72 27.68 183.84 28.67 8,794.8 5608.6 223.64 409.50 633.1333.86
4.80 0.000 31.65 0.48 1.92 0.80 9 150.0 1.00 1.75 29.32 33.83 13.96 4,010.0 2474.3 229.79 118.56 348.3643.16

83,703.3 47934.0 5,490.47

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Section Forces

Page: 12IIStruct Class:Topography: 1Gh: 0.85

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class: D - Stiff Soil

Sect
Seq

qz
(psf)

Total
Flat
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Round
Area
(sqft)

Sol
Ratio Cf Df

Wind
Height

(ft) Dr

Ice
Thick
(in)

Eff
Area
(sqft)

Linear
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Linear
Area
(sqft)

Total
Weight

(lb)
Weight
Ice (lb)

Struct
Force

(lb)

Linear
Force

(lb)

Total
Force

(lb)

Ice Dead Load Factor: 1.00

1.2D + 1.0Di + 1.0Wi 40 mph Wind at 90° From Face
Wind Load Factor: 1.00

Total
Round
Area
(sqft)

Wind Importance Factor: 1.00
Dead Load Factor: 1.20

Ice Importance Factor: 1.00

1.2D + 1.0Di + 1.0Wi 90° WindLoad Case:

2.96 14.815 25.13 0.24 2.45 0.85 1 10.0 1.00 1.33 35.53 225.07 35.50 12,616.
4

6034.5 219.38 385.69 605.0739.30
3.42 13.780 26.78 0.27 2.39 0.85 2 30.0 1.00 1.49 35.36 230.23 39.62 12,783.

7
6690.4 245.32 462.39 707.7140.12

3.75 6.899 17.82 0.27 2.37 0.85 3 46.6 1.00 1.55 21.23 152.38 27.14 7,940.0 4392.4 160.73 338.03 498.7626.02
3.91 3.324 9.06 0.28 2.36 0.85 4 56.6 1.00 1.58 10.74 80.42 14.54 4,107.1 2323.1 84.18 186.27 270.4613.37
4.09 9.455 26.55 0.30 2.31 0.85 5 70.0 1.00 1.62 30.88 234.60 43.12 11,675.

7
6859.2 247.54 568.08 815.6238.22

4.31 8.729 25.98 0.32 2.24 0.85 6 90.0 1.00 1.66 29.75 234.30 38.00 11,105.
7

6820.7 243.72 577.73 821.4536.82
4.50 8.057 25.34 0.36 2.15 0.85 7 110.0 1.00 1.69 28.75 233.76 31.72 10,669.

9
6730.8 236.14 577.71 813.8535.34

4.66 7.453 24.69 0.41 2.04 0.85 8 130.0 1.00 1.72 28.05 183.84 28.67 8,794.8 5608.6 226.65 409.50 636.1433.86
4.80 0.000 31.65 0.48 1.92 0.85 9 150.0 1.00 1.75 29.32 33.83 13.96 4,010.0 2474.3 229.79 118.56 348.3643.16

83,703.3 47934.0 5,517.42

Sect
Seq

qz
(psf)

Total
Flat
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Round
Area
(sqft)

Sol
Ratio Cf Df

Wind
Height

(ft) Dr

Ice
Thick
(in)

Eff
Area
(sqft)

Linear
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Linear
Area
(sqft)

Total
Weight

(lb)
Weight
Ice (lb)

Struct
Force

(lb)

Linear
Force

(lb)

Total
Force

(lb)

Ice Dead Load Factor: 0.00

1.0D + 1.0W 60 mph Wind at Normal To Face
Wind Load Factor: 1.00

Total
Round
Area
(sqft)

Wind Importance Factor: 1.00
Dead Load Factor: 1.00

Ice Importance Factor: 1.00

1.0D + 1.0W Normal WindLoad Case:

6.66 14.815 0.00 0.13 2.83 1.00 1 10.0 1.00 0.00 22.84 152.37 0.00 5,484.9 0.0 366.18 618.02 984.2114.17
7.69 13.780 0.00 0.14 2.82 1.00 2 30.0 1.00 0.00 21.34 152.37 0.00 5,077.8 0.0 393.03 714.18 1,107.2113.34
8.44 6.899 0.00 0.13 2.85 1.00 3 46.6 1.00 0.00 11.54 99.88 0.00 2,956.3 0.0 236.17 513.56 749.738.20
8.79 3.324 0.00 0.13 2.84 1.00 4 56.6 1.00 0.00 5.76 52.48 0.00 1,486.7 0.0 122.49 281.13 403.614.31
9.20 9.455 0.00 0.14 2.83 1.00 5 70.0 1.00 0.00 16.06 152.37 0.00 4,013.8 0.0 354.80 853.65 1,208.4511.67
9.70 8.729 0.00 0.14 2.79 1.00 6 90.0 1.00 0.00 14.87 150.69 0.00 3,570.8 0.0 342.28 890.07 1,232.3510.84

10.12 8.057 0.00 0.16 2.75 1.00 7 110.0 1.00 0.00 13.74 149.03 0.00 3,282.6 0.0 324.43 918.19 1,242.6210.00
10.48 7.453 0.00 0.18 2.68 1.00 8 130.0 1.00 0.00 12.69 114.63 0.00 2,655.1 0.0 302.67 704.14 1,006.819.17
10.80 0.000 0.00 0.14 2.82 1.00 9 150.0 1.00 0.00 6.62 18.38 0.00 1,279.7 0.0 171.02 125.77 296.7911.51

29,807.8 0.0 8,231.77

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Section Forces

Page: 13IIStruct Class:Topography: 1Gh: 0.85

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class: D - Stiff Soil

Sect
Seq

qz
(psf)

Total
Flat
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Round
Area
(sqft)

Sol
Ratio Cf Df

Wind
Height

(ft) Dr

Ice
Thick
(in)

Eff
Area
(sqft)

Linear
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Linear
Area
(sqft)

Total
Weight

(lb)
Weight
Ice (lb)

Struct
Force

(lb)

Linear
Force

(lb)

Total
Force

(lb)

Ice Dead Load Factor: 0.00

1.0D + 1.0W 60 mph Wind at 60° From Face
Wind Load Factor: 1.00

Total
Round
Area
(sqft)

Wind Importance Factor: 1.00
Dead Load Factor: 1.00

Ice Importance Factor: 1.00

1.0D + 1.0W 60° WindLoad Case:

6.66 14.815 0.00 0.13 2.83 0.80 1 10.0 1.00 0.00 19.87 152.37 0.00 5,484.9 0.0 318.67 618.02 936.7014.17
7.69 13.780 0.00 0.14 2.82 0.80 2 30.0 1.00 0.00 18.58 152.37 0.00 5,077.8 0.0 342.26 714.18 1,056.4413.34
8.44 6.899 0.00 0.13 2.85 0.80 3 46.6 1.00 0.00 10.16 99.88 0.00 2,956.3 0.0 207.92 513.56 721.488.20
8.79 3.324 0.00 0.13 2.84 0.80 4 56.6 1.00 0.00 5.10 52.48 0.00 1,486.7 0.0 108.35 281.13 389.484.31
9.20 9.455 0.00 0.14 2.83 0.80 5 70.0 1.00 0.00 14.17 152.37 0.00 4,013.8 0.0 313.03 853.65 1,166.6811.67
9.70 8.729 0.00 0.14 2.79 0.80 6 90.0 1.00 0.00 13.13 150.69 0.00 3,570.8 0.0 302.11 890.07 1,192.1710.84

10.12 8.057 0.00 0.16 2.75 0.80 7 110.0 1.00 0.00 12.13 149.03 0.00 3,282.6 0.0 286.38 918.19 1,204.5810.00
10.48 7.453 0.00 0.18 2.68 0.80 8 130.0 1.00 0.00 11.20 114.63 0.00 2,655.1 0.0 267.11 704.14 971.249.17
10.80 0.000 0.00 0.14 2.82 0.80 9 150.0 1.00 0.00 6.62 18.38 0.00 1,279.7 0.0 171.02 125.77 296.7911.51

29,807.8 0.0 7,935.57

Sect
Seq

qz
(psf)

Total
Flat
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Round
Area
(sqft)

Sol
Ratio Cf Df

Wind
Height

(ft) Dr

Ice
Thick
(in)

Eff
Area
(sqft)

Linear
Area
(sqft)

Ice
Linear
Area
(sqft)

Total
Weight

(lb)
Weight
Ice (lb)

Struct
Force

(lb)

Linear
Force

(lb)

Total
Force

(lb)

Ice Dead Load Factor: 0.00

1.0D + 1.0W 60 mph Wind at 90° From Face
Wind Load Factor: 1.00

Total
Round
Area
(sqft)

Wind Importance Factor: 1.00
Dead Load Factor: 1.00

Ice Importance Factor: 1.00

1.0D + 1.0W 90° WindLoad Case:

6.66 14.815 0.00 0.13 2.83 0.85 1 10.0 1.00 0.00 20.62 152.37 0.00 5,484.9 0.0 330.55 618.02 948.5814.17
7.69 13.780 0.00 0.14 2.82 0.85 2 30.0 1.00 0.00 19.27 152.37 0.00 5,077.8 0.0 354.95 714.18 1,069.1313.34
8.44 6.899 0.00 0.13 2.85 0.85 3 46.6 1.00 0.00 10.50 99.88 0.00 2,956.3 0.0 214.98 513.56 728.558.20
8.79 3.324 0.00 0.13 2.84 0.85 4 56.6 1.00 0.00 5.26 52.48 0.00 1,486.7 0.0 111.89 281.13 393.014.31
9.20 9.455 0.00 0.14 2.83 0.85 5 70.0 1.00 0.00 14.65 152.37 0.00 4,013.8 0.0 323.48 853.65 1,177.1211.67
9.70 8.729 0.00 0.14 2.79 0.85 6 90.0 1.00 0.00 13.56 150.69 0.00 3,570.8 0.0 312.15 890.07 1,202.2110.84

10.12 8.057 0.00 0.16 2.75 0.85 7 110.0 1.00 0.00 12.53 149.03 0.00 3,282.6 0.0 295.89 918.19 1,214.0910.00
10.48 7.453 0.00 0.18 2.68 0.85 8 130.0 1.00 0.00 11.57 114.63 0.00 2,655.1 0.0 276.00 704.14 980.149.17
10.80 0.000 0.00 0.14 2.82 0.85 9 150.0 1.00 0.00 6.62 18.38 0.00 1,279.7 0.0 171.02 125.77 296.7911.51

29,807.8 0.0 8,009.62

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Force/Stress Compression Summary

Page: 14IIStruct Class:Topography: 1Gh: 0.85

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class: D - Stiff Soil

 Member
Force
(kips) Load Case

Len
(ft)

Bracing %

KL/R
 Fy

(ksi)

Mem
Cap

(kips)
Leg

Use % ControlsX      Y      ZSect
Top
Elev

LEG MEMBERS

SOL - 4 1/4" SOLID -425.25 1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind 6.22 100 100 100 70.30 444.77 95.6 Member X50.001 20

SOL - 4" SOLID -374.60 1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind 6.22 100 100 100 74.70 376.05 99.6 Member X50.002 40

SOL - 3 3/4" SOLID -319.38 1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind 6.22 100 100 100 79.67 312.46 102.2 Member X50.003 53.11
1 SOL - 3 3/4" SOLID -282.52 1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind 6.22 100 100 100 79.67 312.46 90.4 Member X50.004 60

SOL - 3 1/2" S0LID -262.98 1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind 6.22 100 100 100 85.37 254.11 103.5 Member X50.005 80

SOL - 3 1/4" SOLID -204.12 1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind 6.22 100 100 100 91.93 201.24 101.4 Member X50.006 100

SOL - 3" SOLID -143.69 1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind 6.22 100 100 100 99.59 154.03 93.3 Member X50.007 120

SOL - 2 3/4" SOLID -79.85 1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind 6.22 100 100 100 108.65 112.75 70.8 Member X50.008 140

SOL - 2" SOLID -22.95 1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind 3.11 100 100 100 74.66 94.05 24.4 Member X50.009 160

Splices

Load CaseSect
Top
Elev

Force
(kips)

Cap
(kips)

Bolt 
Type

Num
Bolts

Use
%

Force
(kips)

Cap
(kips)

Use
%

Top Splice Bottom Splice

Bolt 
Type

Num
Bolts Load Case

1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind1 20 384.30 0.00 0.0 434.50 0.001.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind

1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind2 40 329.54 0.00 1 1/4 A325  60.0 384.30 0.001.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind

1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind3 53.11
1

293.50 0.00 1 1/8 A325  60.0 329.54 0.001.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind

1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind4 60 273.22 0.00 0.0 293.50 0.001.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind

1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind5 80 214.69 0.00 1 1/8 A325  60.0 273.22 0.001.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind

1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind6 100 154.27 0.00 1 A325  60.0 214.69 0.001.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind

1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind7 120 91.55 0.00 1 A325  60.0 154.27 0.001.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind

1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind8 140 28.73 0.00 1 A325  60.0 91.55 0.001.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind

1.2D + 1.0E9 160 0.43 0.00 1 A325  40.0 28.73 0.001.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind

Force
(kips) Load Case

Len
(ft)

Bracing %
KL/R

 Fy
(ksi)

Mem
Cap

(kips)
Num 
Bolts

 Num
Holes

Shear
Cap

(kips)

Bear
Cap

(kips)
Use
 % ControlsX      Y      Z

HORIZONTAL MEMBERS

 MemberSect
Top
Elev

1 20 0.00 0 0

2 40 0.00 0 0

3 53.1
11

0.00 0 0

4 60 0.00 0 0

5 80 0.00 0 0

6 100 0.00 0 0

7 120 0.00 0 0

8 140 0.00 0 0

9 160 SOL - 7/8" SOLID 1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind 4.00 100 100 100 153.56 5.76 0 0 14 Member X-0.80 36.00

Force
(kips) Load Case

Len
(ft)

Bracing %
KL/R

 Fy
(ksi)

Mem
Cap

(kips)
Num 
Bolts

 Num
Holes

Shear
Cap

(kips)

Bear
Cap

(kips)
Use
 % ControlsX      Y      Z

DIAGONAL MEMBERS

 MemberSect
Top
Elev

1 20 SAE - 2.5X2.5X0.3125 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 11.94 48 48 48 140.63 16.68 1 1 15.19 21.7
5

69 Bolt Shear -10.5
5

36.00

2 40 SAE - 2.5X2.5X0.3125 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 11.10 48 48 48 130.72 19.24 1 1 15.19 21.7
5

68 Bolt Shear -10.3
8

36.00

3 53.1
11

SAE - 2X2X0.3125 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 10.79 46 46 46 152.68 11.15 1 1 15.19 18.4
9

80 Member Z-8.91 36.00

4 60 SAE - 2X2X0.25 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 10.28 46 46 46 145.20 10.07 1 1 15.19 17.4
0

99 Member Z-9.92 36.00

5 80 SAE - 2X2X0.25 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 9.51 48 48 48 140.07 10.82 1 1 15.19 14.7
9

90 Member Z-9.71 36.00

6 100 SAE - 2X2X0.1875 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 8.78 48 48 48 128.30 9.67 1 1 15.19 13.0
5

96 Member Z-9.28 36.00

7 120 SAE - 2X2X0.1875 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 8.10 43 43 43 109.58 12.23 1 1 15.19 13.0
5

74 Member Z-9.00 36.00

8 140 SAE - 2X2X0.1875 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 7.87 46 46 46 112.65 11.79 1 1 15.19 13.0
5

64 Member Z-7.60 36.00

9 160 SOL - 7/8" SOLID 1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind 5.07 50 50 50 97.27 11.84 0 0 38 Member X-4.45 36.00

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Force/Stress Compression Summary

Page: 15IIStruct Class:Topography: 1Gh: 0.85

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class: D - Stiff Soil

Force
(kips) Load Case

Len
(ft)

Bracing %
KL/R

 Fy
(ksi)

Mem
Cap

(kips)
Num 
Bolts

 Num
Holes

Shear
Cap

(kips)

Bear
Cap

(kips)
Use
 % ControlsX      Y      Z

DIAGONAL MEMBERS

 MemberSect
Top
Elev

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Force/Stress Tension Summary

Page: 16IIStruct Class:Topography: 1Gh: 0.85

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class: D - Stiff Soil

Member
Force
(kips) Load Case

 Fy
(ksi)

Mem
Cap

(kips)
Leg 

Use % Controls
Top
ElevSect

LEG MEMBERS

1 20 SOL - 4 1/4" SOLID 397.16 0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind 50 62.2 Member638.37

2 40 SOL - 4" SOLID 351.44 0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind 50 62.1 Member565.47

3 53.111 SOL - 3 3/4" SOLID 301.56 0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind 50 60.7 Member497.03

4 60 SOL - 3 3/4" SOLID 258.82 0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind 50 52.1 Member497.03

5 80 SOL - 3 1/2" S0LID 249.75 0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind 50 57.7 Member432.95

6 100 SOL - 3 1/4" SOLID 195.18 0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind 50 52.3 Member373.32

7 120 SOL - 3" SOLID 138.58 0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind 50 43.6 Member318.11

8 140 SOL - 2 3/4" SOLID 79.08 0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind 50 29.6 Member267.28

9 160 SOL - 2" SOLID 21.71 0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind 50 15.4 Member141.37

Splices

Load CaseSect
Top
Elev

Force
(kips)

Cap
(kips)

Bolt 
Type

Num
Bolts

Use
%

Force
(kips)

Cap
(kips)

Use
%

Top Splice Bottom Splice

Bolt 
Type

Num
Bolts Load Case

0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind1 20 351.17 0.00 0.0 397.1
6

0.000.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind

0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind2 40 301.26 0.00 1 1/4 A325  60.0 351.1
7

457.92 76.70.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind

0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind3 53.111 268.00 0.00 1 1/8 A325  60.0 301.2
6

360.65 83.50.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind

0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind4 60 249.54 0.00 0.0 268.0
0

0.000.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind

0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind5 80 194.95 0.00 1 1/8 A325  60.0 249.5
4

360.65 69.20.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind

0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind6 100 138.38 0.00 1 A325  60.0 194.9
5

318.06 61.30.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind

0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind7 120 78.89 0.00 1 A325  60.0 138.3
8

318.06 43.50.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind

0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind8 140 21.67 0.00 1 A325  60.0 78.89 318.06 24.80.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind

9 160 0.00 0.00 1 A325  40.0 21.67 212.04 10.20.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind

Member
Force
(kips) Load Case

 Fy
(ksi)

Mem
Cap

(kips)
Num 
Bolts

 Num
Holes

Shear
Cap

(kips)

Bear
Cap

(kips)
Use 
 % Controls

Top
ElevSect

HORIZONTAL MEMBERS

B.S.
Cap

(kips)

1 20  - 36  0  00.00

2 40  - 36  0  00.00

3 53.111  - 36  0  00.00

4 60  - 36  0  00.00

5 80  - 36  0  00.00

6 100  - 36  0  00.00

7 120  - 36  0  00.00

8 140  - 36  0  00.00

9 160 SOL - 7/8" SOLID 0.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind 36  0  0 3.3 Member19.480.64

Member
Force
(kips) Load Case

 Fy
(ksi)

Mem
Cap

(kips)
Num 
Bolts

 Num
Holes

 Shear
Cap

(kips)

 Bear
Cap

(kips)
Use
 % Controls

Top
ElevSect 

DIAGONAL MEMBERS

B.S.
Cap

(kips)

1 20 SAE - 2.5X2.5X0.3125 0.9D + 1.6W 90° Wind 36  1  1 15.19 21.75 62.1 Bolt Shear39.999.43 18.17

2 40 SAE - 2.5X2.5X0.3125 0.9D + 1.6W 90° Wind 36  1  1 15.19 21.75 62.9 Bolt Shear39.999.55 18.17

3 53.111 SAE - 2X2X0.3125 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 36  1  1 15.19 18.49 70.3 Blck Shear29.879.23 13.13

4 60 SAE - 2X2X0.25 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 36  1  1 15.19 17.40 70.9 Blck Shear24.558.84 12.47

5 80 SAE - 2X2X0.25 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 36  1  1 15.19 14.79 85.1 Blck Shear24.558.93 10.50

6 100 SAE - 2X2X0.1875 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 36  1  1 15.19 13.05 88.7 Blck Shear18.588.59 9.68

7 120 SAE - 2X2X0.1875 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 36  1  1 15.19 13.05 86.3 Blck Shear18.588.35 9.68

8 140 SAE - 2X2X0.1875 1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind 36  1  1 15.19 13.05 83.2 Blck Shear18.588.05 9.68

9 160 SOL - 7/8" SOLID 1.2D + 1.6W 60° Wind 36  0  0 21.5 Member19.484.19

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Seismic Section Forces

Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Page: 17IIStruct Class:Topography: 1Gh: 0.85

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class: D - Stiff Soil

Dead Load Factor 1.20

1.00

Load Case: 1.2D + 1.0E

Seismic Load Factor

R 3.0000Seismic Importance Factor

S1

SsSds

Sd1

SA

0.180
4

0.105
7

0.121
6

0.1690

0.0660

1.00

Fv

Fa 1.6000

2.4000

Vs 1.9840

Kg

Ke 0.0000

0.0000

f1 1.1507

Sect #
Elev
(ft) a

Lateral
Fsz
(lb)b c

Wz
(lb)

10.00  1 0.01 0.05 25.490.035484.8
930.00  2 0.07 0.07 44.190.045077.7
846.56  3 0.16 0.07 35.740.032956.3
056.56  4 0.24 0.06 21.430.021486.7
170.00  5 0.36 0.03 68.810.014013.8
190.00  6 0.60 -0.05 72.200.013745.8
1110.00 7 0.89 -0.12 79.000.083394.5
9130.00 8 1.25 0.05 262.060.296060.0
4150.00 9 1.66 0.98 814.520.768591.4
0

Dead Load Factor 0.90

1.00

Load Case: 0.9D + 1.0E

Seismic Load Factor

R 3.0000Seismic Importance Factor

S1

SsSds

Sd1

SA

0.180
4

0.105
7

0.121
6

0.1690

0.0660

1.00

Fv

Fa 1.6000

2.4000

Vs 1.9840

Kg

Ke 0.0000

0.0000

f1 1.1507

Sect #
Elev
(ft) a

Lateral
Fsz
(lb)b c

Wz
(lb)

10.00  1 0.01 0.05 25.490.035484.8
930.00  2 0.07 0.07 44.190.045077.7
846.56  3 0.16 0.07 35.740.032956.3
056.56  4 0.24 0.06 21.430.021486.7
170.00  5 0.36 0.03 68.810.014013.8
190.00  6 0.60 -0.05 72.200.013745.8
1110.00 7 0.89 -0.12 79.000.083394.5
9130.00 8 1.25 0.05 262.060.296060.0
4150.00 9 1.66 0.98 814.520.768591.4
0

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Support Forces Summary

Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020

Page: 18

Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Gh: 0.85

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class:

IIStruct Class:

D - Stiff Soil

Topography: 1

Load Case 
FX

(kips)
FY 

(kips)
FZ

(kips) (-) = Uplift   (+) = DownNode

1 -0.05 434.351.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind -24.85

1a 8.91 -192.74 -8.21

1b -8.86 -192.63 -8.31

1 -2.56 221.671.2D + 1.6W 60° Wind -12.38

1a -11.95 220.79 4.04

1b -20.41 -393.49 -11.83

1 -3.01 16.371.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind -0.45

1a -19.08 372.55 9.36

1b -18.50 -339.95 -8.91

1 -0.05 429.020.9D + 1.6W Normal Wind -24.70

1a 9.02 -196.18 -8.28

1b -8.97 -196.11 -8.38

1 -2.57 216.970.9D + 1.6W 60° Wind -12.24

1a -11.84 216.12 3.97

1b -20.52 -396.37 -11.89

1 -3.02 12.280.9D + 1.6W 90° Wind -0.32

1a -18.96 367.44 9.28

1b -18.61 -342.99 -8.96

1 -0.03 121.441.2D + 1.0Di + 1.0Wi Normal Wind -4.79

1a 1.88 -5.03 -1.61

1b -1.86 -4.81 -1.66

1 -0.48 79.071.2D + 1.0Di + 1.0Wi 60° Wind -2.36

1a -2.27 78.74 0.78

1b -4.15 -46.21 -2.41

1 -0.55 37.241.2D + 1.0Di + 1.0Wi 90° Wind 0.03

1a -3.69 109.50 1.82

1b -3.75 -35.15 -1.84

1 0.00 35.141.2D + 1.0E 1.33

1a 2.27 6.92 -1.35

1b -2.27 6.92 -1.35

1 0.00 31.000.9D + 1.0E 1.48

1a 2.39 2.86 -1.43

1b -2.39 2.86 -1.43

1 -0.02 132.141.0D + 1.0W Normal Wind -7.40

1a 2.26 -45.71 -2.16

1b -2.24 -45.62 -2.19

1 -0.74 71.851.0D + 1.0W 60° Wind -3.84

1a -3.68 71.53 1.30

1b -5.50 -102.57 -3.19

1 -0.85 13.641.0D + 1.0W 90° Wind -0.45

1a -5.71 114.56 2.82

1b -4.96 -87.39 -2.37

Max Reactions

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Max Uplift:

Max Down:

-396.37

Leg Overturning

434.35

Max Shear: 24.85

Moment: 3982.19

Total Down:

Total Shear:

48.97

41.36

(kips)

(kips)

(kips)

(ft-kips)

(kips)

(kips)

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Analysis Summary

Structure: MA13743-A-SBA

Site Name: WSBS

Height: 160.00 (ft)

9/3/2020

Page: 20

Code: EIA/TIA-222-G

Exposure: C

Gh: 0.85

Base Elev: 0.000 (ft)

Crest Height: 0.00

Site Class:

IIStruct Class:

D - Stiff Soil

Topography: 1

Max Reactions

Max Uplift:

Max Down:

-396.37

Leg Overturning

434.35

Max Shear: 24.85

Moment: 3982.19

Total Down:

Total Shear:

48.97

41.36

(kips)

(kips)

(kips)

(ft-kips)

(kips)

(kips)

Anchor Bolts

Interaction Ratio: 0.90

Bolt Size (in.): Number Bolts:1.25  6

Tensile Strength (Ksi):Yield Strength (Ksi):

Detail Type:

105.0081.00

C

Max Usages

Max Leg: 103.5% (1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind - Sect 5)

Max Diag: 98.5% (1.2D + 1.6W 90° Wind - Sect 4)

Max Horiz: 13.9% (1.2D + 1.6W Normal Wind - Sect 9)

Load Case 
Elevation

 (ft)
Deflection

(ft)
Twist
(deg)

Sway
(deg)

Max Deflection, Twist and Sway

0.9D + 1.0E - Normal To Face 86.89 0.0347 -0.0005 0.0455

106.89 0.0541 -0.0005 0.0589

113.11 0.0609 -0.0004 0.0614

119.33 0.0684 -0.0008 0.0922

126.89 0.0790 -0.0001 0.0704

139.33 0.0961 0.0007 0.1300

143.78 0.1034 0.0008 0.0732

156.22 0.1217 0.0008 0.0826

159.33 0.1263 -0.0008 0.0923

0.9D + 1.6W 89 mph Wind at 60° From Face 86.89 0.6959 0.2158 0.8277

106.89 1.0544 0.3172 1.0057

113.11 1.1766 0.3558 1.0330

119.33 1.3048 0.3945 1.7777

126.89 1.4831 0.4590 1.1631

139.33 1.7652 0.5635 1.8103

143.78 1.8778 0.5855 1.2273

156.22 2.1673 0.6378 1.3522

159.33 2.2394 0.6470 1.2828

0.9D + 1.6W 89 mph Wind at 90° From Face 86.89 0.6991 -0.1358 0.8308

106.89 1.0589 0.0850 1.0141

113.11 1.1800 0.0944 1.0464

119.33 1.3097 0.1047 1.7230

126.89 1.4894 -0.2393 1.1696

139.33 1.7722 -0.2916 1.6771

143.78 1.8813 -0.2925 1.2569

156.22 2.1707 -0.2925 1.3708

159.33 2.2428 -0.2925 1.2218

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



0.9D + 1.6W 89 mph Wind at Normal To Face 86.89 0.7120 0.0613 0.8561

106.89 1.0779 0.0961 1.0536

113.11 1.1987 0.1096 1.0995

119.33 1.3327 0.1187 1.6112

126.89 1.5157 0.1466 1.2111

139.33 1.8032 0.1791 2.1464

143.78 1.9225 0.1759 1.2160

156.22 2.2172 0.1766 1.3639

159.33 2.2906 0.1770 1.4973

1.0D + 1.0W 60 mph Wind at 60° From Face 86.89 0.1981 0.0315 0.2353

106.89 0.2997 0.0465 0.2833

113.11 0.3346 0.0522 0.2917

119.33 0.3708 0.0579 0.5144

126.89 0.4221 0.0673 0.3301

139.33 0.5023 0.0823 0.5186

143.78 0.5343 0.0836 0.3486

156.22 0.6166 0.0872 0.3844

159.33 0.6369 0.0878 0.3644

1.0D + 1.0W 60 mph Wind at 90° From Face 86.89 0.1986 -0.0374 0.2363

106.89 0.3006 0.0218 0.2865

113.11 0.3352 0.0241 0.2965

119.33 0.3719 0.0276 0.4954

126.89 0.4233 -0.0659 0.3325

139.33 0.5037 -0.0803 0.4756

143.78 0.5346 -0.0803 0.3571

156.22 0.6169 -0.0797 0.3896

159.33 0.6373 -0.0797 0.3472

1.0D + 1.0W 60 mph Wind at Normal To Face 86.89 0.2021 0.0149 0.2431

106.89 0.3060 0.0236 0.2992

113.11 0.3406 0.0271 0.3129

119.33 0.3785 0.0284 0.4587

126.89 0.4305 0.0368 0.3439

139.33 0.5124 0.0437 0.6053

143.78 0.5463 0.0428 0.3458

156.22 0.6301 0.0422 0.3880

159.33 0.6510 0.0422 0.4260

1.2D + 1.0Di + 1.0Wi 40 mph Wind at 60° From Face 86.89 0.1435 -0.0149 0.1708

106.89 0.2177 0.0221 0.2060

113.11 0.2432 0.0249 0.2141

119.33 0.2695 0.0277 0.3728

126.89 0.3066 0.0324 0.2425

139.33 0.3655 0.0398 0.3947

143.78 0.3895 0.0403 0.2541

156.22 0.4503 0.0419 0.2841

159.33 0.4655 0.0423 0.2672

1.2D + 1.0Di + 1.0Wi 40 mph Wind at 90° From Face 86.89 0.1437 -0.0225 0.1708

106.89 0.2179 0.0113 0.2081

113.11 0.2432 0.0125 0.2172

119.33 0.2698 0.0146 0.3585

126.89 0.3069 -0.0368 0.2443

139.33 0.3658 -0.0451 0.3669

143.78 0.3893 -0.0447 0.2604

156.22 0.4499 -0.0434 0.2892

159.33 0.4651 -0.0432 0.2506

1.2D + 1.0Di + 1.0Wi 40 mph Wind at Normal From Face 86.89 0.1452 0.0046 0.1755

106.89 0.2205 0.0083 0.2159

113.11 0.2455 0.0099 0.2272

119.33 0.2730 0.0099 0.3305

126.89 0.3108 0.0147 0.2499

139.33 0.3704 0.0172 0.4369

143.78 0.3951 0.0159 0.2535

156.22 0.4566 0.0141 0.2839

159.33 0.4719 0.0139 0.3241

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



1.2D + 1.0E - Normal To Face 86.89 0.0349 -0.0005 0.0457

106.89 0.0543 -0.0005 0.0591

113.11 0.0611 -0.0004 0.0616

119.33 0.0686 -0.0008 0.0925

126.89 0.0793 0.0002 0.0707

139.33 0.0965 0.0008 0.1301

143.78 0.1039 0.0008 0.0735

156.22 0.1222 0.0008 0.0831

159.33 0.1268 -0.0008 0.0928

1.2D + 1.6W 89 mph Wind at 60° From Face 86.89 0.6984 0.2166 0.8312

106.89 1.0585 0.3184 1.0103

113.11 1.1813 0.3572 1.0375

119.33 1.3101 0.3960 1.7875

126.89 1.4893 0.4608 1.1683

139.33 1.7729 0.5658 1.8228

143.78 1.8861 0.5879 1.2327

156.22 2.1770 0.6405 1.3589

159.33 2.2495 0.6497 1.2897

1.2D + 1.6W 89 mph Wind at 90° From Face 86.89 0.7017 -0.1359 0.8343

106.89 1.0631 0.0851 1.0186

113.11 1.1847 0.0946 1.0509

119.33 1.3150 0.1049 1.7325

126.89 1.4957 -0.2395 1.1750

139.33 1.7798 -0.2919 1.6884

143.78 1.8896 -0.2929 1.2627

156.22 2.1804 -0.2928 1.3775

159.33 2.2528 -0.2928 1.2284

1.2D + 1.6W 89 mph Wind at Normal To Face 86.89 0.7147 0.0613 0.8598

106.89 1.0823 0.0960 1.0585

113.11 1.2036 0.1096 1.1045

119.33 1.3382 0.1187 1.6202

126.89 1.5223 0.1466 1.2168

139.33 1.8112 0.1791 2.1596

143.78 1.9312 0.1758 1.2219

156.22 2.2273 0.1766 1.3709

159.33 2.3011 0.1770 1.5043

Copyright © 2020 by Tower Engineering Solutions, LLC. All rights reserved.



Last revised on 2-3-20202

Customer Name:

Site Name:

Site Nmber:

Engr. Number:

Drawings/Calculations

Analysis

3 Legs

0.00

(1). Individual Leg: 0.5'

Axial Load (Kips): 434.4 Uplift Force (Kips): 396.4

Shear Force (Kips): 24.9

(2). Tower Base: 9 # 4

Total Vertical Load (Kips): 49.0 Total Shear Force (Kips): 41.4 99' 16 # 9

Moment (Kips-ft): 3982.2 6'

Foundation Geometries: 38 # 9

11.0 Mods required -Yes/No ?: No 38 # 9

Diameter of Pier (ft.): Round 3.0 Pier Height A. G. (ft.): 0.50

Tower center to mat center (ft): 0.00 Depth of Base BG (ft.): 6.0 #

Length of Pad (ft.): 38 Width of Pad (ft.): 38 2.5'

Thickness of Pad (ft): 2.50

38 # 9 38 # 9

3.175

Mat Center

Concrete Strength (psi): 3000 Steel Elastic Modulus: 29000 ksi (W) 0.00 Tower Center

Vertical bar yield (ksi) 60 Tie steel yield (ksi): 60 38' 11.0

Vertical Rebar Size #: 9 Tie / Stirrup Size #: 4

Qty. of Vertical Rebars: 16 Tie Spacing (in): 9.0

Pad Rebar Yield (Ksi): 60 Pad Steel Rebar Size (#): 9 12.65 6.351

Concrete Cover (in.): 3 Unit Weight of Concrete: 150.0 pcf

Rebar at the bottom of the concrete pad: 9.526

Qty. of Rebar in Pad (L): 38 Qty. of Rebar in Pad (W): 38

Rebar at the top of the concrete pad: 38' (L)

Qty. of Rebar in Pad (L): 38 Qty. of Rebar in Pad (W): 38

Soil Design Parameters:

Soil Unit Weight (pcf): 115.0 Soil Buoyant Weight: 50.0 Pcf

Water Table B.G.S. (ft): 99.0 Unit Weight of Water: 62.4 pcf

Ultimate Bearing Pressure (psf): 2000 Consider ties in concrete shear strength: Yes

(W) Mat Center Tower Center

Notes: 38'

 1. Dimension unit in sketches is in feet.

8/25/2020
Mat Foundation Design for Self Supporting Tower

Date

Engineer Name:

EIA/TIA Standard: EIA-222-G

Structure Height (Ft.): 160
SBA Communications Corp

M. Baker
TESEngineer Login ID:

15.825

3'

Foundation Info Obtained from:

Analysis or Design?

97210
MA13743-A-SBA

19.0

Base Reactions (Factored):

Material Properties and Reabr Info:

Leg distance (Center-to-Center ft.):

Number of Tower Legs:



Allowable overstress %: 5.00% TES Engr. Number: Page 2/2 Date:
Apply 1.35 for e/w per G/H: 1

Foundation Analysis and Design: Uplift Strength Reduction Factor: 0.75 Compression Strength Reduction Factor: 0.75
4979.78 Total Dry Soil Weight (Kips): 572.67

0.00 Total Buoyant Soil Weight (Kips): 0.00
572.67 Weight from the Concrete Block at Top (K): 0.00

3694.82 Total Dry Concrete Weight (Kips): 554.22
0.00 Total Buoyant Concrete Weight (Kips): 0.00

554.22 Total Vertical Load on Base (Kips): 1175.87
Load/   
Capacity  
Ratio

Calculated Maxium Net Soil Pressure under the base (psf): 759.48 < Allowable Factored Soil Bearing (psf): 1500 0.51 OK!
Allowable Foundation Overturning Resistance (kips-ft.): 20200.4 > Design Factored Momont (kips-ft): 4201 0.21 OK!
Factor of Safety Against Overturning (O. R. Moment/Design Moment): 4.81 OK!

Check the capacities of Reinforceing Concrete:
Strength reduction factor (Flexure and axial tension): 0.90 Strength reduction factor (Shear): 0.75
Strength reduction factor (Axial compresion): 0.65 Wind Load Factor on Concrete Design: 1.00

 (1) Concrete Pier:

Load/   
Capacity  
Ratio

Vertical Steel Rebar Area (sq. in./each): 1.00 Tie / Stirrup Area (sq. in./each): 0.20
Calculated Moment Capacity (Mn,Kips-Ft): 582.8 > Design Factored Moment (Mu, Kips-Ft) 99.4 0.17 OK!
Calculated Shear Capacity (Kips): 73.1 > Design Factored Shear (Kips): 24.9 0.34 OK!
Calculated Tension Capacity (Tn, Kips): 864.0 > Design Factored Tension (Tu Kips): 396.4 0.46 OK!
Calculated Compression Capacity (Pn, Kips): 1328.5 > Design Factored Axial Load (Pu Kips): 434.4 0.33 OK!
Moment & Tension Strength Combination: 0.17 OK! Check Tie Spacing (Design/Req'd): 0.75 OK!
Pier Reinforcement Ratio: 0.016

 (2).Concrete Pad:
One-Way Design Shear Capacity (L or W Direction, Kips): 990.5 > One-Way Factored Shear (L/W-Dir Kips 579.7 0.59 OK!
One-Way Design Shear Capacity (Diagonal Dir., Kips): 920.8 > One-Way Factored Shear (Dia. Dir, Kips 508.1 0.55 OK!
Lower Steel Pad Reinforcement Ratio (L or W-Direct. ): 0.0032 Lower Steel Reinf. Ratio (Dia. Dir.): 0.0027
Lower Steel Pad Moment Capacity (L or W-Dir. Kips-ft): 4353.2 > Moment at Bottom ( L-Direct. K-Ft): 1837.8 0.42 OK!
Lower Steel Pad Moment Capacity (Dia. Direction,K-ft): 4375.6 > Moment at Bottom ( Dia. Dir. K-Ft): 1612.2 0.37 OK!
Upper Steel Pad Reinforcement Ratio (L or W -Direction): 0.0032 Upper Steel Reinf. Ratio (Dia. Dir.): 0.0027
Upper Steel Pad Moment Capacity (L or W-Dir., Kips-ft): 4353.2 > Moment at the top  (L-Dir Kips-Ft): 1001.4 0.23 OK!
Upper Steel Pad Moment Capacity (Dia. Direction, K-ft): 4375.6 > Moment at the top  (Dia. Dir., K-Ft): 663.3 0.15 OK!
Punching Failure Capacity (Kips): 852.1 > Punch. Failure Factored Shear (K): 434.4 0.51 OK!

       Total Buoyant Soil Volume (cu. Ft.):

8/25/2020

Reinforcement Ratio is satisfied per ACI

97210

       Total Dry Soil Volume (cu. Ft.):

       Total Effective Soil Weight (Kips):
       Total Dry Concrete Volume (cu. Ft.):
       Total Buoyant Concrete Volume (cu. Ft.):
       Total Effective Concrete Weight (Kips):

Check Soil Capacities:



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

11/27/2019

Arthur J. Gallagher Risk Management Services, Inc.
4000 Midlantic Dr, Suite 200
Mt. Laurel NJ 08054

Daisy Braun
856-675-1334 856-482-1888

CherryHill.BSD.CertM@AJG.com

Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Company 23035
First Liberty Insurance Corporation 33588

Empire Telecom USA, LLC
1150 1st Avenue, Suite 600
King of Prussia, PA 19406

AXIS Insurance Company 37273
Navigators Insurance Company 42307
Liberty Insurance Underwriters Inc 19917
American Guarantee and Liability Ins Co 26247

123527721

A X 2,000,000
X 100,000

X Contractual Liab 5,000
X XCU 2,000,000

4,000,000
X X

TB2-631-510650-049 11/30/2019 11/30/2020

4,000,000

A 2,000,000

X
AS2-631-510650-039 11/30/2019 11/30/2020

C
D
E
F

X 30,000,000
X

P-001-000073672-02
NY19EXCZ03HAGIV
1000324565-02
AEC 8761755-01

11/30/2019
11/30/2019
11/30/2019
11/30/2019

11/30/2020
11/30/2020
11/30/2020
11/30/2020

30,000,000

B X

N

WC6-631-510650-019 11/30/2019 11/30/2020

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

Cyber Liability (Primary)
Policy #113019HUD
Policy Period: 11/30/2019 - 11/30/2020
Carrier: Hudson Excess Insurance Company
Limit: $10,000,000

Cyber Liability (Excess)
Policy # ESI005300369
See Attached...

Evidence of Insurance



ACORD 101 (2008/01)
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

© 2008 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

THIS ADDITIONAL REMARKS FORM IS A SCHEDULE TO ACORD FORM,
FORM NUMBER: FORM TITLE:

ADDITIONAL REMARKS

ADDITIONAL REMARKS SCHEDULE Page           of

AGENCY CUSTOMER ID:
LOC #:

AGENCY

CARRIER NAIC CODE

POLICY NUMBER

NAMED INSURED

EFFECTIVE DATE:

1 1

Arthur J. Gallagher Risk Management Services, Inc. Empire Telecom USA, LLC
1150 1st Avenue, Suite 600
King of Prussia, PA 19406

25 CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

Policy Period: 11/30/2019 - 11/30/2020
Carrier: Certain Underwriter at Lloyds
Limit: $10MM x $10MM

Property Policy
Policy # 13UUMBK0148
Policy Period: 11/30/19 - 11/30/20
Carrier: Hartford Fire Insurance Company
Leased/Rented Equipment:
Limit: $1,500,000
Deductible: $5,000
BPP Limit/Deductible: $8,265,000/$5,000

Professional Liab/E&O/Pollution
Policy # 0311-0596
Policy Period: 11/30/2019 - 11/30/2020
Carrier: Allied World Assurance Company, Ltd.
Occurrence/Aggregate: $5MM/10MM

Hartford Fire Insurance Company
Inland Marine Policy
Eff Date: 11/30/19 - Exp Date: 11/30/20
Policy # 13UUMBK0148
Installation Operations - LIMIT: $5,000,000/ DEDUCTIBLE: $5,000
In Transit - LIMIT: $1,000,000/ DEDUCTIBLE: $5,000
In Temporary Storage - LIMIT: $15,000,000/ DEDUCTIBLE: $5,000

Evidence of Insurance



Jennifer Iliades
Text Box





 

  Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379   P a g e  | 1                      

 

Radio Frequency Safety Survey Report Prediction (RFSSRP) 

AT&T Wireless Tower Facility 

 
Site ID: MA5153 

Site Name: GREAT BARRINGTON-

STOCKBRIDGE 

Address: 425 Stockbridge Road, Great 

Barrington, MA 01230  

Latitude:  42.214152 

Longitude:  -73.344655 

USID: 79082 

FA: 10087529 

 

Prepared for: 

AT&T Mobility 

550 Cochituate Road, Suite 13 

Framingham, MA 01701 

 

Report Writer: Erin Kavanaugh 

Date: October 21, 2020 

Report Reviewer: Brandon Green 

 

 

 
 

Statement of Compliance 

AT&T will be compliant with FCC Regulations upon installation of recommended 

mitigation measures. 

  



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379      P a g e  | 2 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
1.0 GENERAL SUMMARY....................................................................................................................... 3 

1.1 SITE SUMMARY ................................................................................................................................. 3 

2.0 SITE SCALE MAP ............................................................................................................................... 5 

3.0 ANTENNA INVENTORY ................................................................................................................... 6 

4.0 PREDICTED EMISSION LEVELS AND DISCUSSION ................................................................ 9 

5.0 EMISSIONS DIAGRAMS ................................................................................................................. 10 

6.0 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE .................................................................................................. 13 

6.1 STATEMENT OF AT&T MOBILITY COMPLIANCE ............................................................ 13 

6.2 RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................................................................ 13 

7.0 FALL ARREST AND PARAPET INFORMATION....................................................................... 14 

APPENDIX A: RF SIGNAGE ................................................................................................................. 15 

APPENDIX B: FCC GUIDELINES AND EMISSIONS THRESHOLD LIMITS ............................. 16 

APPENDIX C: CALCULATION METHODOLOGY .......................................................................... 18 

APPENDIX D: CERTIFICATIONS ....................................................................................................... 19 

APPENDIX E: PROPRIETARY STATEMENT ................................................................................... 20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379      P a g e  | 3 

 

1.0 GENERAL SUMMARY 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC (“Centerline”) has been contracted to provide a Radio Frequency (RF) 

Analysis for the following AT&T Mobility wireless tower facility to determine whether the facility is in 

compliance with federal standards and regulations regarding RF emissions. This analysis includes 

theoretical emissions calculations, for all equipment for AT&T Mobility and any other wireless carriers 

on site. 

1.1 SITE SUMMARY 

Analysis Site Data 

Site USID: 79082 

Site FA#: 10087529 

Site Name: GREAT BARRINGTON-

STOCKBRIDGE 

Site Address: 425 Stockbridge Road, Great Barrington 

MA 01230 

Site Latitude: 42.214152 

Site Longitude: -73.344655 

Facility Type: Tower 

Compliance Summary 

Compliance Status: Compliant Upon Mitigation Installation 

Maximum Modeled AT&T MPE% on Walking Surface 

(General Public Limit): 

 0.12% 

Maximum Modeled AT&T MPE% at Ground Level 

(General Public Limit): 

 0.10% 

Site Survey Data 

Is Access Locked or Controlled? : Unknown 

Lock or Control Measures if Present: Unknown 

Parapet Height: N/A 

Site Data Information 

CD: MA5153.AE201.GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE 

CD(AE06).Rev2.09-15-20 

RFDS: NEW-ENGLAND_BOSTON_MA5153_2021-LTE-Next-

Carrier_LTE_MH705R_2101A0VH55_10087529_79082_03-09-

2020_Final-Approved_v3.00  



 

  Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379   P a g e  | 4                      

 

Signage and barriers are the primary means of mitigating access to accessible areas of exposure. Below is 

a summary of existing and recommended signage at this AT&T facility. 

Existing Signage and Barriers (AT&T Sectors) 

Location Information Notice Notice 2 Caution Caution 2 Caution 2B Caution 2C Warning Warning 2 Barriers 

Tower Access 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 

Recommended Signage and Barriers (AT&T Sectors) 

Location Notice 2 Caution 2 Caution 2B Caution 2C Warning 2 Barriers 
Tower Access 0 0 1 0 0 0 

 

Tower Access: 

 Install (1) Caution 2B at the base of the tower. 

 

 

 

 



 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379   P a g e  | 5                      

2.0 SITE SCALE MAP 

Proposed Sign Existing Sign 

Signage/ Mitigation Plan 

GREAT BARRINGTON-

STOCKBRIDGE / 10087529 

Operator Antenna Identifiers 

INFO 1 Sign 

INFO 2 Sign 

Notice 1 Sign 

Notice 2 Sign 

Caution 1 Sign 

Tower Caution 

Sign 

Caution 2 Sign 

Warning 2 Sign 

Items to be Removed 



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379   P a g e  | 6                      

3.0 ANTENNA INVENTORY 

 

ANT 

ID 
Operator Antenna Make Antenna Model Type 

Freq 

(MHz) 

TPO 

(Watts) 

# of 

TX 

Azimuth 

(°) 

BW 

(°) 

Gain 

(dBd) 

Total 

ERP 

(Watts) 

Length 

(ft.) 

Antenna Z 

Value (ft.)  

NWS*  

Antenna Z 

Value (ft.) 

AGL** 

1 AT&T KATHREIN 80010122V01 Panel 850 40 1 143 87.1 12.75 753.46 6.3 129.9 139.9 

2 AT&T CCI OPA65R-BU6B Panel 700 40 4 170 63 12.15 2624.94 5.9 130.0 140.0 

2 AT&T CCI OPA65R-BU6B Panel 2100 40 4 170 61 15.85 6153.47 5.9 130.0 140.0 

3 AT&T CCI DMP65R-BU6D Panel 700 40 2 170 66 11.75 1196.99 5.9 130.0 140.0 

3 AT&T CCI DMP65R-BU6D Panel 850 40 1 170 71 11.45 558.55 5.9 130.0 140.0 

3 AT&T CCI DMP65R-BU6D Panel 850 40 1 170 71 11.45 558.55 5.9 130.0 140.0 

3 AT&T CCI DMP65R-BU6D  Panel 1900 40 4 170 71 14.35 4356.32 5.9 130.0 140.0 

4 AT&T CCI DMP65R-BU6D Panel 700 40 2 260 64 11.65 1169.74 5.9 140.0 140.0 

4 AT&T CCI DMP65R-BU6D Panel 850 40 1 260 70 11.35 545.83 5.9 140.0 140.0 

4 AT&T CCI DMP65R-BU6D Panel 850 40 1 260 70 11.35 545.83 5.9 140.0 140.0 

4 AT&T CCI DMP65R-BU6D  Panel 1900 40 4 260 71 14.35 4356.32 5.9 140.0 140.0 

5 AT&T CCI OPA65R-BU6B Panel 700 40 4 260 62 12.05 2565.19 5.9 140.0 140.0 

5 AT&T CCI OPA65R-BU6B Panel 2100 40 4 260 61 15.85 6153.47 5.9 140.0 140.0 

6 AT&T KATHREIN 80010122V01 Panel 850 40 1 263 85.8 12.85 771.01 6.3 139.9 139.9 

7 AT&T CCI DMP65R-BU6D Panel 700 40 2 353 64 11.65 1169.74 5.9 140.0 140.0 

7 AT&T CCI DMP65R-BU6D Panel 850 40 1 353 71 11.45 558.55 5.9 140.0 140.0 

7 AT&T CCI DMP65R-BU6D Panel 850 40 1 353 71 11.45 558.55 5.9 140.0 140.0 

7 AT&T CCI DMP65R-BU6D  Panel 1900 40 4 353 71 14.35 4356.32 5.9 140.0 140.0 

8 AT&T CCI OPA65R-BU6B Panel 700 40 4 353 63 12.05 2565.19 5.9 140.0 140.0 

8 AT&T CCI OPA65R-BU6B Panel 2100 40 4 353 61 15.85 6153.47 5.9 140.0 140.0 

9 AT&T KATHREIN 80010122V01 Panel 850 40 1 23 86.8 12.75 753.46 6.3 139.9 139.9 

10 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 130 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 113.0 123.0 

11 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 130 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 113.0 123.0 

12 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 260 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 123.0 123.0 

13 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 260 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 123.0 123.0 



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379      P a g e  | 7 

 

ANT 

ID 
Operator Antenna Make Antenna Model Type 

Freq 

(MHz) 

TPO 

(Watts) 
# of 

TX 
Azimuth 

(°) 
BW 

(°) 
Gain 

(dBd) 

Total 

ERP 

(Watts) 

Length 

(ft.) 

Antenna Z 

Value (ft.)  

NWS*  

Antenna Z 

Value (ft.) 

AGL** 

14 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 0 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 123.0 123.0 

15 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 0 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 123.0 123.0 

16 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 130 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 122.0 132.0 

17 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 130 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 122.0 132.0 

18 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 130 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 122.0 132.0 

19 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 130 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 122.0 132.0 

20 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 260 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 132.0 132.0 

21 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 260 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 132.0 132.0 

22 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 260 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 132.0 132.0 

23 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 260 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 132.0 132.0 

24 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 0 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 132.0 132.0 

25 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 0 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 132.0 132.0 

26 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 0 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 132.0 132.0 

27 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 0 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 132.0 132.0 

28 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 130 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 138.0 148.0 

29 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 130 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 138.0 148.0 

30 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 130 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 138.0 148.0 

31 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 130 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 138.0 148.0 

32 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 260 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 138.0 148.0 

33 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 260 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 138.0 148.0 

34 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 260 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 138.0 148.0 

35 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 260 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 138.0 148.0 

36 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 0 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 138.0 148.0 

37 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 0 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 138.0 148.0 

38 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 0 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 138.0 148.0 

39 Unknown GENERIC PANEL 6FT  Panel 1900 100 1 0 66 15.84 3837.07 6.0 138.0 148.0 

40 Unknown GENERIC OMNI 6FT  Omni 1900 100 1 0 360 9.96 990.83 6.0 144.0 154.0 



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379      P a g e  | 8 

 

ANT 

ID 
Operator Antenna Make Antenna Model Type 

Freq 

(MHz) 

TPO 

(Watts) 
# of 

TX 
Azimuth 

(°) 
BW 

(°) 
Gain 

(dBd) 

Total 

ERP 

(Watts) 

Length 

(ft.) 

Antenna Z 

Value (ft.)  

NWS*  

Antenna Z 

Value (ft.) 

AGL** 

41 Unknown GENERIC OMNI 9.5FT Omni 450 100 1 0 360 5.96 394.46 9.5 144.2 154.2 

Table 1: Total Site Data Table     (*NWS = Nearest Walking Surface, **AGL = Above Ground Level)  

Note: Z Value represents the bottom tip height of the antenna



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379   P a g e  | 9                      

4.0 PREDICTED EMISSION LEVELS AND DISCUSSION 

 

All calculations performed based upon the data listed for this facility have produced results that are within 

allowable limits for General Population limits for exposure to RF emissions as specified by federal 

standards. 

AT&T’s RF Exposure: Responsibilities, Procedures & Guidelines document states that microwave dishes 

are compliant if they are mounted 20 feet or greater above any accessible walking or working surface. 

Maximum Predicted MPE Level on Site:  % of MPE Limit: Location: 

Accessible General Population MPE Limits: 0.12% 
Sector A 

Accessible Occupational MPE Limits: 0.02% 

 

Ground Level Assessment: % of MPE Limit: 

Ground Level General Population MPE Limits: 0.10% 

Ground Level Occupational MPE Limits: 0.02% 

 

Sector A: Transmitting over Ground - Upper % of MPE Limit: *Distance from Antenna: 

Accessible General Population MPE Limits: 0.12% N/A 

Accessible Occupational MPE Limits: 0.02% N/A 

 

Sector B: Transmitting over Ground % of MPE Limit: *Distance from Antenna: 

Accessible General Population MPE Limits: 0.10% N/A 

Accessible Occupational MPE Limits: 0.02% N/A 

 

Sector C: Transmitting over Ground % of MPE Limit: *Distance from Antenna: 

Accessible General Population MPE Limits: 0.10% N/A 

Accessible Occupational MPE Limits: 0.02% N/A 

*Distance from Antenna is the distance that the MPE limits are exceeded from the front face of the antenna, 

outward across an accessible area. 



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379   P a g e  | 10                      

5.0 EMISSIONS DIAGRAMS 

Emissions Thresholds for All Carriers (Ground 0.00ft.) GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE / 10087529 



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379      P a g e  | 11 

 

 

Emissions Thresholds for All Carriers (Ground 10.00ft.) GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE / 10087529 



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379   P a g e  | 12                      

 

Emissions Thresholds for All Carriers (Equipment Shelters 20.00ft.) GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE / 10087529 

 



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379   P a g e  | 13                      

6.0 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

 

Centerline conducted worst case modeling to determine whether the tower facility located at 425 

Stockbridge Road in Great Barrington, Massachusetts is in compliance with FCC Regulations. 

6.1 STATEMENT OF AT&T MOBILITY COMPLIANCE 

 

Based on the information analyzed, AT&T will be compliant with FCC Regulations once the mitigation 

measures recommended in this report are implemented. 

 

6.2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

Recommended Signage and Barriers (AT&T Sectors) 

Location Notice 2 Caution 2 Caution 2B Caution 2C Warning 2 Barriers 
Tower Access 0 0 1 0 0 0 

 

Tower Access: 

 Install (1) Caution 2B at the base of the tower. 

  



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379      P a g e  | 14 

 

7.0 FALL ARREST AND PARAPET INFORMATION 

 

As per AT&T barrier policy, rooftop edges that are protected with a 39-inch parapet wall or guardrail are 

safe for work activity within six (6) feet of the edge.  OSHA has stated that an existing 39-inch guardrail 

or parapet provides sufficient protection for employees.  The height of the top rail or equivalent 

component of guardrail systems in new construction shall be at least 42 inches above the walking or 

working surface.  It should also be noted that the height of the parapet or guardrail may be reduced to no 

less than 30 inches at any point provided the sum of the depth (horizontal distance) of the top edge, and 

the height of the top edge (vertical distance from the work surface to the top edge of the top member, is at 

least 48 inches.  If there is no reason for working atop the roof, then edge protection is not required.  In 

addition, workers may use personnel lifts or temporary fall protection measures to perform work within 6 

feet of the roof edge in place of permanent edge protection.   Reference: 29 CFR 1910.28, 29 CFR 

1910.23 (NPRM-1990); OSHA Letters of Interpretation 2/9/83 and 3/8/9 

  



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379      P a g e  | 15 

 

APPENDIX A: RF SIGNAGE  

AT&T RF Signage 

                         
Sign 

Description Sign Description 

 

Information 1 Sign 

Gives guidelines on how to 

proceed and who to contact 

regarding areas that may exceed 

either the FCC’s General 

Population or Occupational 

emissions limits. 

 

Information 2 Sign 

Gives specific information on how to 

proceed and who to contact regarding 

antennas that are façade mounted, 

concealed or on stand-alone structures. 

 

Blue Notice 1 Sign 

Used to alert individuals that they 

are entering an area that may 

exceed the FCC’s General 

Population emissions limit. Must 

be positioned such that persons 

approaching from any angle have 

ample warning to avoid the 

marked areas. 

 

Blue Notice 2 Sign 

Used to alert individuals that they are 

entering an area that may exceed the 

FCC’s General Population emissions 

limits. To be used on barriers or 

antenna sectors as a hybrid of the 

Information 1 and Blue Notice 1 signs. 

 

Yellow Caution 1 Sign- 

Rooftop 

Used to inform individuals that 

they are entering an area that may 

exceed the FCC’s Occupational 

emissions limit. Must be 

positioned such that persons 

approaching from any angle have 

ample warning to avoid the 

marked areas. 

 

Yellow Caution 2 Sign- 

Rooftop 

Used to alert individuals that they are 

entering an area that may exceed the 

FCC’s Occupational emissions limit. 

To be used on barriers or antenna 

sectors as a hybrid of the Information 

1 and Yellow Caution 1 signs. 

 

Yellow Caution 1 Sign- 

Tower 

Used to inform individuals that 

they are entering an area that may 

exceed the FCC’s Occupational 

emissions limits. Must be placed 

at the base of the tower to warn 

tower climbers of potential for 

exposure. 

 

Warning 2 Sign 

Used to inform individuals that they 

are entering an area that may exceed 

the FCC’s Occupational emissions 

limit by a factor of 10 or greater. Must 

be positioned such that persons 

approaching from any angle have 

ample warning to avoid the marked 

areas. 

 

 

 



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379      P a g e  | 16 

 

APPENDIX B: FCC GUIDELINES AND EMISSIONS THRESHOLD LIMITS 

 

All power density values used in this report were analyzed as a percentage of current Maximum Permissible 

Exposure (% MPE) as listed in the FCC OET Bulletin 65 Edition 97-01and ANSI/IEEE Std C95.1. The 

FCC regulates Maximum Permissible Exposure in units of microwatts per square centimeter (μW/cm2). 

The number of μW/cm2 calculated at each sample point is called the power density. The exposure limit for 

power density varies depending upon the frequencies being utilized. Wireless Carriers and Paging Services 

use different frequency bands each with different exposure limits, therefore it is necessary to report results 

and limits in terms of percent MPE rather than power density. 

All results were compared to the FCC (Federal Communications Commission) radio frequency exposure 

rules, 47 CFR 1.1307(b)(1) – (b)(3), to determine compliance with the Maximum Permissible Exposure 

(MPE) limits for General Population/Uncontrolled environments as defined below. 

General Population/Uncontrolled exposure limits apply to situations in which the general public may be 

exposed or in which persons who are exposed as a consequence of their employment may not be made fully 

aware of the potential for exposure or cannot exercise control over their exposure.  Therefore, members of 

the general public would always be considered under this category when exposure is not employment 

related, for example, in the case of a telecommunications tower that exposes persons in a nearby residential 

area. 

Public exposure to radio frequencies is regulated and enforced in units of microwatts per square centimeter 

(μW/cm2). The general population exposure limit for the 700 and 800 MHz Bands is approximately 467 

μW/cm2 and 567 μW/cm2 respectively, and the general population exposure limit for the 1900 MHz PCS 

and 2100 MHz AWS bands is 1000 μW/cm2. Because each carrier will be using different frequency bands, 

and each frequency band has different exposure limits, it is necessary to report percent of MPE rather than 

power density.  

Occupational/Controlled exposure limits apply to situations in which persons are exposed as a consequence 

of their employment and in which those persons who are exposed have been made fully aware of the 

potential for exposure, have been properly trained in RF safety and can exercise control over their exposure.  

Occupational/Controlled exposure limits also apply where exposure is of a transient nature as a result of 

incidental passage through a location where exposure levels may be above general population/uncontrolled 

limits (see below), as long as the exposed person has been made fully aware of the potential for exposure, 

have been trained in RF safety and can exercise control over his or her exposure by leaving the area or by 

some other appropriate means. The Occupational/Controlled exposure limits all utilized frequency bands is 

five (5) times the FCC’s General Public / Uncontrolled exposure limit. 

The FCC Mandates that if a site is found to be out of compliance with regard to emissions that any system 

operator contributing 5% or more to areas exceeding the FCC’s allowable limits will be responsible for 

bringing the site into compliance. 

Additional details can be found in FCC OET 65. 

 

 

 

 



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379      P a g e  | 17 

 

 

Table 1: Limits for Maximum Permissible Exposure (MPE) 

(A) Limits for Occupational/Controlled Exposure 

Frequency Range 

(MHz) 

Electric Field Strength 

(E) 

 
(V/m) 

Magnetic Field Strength 

(H) 

 
(A/m) 

Power Density (S) 

(mW/cm2) 

Averaging Time [E]2, 

[H]2, or S 

 
(minutes) 

0.3-3.0 614 1.63 (100)* 
6 

3.0-30 1842/f 4.89/f (900/f2)* 
6 

30-300 61.4 0.163 1.0 
6 

300-I,500 -- -- f/300 
6 

1,500-100,000 -- -- 5 
6 

(B) Limits for General Public/Uncontrolled Exposure 

Frequency Range 

(MHz) 

Electric Field Strength 

(E) 

 
(V/m) 

Magnetic Field Strength 

(H) 

 
(A/m) 

Power Density (S) 

(mW/cm2) 

Averaging Time [E]2, 

[H]2, or S 

 
(minutes) 

0.3-1.34 614 1.63 (100)* 
30 

1.34-30 824/f 2.19/f (180/f2)* 
30 

30-300 27.5 0.073 0.2 
30 

300-I,500 -- -- f/1,500 
30 

1,500-100,000 -- -- 1.0 
30 

f = Frequency in (MHz) 

* Plane-wave equivalent power density 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379      P a g e  | 18 

 

APPENDIX C: CALCULATION METHODOLOGY 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC has performed theoretical modeling using Waterford Consultants’ 

RoofMaster™ 2020 Version 21.9.04.20 which uses a cylindrical model for conservative power density 

predictions within the near field of the antenna where the antenna pattern has not truly formed yet. Within 

this area power density values tend to decrease based upon an inverse distance function. At the point 

where it is appropriate for modeling to change from near-field calculations to far-field calculations the 

power decreases inversely with the square of the distance. This modeling technique is accurate with low 

antenna centerlines, such as rooftops, where persons can get close to the antennas and pass through fields 

in close proximity.  

 

The modeling is based on worst-case assumptions for the number of antennas and transmitter power. No 

losses were included in the power calculations unless they were specifically provided for the project.  

  



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379      P a g e  | 19 

 

APPENDIX D: CERTIFICATIONS 

 

I, Erin Kavanaugh, preparer of this report certify that I am fully trained and aware of the Rules and 

Regulations of both the Federal Communications Commissions (FCC) and the Occupational Safety and 

Health Administration (OSHA) with regard to Human Exposure to Radio Frequency Radiation.  I have 

been trained in the procedures and requirements outlined in AT&T’s RF Exposure: Responsibilities, 

Procedures & Guidelines document. 

 

 

 

Erin Kavanaugh                                              

10/21/2020 

 

 

I, Brandon Green, reviewer and approver of this report certify that I am fully trained and aware of the 

Rules and Regulations of both the Federal Communications Commissions (FCC) and the Occupational 

Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) with regard to Human Exposure to Radio Frequency 

Radiation.  I have been trained in the procedures and requirements outlined in AT&T’s RF Exposure: 

Responsibilities, Procedures & Guidelines document. 

 

 

 

Brandon Green                                            

10/21/2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



GREAT BARRINGTON-STOCKBRIDGE  / 79082 / 10087529 

 

Centerline Communications, LLC    750 W Center St      West Bridgewater    MA    02379      P a g e  | 20 

 

APPENDIX E: PROPRIETARY STATEMENT 

 

This report was prepared for the use of AT&T Mobility, LLC to meet requirements specified in AT&T’s 

corporate RF safety guidelines. It was performed in accordance with generally accepted practices of other 

consultants undertaking similar studies at the same time and in the same locale under like circumstances. 

The conclusions provided by Centerline Communications, LLC are based solely on the information 

provided by AT&T Mobility and all observations in this report are valid on the date of the investigation. 

Any additional information that becomes available concerning the site should be provided to Centerline 

Communications, LLC so that our conclusions may be revised and modified, if necessary. This report has 

been prepared in accordance with Standard Conditions for Engagement and authorized proposal, both of 

which are integral parts of this report. No other warranty, expressed or implied, is made. 

 



























Airport letters in support, since last meeting and up to 3:00 PM Thursday 8/20/2020: 
https://www.dropbox.com/s/kfxie3acu2kgvj3/airport%20new%20letters%20in%20support.pdf? 

Airport letters in opposition, since last meeting and up to 3:00 Pm Thursday 8/20/2020: 
https://www.dropbox.com/s/5ol3cr9e70qggav/airport%20new%20letters%20opposed.pdf?dl=0 

New letters in support (since 8/24 meeting): 
https://www.dropbox.com/s/bvo4x45kha6fjzc/airport%20in%20support%20-%20new%20since%208-
24%20meeting.pdf?dl=0 

New letters in opposition (since 8/24 meeting): 
https://www.dropbox.com/s/l45jsebw2etni5j/airport%20in%20opposition%20-%20new%20since%208-
24%20meeting.pdf?dl=0 

2020

Continued on: August 10, August 24, September 14, September 21, 

October 26, and November 9, 2020 

Public Hearing was closed on October 26, 2020

TOWN OF GREAT BARRINGTON 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

The Great Barrington Selectboard will hold a Public Hearing on Monday, August 10, 2020 at 
6:30 pm, to act on the Special Permit application from Berkshire Aviation Enterprises, Inc., for 
a an aviation field in an R4 zone at 70 Egremont Plain Road, Great Barrington, per Sections 
3.1.4 E(1) and 10.4 of the Zoning Bylaw. A copy of the application is on file with the Town 
Clerk.  

The meeting will be held via remote video/teleconference and in accordance with current 
emergency health orders, in-person attendance at this hearing will not be permitted. 
Instructions for participating in the Hearing will be listed on the Selectboard’s August 10, 2020 
agenda, which will appear on the Town’s website, www.townofgb.org, at least 48 hours prior 
to the meeting, or you may call 413-528-1619, x. 2 to receive instructions.   

Stephen Bannon, Chair 

Please publish July 16 and July 23, 2020 
Berkshire Eagle 

Follow the link to see the application and supporting documents:  
https://www.dropbox.com/s/537qbbwmz67ct17/Airport%20SP%20application.pdf?dl=0 

Airport information submitted by applicant for August 24, 2020 meeting:  
20.pdfhttps://www.dropbox.com/s/m1lk817u0ne1r79/airport%20supplement%20filed%20August%2018%

Item 8. a.

http://www.townofgb.org/
https://www.dropbox.com/s/537qbbwmz67ct17/Airport%20SP%20application.pdf?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/s/m1lk817u0ne1r79/airport%20supplement%20filed%20August%2018%202020.pdf
https://www.dropbox.com/s/m1lk817u0ne1r79/airport%20supplement%20filed%20August%2018%202020.pdf
https://www.dropbox.com/s/kfxie3acu2kgvj3/airport%20new%20letters%20in%20support.pdf?
https://www.dropbox.com/s/5ol3cr9e70qggav/airport%20new%20letters%20opposed.pdf?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/s/bvo4x45kha6fjzc/airport%20in%20support%20-%20new%20since%208-24%20meeting.pdf?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/s/bvo4x45kha6fjzc/airport%20in%20support%20-%20new%20since%208-24%20meeting.pdf?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/s/l45jsebw2etni5j/airport%20in%20opposition%20-%20new%20since%208-24%20meeting.pdf?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/s/l45jsebw2etni5j/airport%20in%20opposition%20-%20new%20since%208-24%20meeting.pdf?dl=0


DRAFT for 11/23/20 meeting 

 
This second draft shows changes made on November 9, 2020 and is for deliberation at the November 23, 
2020 meeting.  
 
This is DRAFT document was written by staff for the Selectboard to deliberate with / upon.  The 
Selectboard should discuss all aspects of the document, and should edit the document in any way it feels 
is appropriate, including, but not limited, deleting information, making additional or different findings. 
The Board can deliberate about permit conditions as well.  
 
Staff comments for the Board may appear in underlined italics in throughout the document. 
 
Deliberations need not conclude in one meeting. The Board may take up to 90 days from the date it 
closed the Hearing to reach a decision and file the decision with the Town Clerk. A decision is therefore 
due not later than January 24, 2021.  
 
 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT A:  FINDINGS OF FACT         
 
Re:  Special Permit #909-20 
Applicant: Berkshire Aviation Enterprises, Inc.  
Site:  70 Egremont Plain Road 
 
A. Introduction 
 
The Special Permit application was filed on May 1, 2020 by Berkshire Aviation Enterprises, Inc. 
(“Applicant,” “Owner,” or, “Airport”) and seeks permission from the Town of Great Barrington 
Selectboard per Zoning Bylaw Sections 3.1.4 E(1), 7.2, and 10.4, to operate an Aviation Field in an R4 
zone, at 70 Egremont Plain Road (the Site), as described in the application narrative and associated plans. 
The airport is commonly referred to as the Walter J. Koladza Airport or the Great Barrington Airport. The 
Site is also within a Zone II of the Water Quality Protection Overlay District (WQPOD), set forth in the 
Zoning Bylaw at Section 9.2.  
 
In addition to seeking permission for an Aviation Field in this zone, the Airport’s proposal, as submitted 
to the Selectboard, includes a proposal to construct six new hangars north of the existing runway, as 
accessory buildings for principal permitted Aviation Field use. As shown on the Plans, Ffive of the 
proposed hangars are 50 feet wide by 147 feet long, each, for a total of 7,350 square feet each, and one of 
the hangars is 60 feet wide by 125 feet long, for a total of 7,500 square feet. The six hangars combined 
will total which equals a total of 44,250 square feet of new building area. The maximum height of each 
hangar is proposed to be 16 feet six inches, measured from finished grade to the top of the central ridge. 
The easternmost hangar, the one closest to Seekonk Cross Road, would be 1,181 feet west of the eastern 
property boundary on Seekonk Cross Road. The westernmost hangar would be 555 feet east of the 
westerly boundary. No new hangar would be located closer than 700 feet to an existing residential 
structure on any adjacent property.  
 
No other new structures are proposed. Associated with the hangars is the addition of new paved areas 
including driveways and airplane taxiways, with some gravel parking spaces near the new hangars, as 
well as associated stormwater management controls in the form of swales and shallow infiltration basins. 
As shown on the plans, a new driveway to the proposed hangars would be created from Seekonk Cross 



DRAFT for 11/23/20 meeting 
 
Exhibit A: Findings of Fact for SP 909-20, Berkshire Aviation Enterprises 
Page 2 of 13  
 
 
Road, and run westerly across the field to the hangar site.  
 
The Application materials, under cover letter dated April 20, 2020 from James Scalise, PE, of SK Design 
Group, Inc. (SKDG), included a narrative description of the airport history, operations, and applicable 
zoning requirements. The narrative also includes the Applicant’s response to applicable zoning 
requirements including Special Permit and Site Plan Review criteria of Sections 10.4 and 10.5, 
respectively. It also includes photometric lighting plan of the proposed lighting at the hangars and 
technical details of the proposed lighting fixtures, a Stormwater Report, dated March 2020 and prepared 
by SKDG, and a six-sheet set of engineering plans prepared by SKDG showing existing and proposed 
conditions in the area of the proposed hangar construction. The set of plans includes a scaled plot plan 
with dimensions, signed by Mr. Scalise, a licensed engineer, depicting the features of the property.  
 
The Application states that the site has in continuous use as an airport since the 1920s, the first hangar 
was erected in the early 1930s, and Great Barrington enacted its first zoning regulations in 1932. The 
Applicant states that the airport is a preexisting nonconforming use.  
 
The applicant filed a supplemental packet dated August 18, 2020, in response to Planning Board 
questions. It includes a cover letter from Mr. Scalise to the Planning Board, supplemental material to 
respond to the “Long Form” Special Permit application, and 9 attachments including traffic information, 
lighting, viewshed depictions of the proposed hangars, plans and elevations of the proposed hangars, cut 
and fill volumes associated with the hangar development, and other information requested by the 
Planning Board. This packet was submitted to both the Selectboard and the Planning Board.  
 
Subsequent letters from the Applicant’s Attorney, Dennis Egan of Cohen Kinne Valicenti Cook, dated 
August 21, September 18, and October 1, provide more information about the application, provide 
information about the proposal’s projected impacts, and they respond to questions posed by the 
Selectboard and by parties in opposition during sessions of the Public Hearing.  
 
Other relevant materials, submitted by parties other than the Applicant, include a September 29, 2020 
email from Denise J. Garcia, Director of Aviation Planning at the Mass DOT Aeronautics Division, to 
Great Barrington Assistant Town Manager Christopher Rembold, responding to seven questions posed by 
Mr. Rembold relating to the Town’s authority to regulate certain aspects of aviation uses, and an October 
2, 2020 Memorandum from Great Barrington Town Counsel David Doneski of KP Law regarding the 
applicability of Sections 7.2 and 9.2 to the Application. 
 
All written correspondence from parties in support and parties in opposition received by the Selectboard 
before the close of the public hearing are incorporated into the record of proceedings for this special 
permit.  
 
In general, supporters of the proposal expressed their support of the airport as an important component of 
the area economy and a use that provides important services such as the flight school and emergency 
services use, and that hangars would both protect the planes stored onsite and provide essential revenue 
for the airport to continue its operations.  
 
In general, opponents of the proposal, expressed concerns that the airport currently detracts from the rural 
residential character of the area because of noise from air traffic, but, particularly when it is used by 
louder airplanes and civilian and military helicopters, and that it threatens the natural environment of the 
Green River and the Town’s drinking water quality. Some opponents expressed concern about the safety 



DRAFT for 11/23/20 meeting 
 
Exhibit A: Findings of Fact for SP 909-20, Berkshire Aviation Enterprises 
Page 3 of 13  
 
 
of vehicles on roads adjacent to the airport runways, concern that permitting the use under zoning would 
lead to other activities at the site, or even a physical expansion of the airport and its operations, which in 
their opinion would be additionally detrimental to the neighborhood.  
 
The following comments from reviewing boards and commissions were received: 
The Conservation Agent responded via a voice message on July 22 to the Applicant that the project was 
outside of jurisdictional areas.  
The Board of Health found it had no jurisdictional concerns but suggested periodic lead testing of the soil 
on the property particular near the River and the hangars. 
The Planning Board made a positive recommendation on the special permit for the aviation use, while 
recommending the Selectboard require documentation about the Airport’s use and handling of hazardous 
materials, and if it grants the special permit, to consider limitations on the overall air traffic volume and 
types of aircraft. The Selectboard notes that the MassDOT September 29 correspondence advises the 
Selectboard that it does not have the authority to limit these aspects of airport use.  
 

 
B. General Findings 

 
Site Characteristics: The site is situated in an R4 zone on Egremont Plain Road and Seekonk Cross Road. 
It is bordered by these two roads, the Green River, and several residential properties. The site is also in a 
Zone II of the Water Quality Protection Overlay District. Land uses surrounding the airport are primarily 
single family residential and agricultural, as well as a private school located on West Plain Road. The 
character of the area is decidedly rural residential/agricultural, and this character is buttressed by the fact 
that some of the airport land itself is utilized for agriculture. However, the airport has existed at this site 
for many decadessince the early 1930s, and over that timethe past 90 years it has also become a part of 
the neighborhood character.  

 
The airport site consists of two principal parcels totaling 90.95 acres. These parcels are identified as 
Parcels 76 and 67 on Assessor’s Map 31. Parcel 76 is 3.25 acres and Parcel 67 is 87.7 acres various 
developed areas such as the runways, taxiways and parking lots, as well as existing buildings including 
the office or “terminal” and four hangar buildings (labelled on the site plans as existing hangar or existing 
building). Total impervious area, that is, area that is paved or covered with a building, as presented in 
August 18 supplement, is 325,416 square feet, or 8% of the 91.3 acre site. The balance of the site is 
wooded, lawn, or crop land. Other facilities on the site include the gas pumps, a self-service pump 
dispensing leaded aviation gas for airplane use. According to the August 18 supplement, Pproposed new 
impervious area is 153,010 square feet, bringing the total to 478,426 square feet, or 12% of the 90.951.3 
acre site.  
 
The length of the main paved runway is 2,572 linear feet. The Airport does not own, and, according to the 
September 29 correspondence from MassDOT, it is not required to own, any additional land on either end 
of the runway for purposes of a “runway safety area.”  

 
A portion of the Airport property is enrolled in the Chapter 61A program, providing for a reduced tax 
payment on those portions of the property in agricultural use. The Town’s Assessors’ records indicate that 
52.6 acres are in agricultural use. However, there is no map on file with the Town showing how much of 
the property, and which specific areas, are in agricultural use. It is reasonably clear that the proposed new 
hangars and access road would cause Chapter 61A land to be converted to a commercial use.  

 



DRAFT for 11/23/20 meeting 
 
Exhibit A: Findings of Fact for SP 909-20, Berkshire Aviation Enterprises 
Page 4 of 13  
 
 
Airport Uses: Proposed use of the site is for aviation in keeping with the current use. With the exception 
of the proposed hangar buildings, proposed to be located on the interior of the site far from adjacent 
residences, the Applicant does not propose to alter the character of the site, nor does it seek to 
substantially expand the airport use or operations. The current use of the site for aviation purposes 
consists of activities normally associated with an aviation field, including the following:  
 

1. Aircraft operations and types:  
 
There is no definitive record of how many flights occur at the Airport. The Airport itself does not 
systematically track daily operations, and numbers that are provided from the different sources 
vary widely. They are neither consistent nor reliable. According to MassDOT data, compiled in 
the MassDOT 2010 airport systems plan, there were 29,810 total operations (an operation is one 
takeoff or one landing) in 2008, for an average of 82 per day. The Mass DOT plan states the 
projected operations by 2020 are 39,603 annual operations, or an average of 109 per day. 
Information for the 12 month period ending August 28, 2019 on available on www.airnav.com 
indicates and average of 48 operations per day. In a September 18 letter, Applicant’s attorney 
states there are 10-15 takeoffs on weekdays, and 30-35 on weekends, depending on the weather.  
 
The type of aircraft using the site is mostly fixed wing single engine aircraft, with some 
helicopter and two engine craft. The runway is too short for jet aircraft.  
 
The Airport is used as needed by emergency medevac helicopters (e.g., Life Flight) to transport 
patients out of the area to other hospitals. 
 
The Airport is also used by US military helicopters training for night maneuvers. There is no 
formal agreement for this and it has been happening since before the current Airport owners took 
ownership. The airport is open to limits on these activities, which cause significant disruption to 
the neighborhood, and usually at night.  
 
The Applicant has stated that airport growth, measured in operations and in based aircraft, is very 
slow or flat, and it is expected to increase very slowly over timeit is not projected to increase 
significantly even with the new hangars..   
 

2. Aircraft storage and parking:  
 
Applicant states the actual count as of July 2020 was 48. www.airnav.com states there are 44 
based aircraft, and MassDOT projects 51 aircraft (in 2015).  
 
Storage is both indoors and outside. Indoor storage is preferred by many aircraft owners since it 
provides security and protection from the weather for the aircraft, which are often expensive. 
Indoor storage also provides more rental income to the Airport than outdoor storage. According 
to data submitted by the Applicant, there are 30 tie-downs available on the airport grounds, with 
25 in use, and theoretically many more tie downs could be created on the grounds. Applicant 
states there are 23 aircraft in hangars, tightly parked.  
 
Applicant proposes to add six hangars which would accommodate 33 planes, total. Some of those 
existing outdoor and indoor craft would use the proposed new hangars. The Application 
specifically states that the proposal is to convert grass aircraft parking to indoor hangar parking.  

http://www.airnav.com/
http://www.airnav.com/


DRAFT for 11/23/20 meeting 
 
Exhibit A: Findings of Fact for SP 909-20, Berkshire Aviation Enterprises 
Page 5 of 13  
 
 
   

3. Aircraft maintenance and fueling:  
 
The Airport employs mechanics and conducts maintenance of aircraft in the existing maintenance 
hangars. It stores oil, solvents and other potentially hazardous materials in accordance with 
appropriate standards which have been approved by the Fire Department.  
 
Airplanes refuel at the Airport via on-site, self-serve pumps dispensing unleaded and leaded fuel. 
The fuel is stored underground in a recently upgraded double-wall tank. The replacement 
underground storage tanks for the aviation fuel was completed in conformance with the 
requirements of the WQPOD (9.2.11, 2). The unleaded fuel was added at that time.  
 
While leaded airplane fuel does pollute the air, there is no evidence that the leaded fuel has 
polluted or is a threat to the public water supply managed by the Great Barrington Fire District. 
Nor, based on soil tests, is there evidence that the airport grounds are contaminated.  
 
The August 18, 2020 supplement provides a description of hazardous materials from planes and 
the maintenance shop. It states that the shop has a 55-fallon drum for used oil, and that the new 
hangars will have barrels to collect waste or contaminated fuel.  
 

4. Airport office: 
 
The existing office building houses the flight school and administrative functions. A private well 
and septic system serve the office uses. The building dates from approximately 1950. It is a 
nonconforming structure due to a nonconforming front yard setback from Egremont Plain Road.  

 
5. Other: 

 
The Airport has been used for annual “fly-in” events and other one-day temporary special 
community events, with the prior approval of the Selectboard. Additional facilities such as 
portable toilets are provided in these instances to serve the attendees. 
 
The Applicant has stated that uses not permitted in the R4 zoning district are not permitted at this 
site. And “event venue” is not a permitted use in the R4 district.  

 
Traffic: There are no current concerns related to traffic safety other than where the runway begins at 
Seekonk Cross Road (see below), or congestion, or traffic impacts caused by the Airport, with the 
exception of some overflow parking near the office/terminal building during special events. Access to the 
proposed hangars would be via a new driveway from Seekonk Cross Road. Existing vehicle traffic to the 
airport is relatively low and the proposed hangars are projected to add 1 to 2 cars per hour on a typical 
day. This is based on data compiled for the Town by the Berkshire Regional Planning Commission 
(BRPC) in 2010 and 2014.  

 
Utilities: The Airport is served by an existing private well for drinking water and an existing septic 
system for sewage disposal. There are no public health concerns caused by the on-site drinking water or 
waste disposal systems.  

 
Stormwater: There are no stormwater concerns at the Airport. Material provided by the Applicant 



DRAFT for 11/23/20 meeting 
 
Exhibit A: Findings of Fact for SP 909-20, Berkshire Aviation Enterprises 
Page 6 of 13  
 
 
indicates the amount of existing and proposed impervious surfaces, soil types, etc. and indicates that the 
site will be able to infiltrate all stormwater that falls on the site. The Applicant stated that the Airport does 
not use salt or other material to deice the runways. The Application includes a stormwater study and 
stormwater management devices to control runoff near the proposed new hangars. 

 
Groundwater: The 2003 Source Water Assessment and Protection (SWAP) Report for the Great 
Barrington Fire District lists the airport as a potential high threat to the water supply, as does the Master 
Plan. However, there are no known concerns of groundwater contamination caused by the airport use. The 
underground fuel tank has leak detection, and there have been no known leaks. There have been no 
known reportable spills from the gas pumps. The SWAP is discussed further, below.   
 
Proposed New Hangars: As discussed above, six new hangars building are proposed to be located north of 
the runway, near the spot where the existing clamshell hangar is now located. The site plans showing the 
proposed location also show the size of the hangars and the extent of pavement and site disturbance 
necessary to construct and use the hangars.  
 
Five of the proposed hangars are 50 feet wide by 147 feet long, each, for a total of 7,350 square feet each, 
and one of the hangars is 60 feet wide by 125 feet long, for a total of 7,500 square feet. The six hangars 
combined will total which equals a total of 44,250 square feet of new building area. The maximum height 
of each hangar is proposed to be 16 feet six inches, measured from finished grade to the top of the central 
ridge. The easternmost hangar, the one closest to Seekonk Cross Road, would be 1,181 feet west of the 
eastern property boundary on Seekonk Cross Road. The westernmost hangar would be 555 feet east of the 
westerly boundary. No new hangar would be located closer than 700 feet to an existing residential 
structure on any adjacent property. 
 
Associated with the hangars would be the addition of new paved areas including driveways and airplane 
taxiways, with some gravel parking spaces near the new hangars, as well as associated stormwater 
management controls in the form of swales and shallow infiltration basins. As shown on the plans, a new 
driveway to the proposed hangars would be created from Seekonk Cross Road, and run westerly across 
the field to the hangar site.  
 
Proposed new impervious area (hangars and driveway areas) is 153,010 square feet, bringing the total 
impervious site coverage to 478,426 square feet, or 12% of the 91.3 acre site. 
 
The new hangars will not be used for office use or aircraft maintenance. The hangars would have low 
level exterior lighting and interior lights.   
 
The hangars may be allowed as an accessory use or structure to the principal use, in the event that the 
principal use is lawful (see Section 3.2.1 of the Zoning Bylaw.) In this case, the principal use is the 
subject of this Special Permit, and it is reasonable that the Selectboard consider any proposed new 
accessory structures during the Special Permit process; the location and impacts of the proposed hangars 
may be regulated as part and parcel of the overall Special Permit.  
 
The proposed hangar location is outside of Natural Heritage and Endangered Species Program (NHESP) 
jurisdictional area and outside the 200-foot Riverfront area of the Green River.  It is also within 500 feet 
of the Green River, which is listed in the Great Barrington Wetlands Regulations, at Section 217-14.1, as 
a resource area subject to protection under the local Wetlands Bylaw. A permit from the Conservation 
Commission would be required prior to hangar construction. 



DRAFT for 11/23/20 meeting 
 
Exhibit A: Findings of Fact for SP 909-20, Berkshire Aviation Enterprises 
Page 7 of 13  
 
 

 
Water Quality Protection Overlay District: Section 9.2 of the Zoning Bylaw regulates uses in the 
WQPOD, and the site is in a Zone II regulated area. These regulations and their applicability are 
discussed in Section D., below.  
 
C. Findings related to Section 7.2, Aviation Fields  
 
The Town has the authority to regulate Aviation Fields as a land use under Section 7.2 of the zoning 
bylaw. The Town may not regulate activities that are under the jurisdiction of the FAA or MassDOT. (See 
the September 29 email from MassDOT).  
 
Section 7.2 states, in part, “Any aviation field, public or private, with essential accessories, shall comply 
with the following special requirements: It shall be so located that it is not likely to become 
objectionable to adjoining and nearby property because of noise, traffic or other objectionable 
condition.” As the airport is already an existing use, Town Counsel’s advice to the Board in his October 
2, 2020 memo, is to apply this language not to the existing use but rather applied “to measure whether 
whatever is proposed to be added to the existing operation, such as the hangars, would result in the 
operation of the airport becoming more “objectionable” than at present.” 
 
The Selectboard has heard through many written and oral comments that there the existing airport 
operations are objectionable because of noise. Many of these comments were from Great Barrington 
residents, but and many of them do not live near the airport. It has also heard some comments that the 
noise is not objectionable. And finally, the Board has not heard from every abutter of the airport, only 
some. Presumably some neighbors do not find the noise objectionable.  
 
The Board has heard some comments that the proposed hangars would be objectionable based on their 
location in the view shed, based on their industrial design and appearance, based on the proposed lighting, 
and based on their location within 500 feet of the Green River.  
 
The Applicant has stated that airport growth is low, and that the new hangars will not increase this growth 
or add to the airport daily takeoffs and landings. Opponents do not agree with this statement, considering 
that more hangars will mean more planes, more take offs and landings, and more noise in addition to the 
already existing conditions.  
 
The Selectboard finds  the there would be no new objectionable environmental from the new hangars. The 
hangars would improve some environmental conditions by putting planes indoors, on concrete floors, 
without floor drains, and with proper stormwater and erosion controls. They would not lead to more 
significantly exacerbate these objectionable environmental conditions, even accounting for a possible 
minor amount of fuel in barrels in the hangars, which could be prohibited by this Board in any case. Other 
environmental impacts of the hangars might include loss of agricultural land, impacts to the viewshed, 
and increase in impervious surface, even if the total impervious surface remains below the WQPOD 
special permit threshold.  
 
There are infrequent but dangerous plane-vehicle interactions at the end of the runway at Seekonk Cross 
Road, however. The hangars may increase, slightly, the traffic to the hangars and the number of planes 
operations, and this might increase the frequency of plane – vehicle interactions on Seekonk Cross Road. 
Unless air traffic is limited or safety measures are put in place, the Selectboard would find that the 
frequency of dangerous situations may be increased.  



DRAFT for 11/23/20 meeting 
 
Exhibit A: Findings of Fact for SP 909-20, Berkshire Aviation Enterprises 
Page 8 of 13  
 
 
 
However, as to noise and daily operations, the Selectboard finds there is no way to measure the possible 
impact of the hangars on daily operations and resulting noise. Indeed, as stated previously, there is no 
definitive way to quantify what is occurring now, without the proposed hangars. Without more 
information, the Selectboard cannot arrive at a conclusion that would support the notion that the hangars 
will not lead to more objectionable conditions.  

 
D. Findings related to Section 9.2, WQPOD 

 
As stated previously, the Airport is a use that is listed as a high potential threat to the Town’s public water 
supply. According to the 2003 Source Water Assessment Program Report for the Great Barrington Fire 
District water supply system (the SWAP report) “The overall ranking of susceptibility to contamination 
for the system is high, based on the presence of at least one high threat land use within the water supply 
protection areas, as seen in Table 2.” In actuality, there are several uses, not just the Airport, listed as high 
threats, including manure, fertilizers, airports, body shops,  and various underground storage tanks. In 
fact, the Airport use, including the existing fuel tanks and the hangars, are located further away from the 
public drinking water supply than other potential threats which include agricultural runoff (e.g., manure 
and pesticides), road salt, and underground home heating oil tanks.  
 
Section 9.2.12 sets forth the uses and activities that require a WQPOD special permit. There are three 
items to this subsection:  
 

1. Enlargement or alteration of existing uses that do not conform to the WQPOD; 
2. Those activities that involve the handling of toxic or hazardous materials in quantities greater 

than those associated with normal household use, permitted in the underlying zoning district 
(except as prohibited hereunder). Such activities shall require a special permit to prevent 
contamination of groundwater; 

3. Any use that will render impervious more than 15% of any lot or parcel or 2,500 square feet, 
whichever is greater. 

 
Finding Relative to item 1:  If the airport activities included any of the “Prohibited Uses” set forth in 
Section 9.2.8, then it would be a “use that does not conform” to the WQPOD. The airport does not consist 
of any of the applicable activatesactivities. For example, while there may generation, treatment, or 
storage of hazardous waste, the airport is listed by MassDEP as a very small quantity generator, and this 
is specifically excepted. Also, while there is storage of liquid petroleum, it is stored in accordance with 
the WQPOD, and so this is also excepted. No other prohibited uses occur at the Airport. Therefore a 
Special Permit under item 1 is not required.  
 
Finding Relative to item 2: As discussed previously, the Airport provides fuel for airplanes and 
maintenance, and potentially hazardous materials and petroleum products including unleaded and leaded 
fuel and solvents are stored on site, in quantities greater than those for normal household use. Adding 
hangars that may have even one more barrel of waste fuel or add more plan to the number of based 
aircraft, would therefore require a Special Permit under this item.  
 
Finding Relative to item 3:  As discussed previously, the current impervious coverage is 8%, and with the 
proposed new impervious area (hangars and driveway areas), the total will be 12% of the 91.3 acre site. 
These are the figures provided by the SKDG for the Applicant. The Town Planner, utilizing the muni 
mapper GIS software, has confirmed that the existing and proposed new will not total more than 15%. A 



DRAFT for 11/23/20 meeting 
 
Exhibit A: Findings of Fact for SP 909-20, Berkshire Aviation Enterprises 
Page 9 of 13  
 
 
Special Permit under item 3 is not required. 
 
In summary, the Selectboard finds a WQPOD Special Permit is required to add the hangars because item 
2 is triggered.  
 
E. Findings related to Section 10.4, Special Permits  
 
Section 10.4.2 of the Zoning Bylaw, criteria for the granting of a special permit, requires a written 
determination by the Special Permit Granting Authority “that the adverse effects of the proposed use will 
not outweigh its beneficial impacts to the town or the neighborhood, in view of the particular 
characteristics of the site, and of the proposal in relation to that site.” This determination shall include 
consideration of the following six criteria: 
 

1. Social, economic, or community needs which are served by the proposal; 
2. Traffic flow and safety, including parking and loading; 
3. Adequacy of utilities and other public services; 
4. Neighborhood character and social structures; 
5. Impacts on the natural environment; and, 
6. Potential fiscal impact, including impact on town services, tax base, and employment. 

 
The Board’s considerations in relation each of these criteria are detailed below. These considerations 
include the existing airport operations as well as the proposed hangars.  
 

1. Social, economic, or community needs which are served by the proposal. 
 
Finding 1: The Airport serves the Town of Great Barrington and the regional area by providing 
employment for 12 employees, and a convenient and safe place for medical air evacuations and 
disaster response. It provides convenient access to the Town and region for travelers from 
destinations across the country. Numerous letters in support of the existing airport and its flight 
school have been received by the Selectboard, overwhelmingly from non- Great Barrington residents.  
 
The Airport is an important component of the local and regional economic, transportation, and 
emergency network. The Airport conforms with those aspects of the Town’s Master Plan that call for 
balancing rural living with the amenities of an urban community and which encourage economic 
flexibility, the retention and attraction of businesses, and the provision and maintenance of a strong 
transportation network.  
 
All of the above benefits exists now, and , neither the proposed conforming status nor and the 
proposed hangars will not better serve these needs. Similarly the Applicant states that operation of the 
hangars will not necessitate significant increases in airport staffing.  
 
The Airport provides aircraft fueling, tie-down areas for aircraft parking, hangar storage, aircraft 
sales, aviation instruction, aircraft maintenance, charter flights, and sightseeing tours. The proposed 
new hangars are advantageous for the airport in that they will supplement the airport income, and will 
protect airplanes and related equipment.  
 
Some of these uses are beneficial to the community at large in an intangible way, but the Board 
cannot make a solid specific monetary determination in that regard. Certainly some of these activities, 



DRAFT for 11/23/20 meeting 
 
Exhibit A: Findings of Fact for SP 909-20, Berkshire Aviation Enterprises 
Page 10 of 13  
 
 

as well as the proposed hangars, benefit only the owners and the users, most of whom are not Great 
Barrington residents,  users and owners of the facility but not the community at large.  
 
2. Traffic flow and safety, including parking and loading. 
 
Finding 2: The Airport is located at the corner of Egremont Plain Road and Seekonk Cross Road, 
which safely accommodate traffic to and from the Airport. The proposed hangars will add minimal 
traffic or safety concerns to the roadways. 
 
There is no fence or anything else planned to keep people, in cars or on foot, from crossing the 
runways to get to the airport office. This creates a potentially dangerous situation.  
 
There has been testimony and letters regarding the unsafe condition of planes using the eastern end of 
the runway at Seekonk Cross Road. The Board has heard that there have been near misses, but there 
have also been some documented collisions. The Board agrees this is not a safe condition, but it 
cannot relocate the runways or the roadways, nor does it have the authority to regulate the number or 
timing of airport takeoff and landing operations.  
 
What about safety on the airfield itself, with people crossing the runways from the hangars? Is that an 
issue for this Board? 
If the Board believes the situation will not be exacerbated, and permit conditions could ensure safety, 
it could consider conditions.  
 
3. Adequacy of utilities and other public services. 
 
Finding 3:  The utilities and services are adequate to serve the existing use as well as the proposed 
hangars.  
 
4. Neighborhood character and social structures. 
 
Finding 4:  The Airport claims to havehas been in operation as an airfield since 1931. The Board 
notes it is not this Board’s jurisdiction to determine whether or not the Airport is a preexisting 
nonconforming use—that would be a ZBA decision—that no evidence was presented in the public 
record indicates that the use of this site as an airport predates the Zoning Bylaw. If the ZBA 
foundinds that it is a legally preexisting nonconforming use, then the use could continue in operation 
in its current manner, and in fact would have latitude to grow in an incremental manner without that 
growth being considered a change or expansion. 
 
It is true that some residences in the area predate the Airport; it is equally true that other homes were 
built after the Airport began operations. The predominant character of the area is rural residential and 
agricultural, and the Airport is also an established part of the neighborhood, and has been 
acknowledged as such by supporters and opponents of this application. However the Selectboard 
finds that the airport is in a residential/agricultural zone; the residences and farms are not in an airport 
zone. 
 
The proposed hangars are relatively large, compared to a typical single family home. But While 
compared to a dairy barns in the area, or compared to large residences, also in the area, these are not 
necessarily out of place, but they are industrial in appearance which does not fit in…. In addition, the 



DRAFT for 11/23/20 meeting 
 
Exhibit A: Findings of Fact for SP 909-20, Berkshire Aviation Enterprises 
Page 11 of 13  
 
 

lighting of and quantity of the hangars ensure that Ttheir placement, and arrangement, as shown in the 
Application, will be visible.  
 
Neighbors as well as GB residents who don’t live near the airport have complained about noise and 
other impacts including: light shining into their homes from runway lights, unsafe flying, low-flying 
planes over homes and Seekonk Cross Rd, helicopters hovering over homes, use of the runway for car 
racing, unsafe touch and go landings which violate FAA regulations, early morning and late night 
flights, and many other complaints. 
 
Neighbors complain of non-adherence to the noise-mitigating flight path. Airport owners have tried to 
enforce it but state that they cannot prevent pilots from ignoring it. 
 
 
Will they present a significant new and objectionable views?  
There is one smaller old hangar there now, and a clamshell hangar.  
The hangars are not as high as the existing one. They won’t prevent views of open ground, the sky, or 
distant mountains. But they they are also industrial type buildings, with lights, where there is one 
barn hangar and one clamshell now.   
 
Based on testimony received during the public hearing, however, the Selectboard also finds that 
significant growth at the Airport beyond its current level of use and type of operations, including 
types of aircraft, could further detract from the rural residential/agricultural character of the area. This 
would be in direct conflict with the Town’s Master Plan, whose first “core initiative” is to protect the 
special places and features that contribute to Great Barrington’s distinctive character. Furthermore, 
the Town’s land use goals, as expressed in the Master Plan, do not envision this as a commercial or 
industrial area. The Master Plan specifically states, relative to the Airport, that “any activity, growth, 
or development here must be regulated to protect the town’s water supply, and to ensure uses are 
compatible with residential and agricultural neighbors.”  
 
If the Board moves to grant a permit, a condition on the number of hangars, number of based 
aircraft, number and timing of operations including flight school, types of aircraft such as military 
helicopters, and future growth may be appropriate, notwithstanding the MassDOT’s letter regarding 
what the Town can and cannot regulate.  
 
 
5. Impacts on the natural environment. 
 
Finding 5: Although the Airport is within the WQPOD, the wellhead for the Town’s drinking water 
supply provided by the Great Barrington Fire District Water Department is more than a mile away 
and is separated from the Airport by both Seekonk Cross Road and Hurlburt Road, and is on the 
opposite side of the Green River. The past and current use of leaded av-gas may contribute to 
background levels or air or water contamination; however, an acute harm to the local environment has 
not been demonstrated. On the contrary, soil lead tests at the airport show otherwise.   
 
The location of the proposed hangars will impact some agricultural land, how much and how 
productive is not known. The hangars will disturb land within 500 feet of the Green River, an area 
under the jurisdiction of the Conservation Commission per local wetland bylaws.  
 



DRAFT for 11/23/20 meeting 
 
Exhibit A: Findings of Fact for SP 909-20, Berkshire Aviation Enterprises 
Page 12 of 13  
 
 

Neighbors complain about vibration, and light and noise pollution caused by airport operations. Any 
future increase in airport activity, even if minimal as predicted by MassDOT, is likely to increase this 
environmental disturbance. 
 
The hangars will presumably increase the number of planes, noise, and lights, all of which are more 
harmful than beneficial to the natural environment. 
 
The potential for increased use of the airport’s maintenance facility is likely to increase the amount of 
hazardous waste material in the WQPOD. 
 
There is a gas pump that is available 24 hours, even when the airport is unstaffed, and there will be 
barrels with waste gasoline inside the hangars. Both pose a risk of spills which may not be reported. 
 
 
6. Potential fiscal impact, including impact on town services, tax base, and employment. 
 
Finding 6: The Airport has a positive economic and fiscal impact in that it provides employment, 
some real estate taxes, and draws people to the area who support local and regional businesses. And 
the proposed new hangars will add to the tax base. The Town Assessor estimates that the new hangars 
would increase tax revenue by more than $45,000 per year.  
 
There are over 52 acres of airport land in the Chapter 61A program. For FY21, this Chapter 61A 
acreage was assessed at less than $196 per acre and paid just over $163 in real estate tax. If the land 
was not in Chapter 61A and assessed at 5,000 per acre, it would have paid over $4,100 in real estate 
tax.  
 
On the other hand, comments received by the Board indicate that residential property values will 
decrease if the airport is permitted and the new hangars are built. While this is speculative—there has 
been no evidence presented for these claims—it is not reasonable to assume that future buyers will 
not be as bothered by airport as current owners.  
 
Building hangars and taking land out of Chapter 61A will increase tax revenue to the Town. 
However, they may also decrease the revenue from the adjacent real estate tax base. There is not a 
clear fiscal positive or a clear fiscal negative for this project.  
 
If the permit is granted and the hangars built, in order to ensure the Town is paid the proper Ch61A 
roll back, the amount of land enrolled in the Chapter 61A program must be properly documented and 
any reduction of that amount should be subject to roll back taxes or the Town’s right of first refusal, 
as applicable under Chapter 61A.  
 
 
Section 10.4 Finding: 
 
In consideration of the above Findings, the Selectboard finds that the benefits of the proposal do not 
weight the potential detriments.  
 
Outweigh potential detrimental impacts? 
Do not outweigh the impacts? 



DRAFT for 11/23/20 meeting 
 
Exhibit A: Findings of Fact for SP 909-20, Berkshire Aviation Enterprises 
Page 13 of 13  
 
 

Only outweigh if conditions are added to control it?  
Not enough information to reach a positive decision? 
  
 
The Selectboard finds that the certain conditions are required to ensure the overall benefits continue 
to occur and that potential detrimental impacts are minimized and eliminated where reasonable. 
 
Proposed Conditions: 
 
 
1. A Water Quality Protection Overlay District Special Permit from the Selectboard is required 
prior to the construction of any hangars or increase in impervious surfaces. 
2. Grant of this Special Permit is for the aviation use as currently exists at the site plus six new 
hangars in the proposed location.  
3. Grant of this Special Permit does not obviate the need for permits from the Planning Board or 
Conservation Commission, or any other local, state, or federal permit, as may be required. 
4. The Owner shall provide to the Selectboard and the Assessors a map and calculation of the 
amount of land in the Chapter 61A program. If it is determined that there is less in qualifying use 
than is currently enrolled in the program, the difference shall be subject to any applicable 
conveyance or roll back taxes.  
5. There shall be no increase in the length of the existing runways. 
6. Expansion of any existing buildings by more than 250 square feet shall require a special permit.  
7. There shall be no restaurant or food service conducted at the premises except as may be catered 
for events that have been permitted by the Selectboard. 
8. There shall be no retail sales at the premises.  
9. There shall be no more than _____ planes based or stored on the premises. 
10. There shall not be more than _____ flight school planes in the air at any one time. 
11. There shall be no jet aircraft on the premises at any time. 
12. There shall be no more than ______ average daily aircraft operations on an annual basis. 
13. There shall be no temporary entertainment events. 
14.1. Use of the airport for training purposes by military aircraft shall not occur on weekends, 
and shall not occur on any day after dusk or before dawn.  



SP # 909-20 

Special Permit application from Berkshire Aviation Enterprises, Inc., for an aviation field in an R4 zone 
at 70 Egremont Plain Road, Great Barrington, per Sections 3.1.4 E(1) and 10.4 of the Zoning Bylaw.  

DRAFT MOTIONS 

1. VOTE ON FINDIINGS

(If the Board has amended the Findings based on the Public Hearing and its discussion, be sure to specify
those changes and approve the findings “as amended.”)

Move to approve the Findings of Fact for Special Permit application 909-20 [as written, or, as
amended] and referenced as Exhibit A.

Second: __________

Roll call vote: Davis ____ Cooke _____ 
Abrahams ____ Bannon  ____ 

2. VOTE ON SPECIAL PERMIT

In view of the approved Findings of Fact, move to deny Special Permit application 909-20 from
Berkshire Aviation Enterprises, Inc., for an aviation field in an R4 zone at 70 Egremont Plain
Road.

Second: __________ 

Roll call vote: Davis ____ Burke _____ Cooke _____ 
Abrahams ____ Bannon  ____ 



 
 
 

TOWN OF GREAT BARRINGTON 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 

 
The Great Barrington Selectboard will hold a Public Hearing on Monday, November 9, 2020 at 
6:00 pm, to act on the Special Permit application from Coastal Cultivars, LLC, 399 Boylston 
Street, 6th Floor, Boston, MA, 02116, to locate a retail marijuana establishment at 454 Main 
Street, Great Barrington, closer than 200 feet to the property of a private school. The special 
permit application is filed per Sections 7.18.4.3 and 10.4 of the Zoning Bylaw. A copy of the 
application is on file with the Town Clerk.  
 
The meeting will be held via remote video/teleconference, and in accordance with current 
emergency health orders, in-person attendance will not be permitted. Instructions for 
participating in the Hearing will be listed on the Selectboard’s November 9, 2020 agenda, which 
will appear on the Town’s website, www.townofgb.org, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting, or 
you may call 413-528-1619, x. 2 to receive instructions.   
 
 
Stephen Bannon, Chair 
 
 
 
Please publish October 14 and October 21, 2020 
Berkshire Eagle 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.townofgb.org/


*Also admitted in Florida 
◊ Also admitted in Texas 
 
Document in ProLaw 

             LAZAN GLOVER & PUCILOSKI LLP 
                      BOSTON • GREAT BARRINGTON 

 
DAVID M. LAZAN* 

PETER L. PUCILOSKI 
ALEXANDRA H. GLOVER 
ADRIENNE L. ARNOLD 

_________ 
 

OF COUNSEL 
SCOTT A. SANES◊  

JAMES B. MCLINDON 

________________________ 
 

785 MAIN STREET 
GREAT BARRINGTON, MA  01230 

TELEPHONE 413-644-0200 
FAX 413-644-0201 
www.lazanlaw.com 

 

 
Peter L. Puciloski 

Email 
puciloski@lazanlaw.com  

 

 
Delivered in Hand 
 
October 5, 2020 
 
Mr. Stephen Bannon 
Chair, Selectboard 
Brandee Nelson 
Chair, Planning Board 
Great Barrington 
334 Main St. 
Great Barrington, MA 01230 
 
 
 
 Re: Site Plan Review and Special Permit Application/454 Main St. 
 
Dear Mr. Bannon: 
 
 Enclosed herewith is the application of Coastal Cultivars, LLC for a special 

permit to operate a retail cannabis establishment at the above address. The special permit 

is requested for a reduction in the setback requirement between a cannabis establishment 

and a school. §7.18.4.1 requires a 200 foot setback from the establishment to the school; 

§7.18.4.2 requires that the distance be measured in a straight line from the closest point of 

one property to the closest point of the other. 

 1. Basis of Special Permit Application  

mailto:puciloski@lazanlaw.com


2 
182179.doc 

The use is permitted as of right in the district. However, this is a highly unusual 

situation. The John Dewey Academy is located on a parcel of land that exceeds 62 acres. 

While a waiver of this requirement is necessary, the actual distance between the applicant 

property and the John Dewey Academy is 942 feet. In fact, the Academy is closer in 

distance to Calyx Berkshire Dispensary at 307 Main St. than it is to the applicant 

location. The proximate portion of the Academy property is not used by the school, and is 

separated from the applicant location by a four-lane State Highway, a sidewalk and a 

rather imposing wall of about 8 foot in height.. 

2. Description of the Project 

  The applicant, Coastal Cultivars LLC, seeks to operate a retail marijuana 

establishment on the first floor of 454 Main St. The first floor is 2215 ft.². There will be 

no exterior changes to the building or the grounds. 

 As the jewelry business consisted of a showroom and back office space and 

required a high degree of security, use as a cannabis retailer will not require any 

significant alterations. In fact, the only exterior change will be replacement of the current 

sign with a sign announcing this retail establishment, at the existing sign location. The 

locus will otherwise be indistinguishable from its present condition. 

 The owners of the premises have been attempting to sell the building since the 

closure of the jewelry business. It is a prime retail location and the owner has received 

significant offers for the property. However, the offers entail demolition of the existing 

building and construction of a “big box” retail store. The present proposal may be the 

only viable way of maintaining the current building. 

 3. Consistency with Master Plan 



3 
182179.doc 

Coastal’s use satisfies many of the objectives of the town’s Master Plan. 

Preservation and adaptive reuse are express objectives of the Master Plan. In particular, 

this building qualifies as an “historic treasure of the architectural landscape.” This 

proposal would preserve the historic beauty of one of the principal gateways to the 

Downtown. It will preserve a highly visible gateway location in accordance with 

Economic Development Goal 5 and preserve an historical and cultural asset in 

accordance with Historic and Cultural Goal 1. Further, revenue derived from the Host 

Community Agreement and the 3% local retail sales tax will provide significant revenue 

for the town to address its aging infrastructure. 

The building at 454 Main Street was restored and preserved without taxpayer 

funds, and brought back onto the town’s tax roll for the first time in 90 years. The best 

way to preserve this building is to have a viable business utilizing this unique space. The 

Gothic Revival building was built as a home 170 years ago and is now an architectural 

treasure. Located at the gateway to Great Barrington, it is a prominent landmark that 

contributes to the beauty and character that are emblematic of Great Barrington’s 

distinctive brand. The unique nature of the building makes it’s reuse very challenging. It 

is not protected by historic restrictions, and could be razed by right. The ONLY other 

party interested in this property at a major intersection and southern gateway to the town 

has been a big box developer. This proposal will bring a viable business to Great 

Barrington, add significantly to the tax revenue and preserve a landmark historic building 

from being razed for a big box store. 

       Very truly yours, 
 
 
       Peter L. Puciloski 



4 
182179.doc 

 
 
 
Enclosures 

SUBMISSION 
 

1 Cover letter, including description of the project, relief sought and conformity to 
Master plan. 
2. Application, signed by Owner and Applicant. 
3. Site plan review dated December 12, 2013 and minutes of Planning Board meeting of 
even date. 
4. Site plan review dated August 20, 2014 and minutes of Planning Board meeting of 
June 12, 2014 
4. Photo of existing Building 
5. Site plan and ortho photo 
6. Certified list of abutters. 
7. Excerpt from zoning map. 
8. Excerpt from USGS topo. 
9. Topo  from Mass. GIS. 
10. Provisional license for operation in Wareham. 
11. Letter of support from Director of Planning and Community Development, Town of 
Wareham 
12. Letter of support from David Baum, Head of School, John Dewey Academy. 
13. Letter of Intent 
14. Description of applicant’s operations in other locations. 
15. Our firm check in the amount of $150. 
 
N.B. there are no changes proposed to landscaping, drainage, or exterior security. 
 





DocuSign Envelope ID: C70A253A-CF34-493B-A94D-0B3A4E314256











































 

454 MAIN ST. SITE PLAN 











 
 
 
 
 

 
 

    
 

Provisional License Executive Summary 1 

COASTAL CULTIVARS, LLC 
MCN282052 

 
 
BACKGROUND & APPLICATION OF INTENT REVIEW 
 
1. Name and address of the proposed Marijuana Establishment: 
 

Coastal Cultivars, LLC 
0 Patterson Brook Road, Wareham, MA 02576 

 
2. Type of license sought (if cultivation, its tier level and outside/inside operation) and 

information regarding the application submission: 
 

Cultivation - Tier 11/Outdoor (90,001 to 100,000 sq. ft) 
 

The application was reopened twice (2) for additional information. 
 

3. The applicant is a licensee or applicant for other Marijuana Establishment and/or Medical 
Marijuana Treatment Center license(s): 

 
Type Status Location  

Product Manufacturing Application Submitted Wareham 
 
4. List of all required individuals and their business roles in the Marijuana Establishment: 

 
Individual Role 

Ben Smith  Owner / Partner  
Jose Breton  Owner / Partner  
Jarrad Glennon Owner / Partner  

 
5. List of all required entities and their roles in the Marijuana Establishment: 
 

Entity Role 
Samoel Ventures, LLC Entity with Direct/Indirect Authority  
Greenfin LLC Entity with Direct/Indirect Authority 

 
6. Applicant’s priority status: 

 



 
 

   
Provisional License Executive Summary 2 

Expedited Applicant (License Type)  
 
7. The applicant and municipality executed a Host Community Agreement on March 21, 2019.  

 
8. The applicant conducted a community outreach meeting on December 19, 2018 and 

provided documentation demonstrating compliance with Commission regulations.  
 
9. The Commission received a municipal response from the municipality on April 1, 2020 

stating the applicant was in compliance with all local ordinances or bylaws.  
 

10. The applicant proposed the following goals for its Positive Impact Plan: 
 

# Goal 
1 Employ at least 25% of its employees from geographic areas of 

disproportionate impact, specifically Wareham, MA, or individuals who 
personally have, or have spouses that have, drug convictions. 

2 Host bi-annual industry-specific educational programs to assist individuals 
who have been negatively impacted by cannabis prohibition. 

 
SUITABILITY REVIEW 
 
11. There were disclosures of any past civil or criminal actions, occupational license issues, or 

marijuana-related business interests in other jurisdictions. None of the disclosures raised 
suitability issues. 

 
12. There were no concerns arising from background checks on the individuals or entities 

associated with the application. 
 
MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS REVIEW 
 
13. The applicant states that it can be operational within six (6) months of receiving the 

provisional license(s). 
 
14. The applicant’s proposed hours of operation are the following: 
 

Monday – Sunday: 8:00 a.m. – 8:00 p.m.  
 
15. The applicant submitted all applicable and required summaries of plans, policies, and 

procedures for the operation of the proposed establishment. The summaries were determined 
to be substantially compliant with the Commission’s regulations.  
 

16. The applicant proposed the following goals for its Diversity Plan: 
 

# Goal 



 
 

   
Provisional License Executive Summary 3 

1 Employ at least 25% of individuals that are female, minority, veteran, disabled, 
and/or individuals’ part of the LGBTQ community. 

2 Have a management team comprised of 25% of female, minority, veteran, 
disabled, and/or individuals’ part of the LGBTQ community. 

3 Provide charitable donations to the Disabled American Veterans of 
Massachusetts. 

  
17. Summary of cultivation plan (if applicable): 

 
The applicant submitted a cultivation plan that demonstrates the ability to comply with the 
Commission’s regulations. 
  

18. Summary of products to be produced and/or sold (if applicable):  
 

Not applicable 
 
19. Plan for obtaining marijuana or marijuana products (if applicable):  
 

Not applicable 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Commission staff recommend provisional licensure with the following conditions: 
 

1. Final license is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with Commission regulations; 
2. Final license is subject to inspection to ascertain compliance with applicable state laws and 

local codes, ordinances, and bylaws; 
3. The applicant shall cooperate with and provide information to Commission staff;  
4. Provisional licensure is subject to the payment of the appropriate license fee; and 
5. Final licensure is subject to the applicant providing Commission staff, upon inspection, 

with an updated Positive Impact Plan that provides detailed information on workshops 
and/or seminars and specific information on how it positively impacts people 
disproportionately harmed. 

 
The applicant has demonstrated compliance with the laws and regulations of the Commonwealth 
and suitability for licensure. Therefore, the applicant is recommended for provisional licensure.  
 

 















A new way to
look at cannabis

Euflora is a vertically-integrated cannabis company
with operations spanning cultivation, extractions

and manufacturing, retail locations and a portfolio of
consumer brands. 

 
Called the “Apple Store” of dispensaries by CBS,
Euflora provides its customer a unique boutique

cannabis shopping experience.

Headquartered in Colorado, Euflora is rapidly
expanding across the U.S., with new operations in
Massachusetts, Florida, California and Oklahoma

coming soon!



STATE EXPANSION PLAN 

VIOLATIONS

4

0

EMPLOYEES 

STRAINS OF FLOWER

PRODUCTS SOLD

150+

300+

$100MM

CUSTOMERS SERVED2MM

EBITDA MARGIN31%

10 COLORADO LICENSES

15 SKUs and

growing, all with

strong brand

recognition and

customer loyalty.

BRANDS

Superbly designed

retail locations with a

technology driven

shopping experience.

RETAIL

Expert

manufacturing

capabilities

producing high-

quality extract

products.

EXTRACTIONS

8+ years of licensed

marijuana

cultivation with

over 300 proven

strains.

CULTIVATION

(MA, FL, CA, OK)

(Average of 3 per operator in CO)











 
 
 
 
 
 

 TOWN OF GREAT BARRINGTON 
 MASSACHUSETTS 
 __________ 
 
 PLANNING BOARD 
 

Telephone: (413) 528-1619 
Fax: (413) 528-2290 

Town Hall, 334 Main Street 
Great Barrington, MA 01230 

 
 
 
 
November 7, 2020 
 
Selectboard 
Town Hall 
334 Main Street 
Great Barrington, MA 01230 
 
Re: Special Permit: 454 Main Street 
        
 
Dear Members of the Selectboard: 
 
At its meeting of October 22, 2020, the Planning Board voted to send a positive recommendation on the special 
permit application submitted on behalf of Coastal Cultivars, LLC to locate a retail marijuana establishment closer 
than 200 feet to the property of a private school. 
 
The Planning Board cited the steep slope and wall on the school property as well as the actual distance from 
building to building. 
  
Thank you for the opportunity to comment. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Kimberly L. Shaw 

 
Kimberly L. Shaw 
Planning Board Secretary  
 
 
 
Cc: Chris Rembold, Assistant Town Manager/Director of Planning and Community Development 
 



 
 
Property line to property line, ~ 90 feet 
 

 
  



 
 
Straight line building to building, ~800+ feet 

 
 
  



 
 
Walking route, ~ 1,100 to 1,200 feet 

 
 
 



       
 

 1  

EXHIBIT A  
 
FINDINGS OF FACT AND BASIS FOR DECISION 
 
Re:  Special Permit #913-20 

454 Main Street 
  
A. Introduction 

 
This Special Permit application was filed on October 6, 2020 by Coastal Cultivars, LLC, 399 Boylston 
Street, 6th Floor, Boston, MA, 02116 (“Applicant”), represented by Peter Puciloski of Lazan Glover & 
Puciloski LLP, to locate a retail marijuana establishment at 454 Main Street, Great Barrington, closer 
than 200 feet to the property of a private school. The application is made per Sections 7.18.4.3 and 10.4 
of the Zoning Bylaw.  
 
As described in the narrative, the site is improved with an historic building in which, until recently, a 
jewelry store was located. There are no exterior changes proposed to the structure but the freestanding 
sign would be replaced.  

 
B. General Findings  

 
The site is in the B-2 zoning district, where a marijuana retail establishment is permitted by right per 
the Table of Use Regulations, Section 3.1.4, C(13). However proposals must also meet the requirements 
of Section 7.18.4, item 1, since the subject site of 454 Main Street is within 200 feet of the property 
boundary of an existing school. The school in question, known as the John Dewey Academy (the 
“Academy”), is across the street at 389 Main Street. The two properties are within approximately 90 
feet of each other, when measured in a straight line from the nearest point of the property lines.  
 
While the properties are within 90 feet, the occupied buildings on the properties are approximately 800 
feet apart when measured by a straight line. The properties have a significant physical barrier between 
them, however, as they are separated by a 4-lane highway (Main Street) and the Academy property has 
a high concrete and stone wall around it. There is a steep slope as well. The shortest pedestrian route 
from the subject site to the Academy main entrance, when using sidewalks and crosswalks, is 
approximately 1,100 feet. The Police Station is also located in the immediate vicinity.  
 
The site consists of a paved driveway and parking area, which accommodates 19 paved and 2 unpaved 
parking spaces. The proposed retail establishment will be on the first floor of the building, a total of 
2,215 square feet. At the rate of one space per 200 square feet per Section 6.1 of the Zoning Bylaw, the 
parking requirement is therefore 11 spaces; the site meets the parking requirement.  
 
The proposed business will have 5 employees on site at any one time, leaving 16 spaces available for 
customers. The applicant estimates up to 25 vehicle trips into and 25 vehicle trips out of the site per 
hour. The applicant has identified an area for 10 additional on-site spaces. Creation of those 10 spaces 
will require Site Plan Approval by the Planning Board.  
 
The Conservation Commission reviewed the proposal and has determined it has no jurisdictional 
interest.  
 
The Board of Health will review the proposal on November 5.  
 
The Planning Board reviewed the special permit application and made a positive recommendation to 



       
 

 2  

the Selectboard. 
 

C. Distance Requirement Finding 
 
Section 7.18.4, item 3 authorizes the Selectboard to grant a special permit authorizing a deviation from 
this distance requirement if it finds the Marijuana Establishment or Medical Marijuana Treatment 
Center will not be detrimental to a protected use.  
 
The Selectboard finds that the 200 foot distance requirement may be reduced in this case because there 
are physical barriers—namely Main Street, the wall, and the topography—that adequately separate the 
sites. The proposed marijuana establishment at this location will not be detrimental to the school.  
 

D. Special Permit Criteria and Findings  
 

Section 10.4.2 of the Zoning Bylaw, granting of a special permit requires a written determination by 
the Special Permit Granting Authority “that the adverse effects of the proposed use will not outweigh 
its beneficial impacts to the town or the neighborhood, in view of the particular characteristics of the 
site, and of the proposal in relation to that site.” This determination shall include consideration of the 
following criteria: 

 
1. Social, economic, or community needs which are served by the proposal; 
2. Traffic flow and safety, including parking and loading; 
3. Adequacy of utilities and other public services; 
4. Neighborhood character and social structures; 
5. Impacts on the natural environment; and, 
6. Potential fiscal impact, including impact on town services, tax base, and employment. 

 
The Board’s considerations in relation to each of the six special permit criteria are set forth below.  

 
Criterion 1. Social, economic, or community needs which are served by the proposal.  

 
The Board finds that the marijuana does not serve a need. It is consistent with several goals of the 
master plan: the business will contribute to employment and the tax base, as other businesses would, 
and unlike some businesses, it does not need to make alterations to the exterior of the historic 
building, thus helping preserve the historic structure.  
 
Criterion 2.  Traffic flow and safety, including parking and loading.  

 
The proposed use meets the parking requirements, with 16 spaces left over available for customers. 
Assuming the projected 25 vehicles per hour are spaced out during the peak hour, the 16 existing 
surpluses spaces will suffice to meet parking demand. If not the applicant will improve 10 
additional spaces upon approval by the Planning Board. The Board finds there will be no 
detrimental impact to traffic flow and safety including parking and loading.  

 
Criterion 3. Adequacy of utilities and other public services. 

 
The site is already served by drinking water and sewer systems. Other marijuana retailers have had 
no discernable impact to public health, fire, or police services. The Board finds utilities and services 
are adequate to serve this use.  

 
Criterion 4. Neighborhood character and social structures.  



       
 

 3  

 
No further development of the site will occur, therefore the Board finds that the proposal will not 
alter the neighborhood character.  

 
Criterion 5. Impacts on the natural environment. 

 
No further development of the site will occur, therefore the Board finds that the proposal will have 
no negative impacts on the environment.  

 
Criterion 6. Potential fiscal impact, including impacts on town services, tax base, and 

employment. 
 

The Board finds that the facility will not negatively impact town services, and it will increase 
employment and maintain the existing taxable value of the property.  

 
Finding: 

 
In consideration of the above Findings, the Board finds that possible benefits of the proposal 
outweigh possible detrimental impacts of the proposal.  



 

SP # 913-20 
 
Special Permit application from Coastal Cultivars, LLC to locate a retail marijuana establishment at 454 
Main Street, Great Barrington, closer than 200 feet to the property of a private school, 
 
 
 
DRAFT MOTIONS 
 
 

1. VOTE ON FINDIINGS 
 

(If the Board has amended the Findings based on the Public Hearing and its discussion, be sure to specify 
those changes and approve the findings “as amended.”) 

 
Move to approve the Findings of Fact for Special Permit #913-20, [as written, or, as amended] 
and referenced as Exhibit A. 
 
Second: __________ 
 
Roll call vote: Davis ____  Burke _____ Cooke _____  

Abrahams ____ Bannon  ____  
 
 

2. VOTE ON SPECIAL PERMIT 
 

(add conditions at the end of this motion if there are conditions on the permit) 
 
Move, in view of the approved Findings of Fact, to approve Special Permit #913-20  
 
 
Second: __________ 
 
Roll call vote: Davis ____  Burke _____ Cooke _____  

Abrahams ____ Bannon  ____  
 


	Stacy Ostrow_GB Cultural Council_letter of intent.pdf
	PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE
	Corporate Philanthropy VP 1995-99
	Directed diverse corporate giving and community relations program for investment bank.

	EDUCATION

	Submittal from Centerline for 425 Stockbridge Rd.pdf
	Insert from: "MA5153.PASSING SA.200909.pdf"
	Document
	Tower Drawing
	Coax Layout
	Load Summary
	Section Forces
	Force/Stress Summary
	Section Seismic Force
	Support Forces Summary
	Analysis Summary
	97210_MA13743-A-SBA_AT&T_SA_1_MSST


	Findings Draft 909-20 airport as amended by 11-9-20 meeting.pdf
	A. Introduction
	B. General Findings
	C. Findings related to Section 7.2, Aviation Fields
	D. Findings related to Section 9.2, WQPOD
	E. Findings related to Section 10.4, Special Permits
	1. A Water Quality Protection Overlay District Special Permit from the Selectboard is required prior to the construction of any hangars or increase in impervious surfaces.
	1. Grant of this Special Permit is for the aviation use as currently exists at the site plus six new hangars in the proposed location.
	1. Grant of this Special Permit does not obviate the need for permits from the Planning Board or Conservation Commission, or any other local, state, or federal permit, as may be required.
	1. The Owner shall provide to the Selectboard and the Assessors a map and calculation of the amount of land in the Chapter 61A program. If it is determined that there is less in qualifying use than is currently enrolled in the program, the difference ...
	1. There shall be no increase in the length of the existing runways.
	1. Expansion of any existing buildings by more than 250 square feet shall require a special permit.
	1. There shall be no restaurant or food service conducted at the premises except as may be catered for events that have been permitted by the Selectboard.
	1. There shall be no retail sales at the premises.
	1. There shall be no more than _____ planes based or stored on the premises.
	1. There shall not be more than _____ flight school planes in the air at any one time.
	1. There shall be no jet aircraft on the premises at any time.
	1. There shall be no more than ______ average daily aircraft operations on an annual basis.
	1. There shall be no temporary entertainment events.
	1. Use of the airport for training purposes by military aircraft shall not occur on weekends, and shall not occur on any day after dusk or before dawn.

	draft motions 909-20 airport.pdf
	1. VOTE ON FINDIINGS

	1_ PDF for SB packet.pdf
	Coastal Cultivars Public Hearing
	Coastal Cultivars application package
	Coastal - info re parking and lanscaping
	Coastal - PB recomm. letter
	Coastal - distance measurement maps
	Coastal - DRAFT FINDINGS
	Coastal - DRAFT MOTIONS




